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405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, other periodic reports filed by ANB under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any other written or oral
statements made by or on behalf of ANB may include "forward looking
statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995 which reflect ANB's current views with respect to future events and
financial performance. Such forward looking statements are based on general
assumptions and are subject to various risks, uncertainties, and other factors
that may cause actual results to differ materially from the views, beliefs and
projections expressed in such statements. These risks, uncertainties and other
factors include, but are not limited to:

(1) Possible changes in economic and business conditions that may affect
the prevailing interest rates, the prevailing rates of inflation, or the
amount of growth, stagnation, or recession in the global, U.S., and
southeastern U.S. economies, the value of investments, collectibility of
loans and the profitability of business entities;

(2) Possible changes in monetary and fiscal policies, laws and
regulations, and other activities of governments, agencies and similar
organizations;

(3) The effects of easing of restrictions on participants in the
financial services industry, such as banks, securities brokers and dealers,
investment companies and finance companies, and attendant changes in
patterns and effects of competition in the financial services industry;

(4) The cost and other effects of legal and administrative cases and
proceedings, claims, settlements and judgments;

(5) The timely resolution of any Year 2000 issues by ANB and its
customers and vendors; and

(6) The ability of ANB to achieve the expected operating results related
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to the acquired operations of recently-completed and future acquisitions
(if any), which depends on a variety of factors, including (i) the ability
to ANB to achieve the anticipated cost savings and revenue enhancements
with respect to the acquired operations, (ii) the assimilation of the
acquired operations to ANB's corporate culture, including the ability to
instill ANB's credit practices and efficient approach to the acquired
operations, (iii) the continued growth of the markets in which ANB operates
consistent with recent historical experience, (iv) the absence of material
contingencies related to the acquired operations, including asset quality
and litigation contingencies, and (v) ANB's ability to expand into new
markets and to maintain profit margins in the face of pricing pressures.

The words "believe," "expect," "anticipate," "project" and similar
expressions signify forward looking statements. Readers are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on any forward looking statements made by or on behalf of
ANB. Any such statement speaks only as of the date the statement was made. ANB
undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward looking statements.

2

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Alabama National BanCorporation (the "Company" or "ANB") is a Delaware bank
holding company with its principal place of business in Birmingham, Alabama,
and its main office located at 1927 First Avenue North, Birmingham, Alabama
35203 (Telephone Number: (205) 583-3600). ANB is currently the parent of four
national banks, National Bank of Commerce of Birmingham ("NBC") (Birmingham,
Alabama and the Birmingham metropolitan area), Citizens & Peoples Bank,
National Association (Escambia County, Florida), First Citizens Bank, National
Association (Talladega, Alabama), and Community Bank of Naples, National
Association (Naples, Florida); three state member banks, Alabama Exchange Bank
(Tuskegee, Alabama), Bank of Dadeville (Dadeville, Alabama) and First Gulf
Bank (Baldwin County, Alabama); and three state nonmember banks, First
American Bank (Decatur, Alabama), Public Bank (St. Cloud, Florida), and
Georgia State Bank (Mableton, Georgia) (collectively the "Banks"). In
addition, ANB is currently the ultimate parent of one securities brokerage
firm, NBC Securities, Inc. (Birmingham, Alabama); one receivables factoring
company, Corporate Billing, Inc. (Decatur, Alabama); and one insurance agency,
Ashland Insurance, Inc. (Ashland, Alabama).

Recent Developments

Community Financial Corporation Merger

Effective October 2, 1998, Community Financial Corporation ("CFC"), a
Georgia bank holding company headquartered in Mableton, Georgia, with
approximately $139 million in total assets as of September 30, 1998, merged
with and into ANB (the "CFC Merger") pursuant to that certain Agreement and
Plan of Merger dated as of June 8, 1998 (the "CFC Merger Agreement"). Pursuant
to the CFC Merger, (i) the stockholders of CFC became stockholders of ANB, and
(ii) ANB became the parent stockholder of CFC's bank subsidiary, Georgia State
Bank, a Georgia state banking corporation. The CFC Merger was accounted for as
a pooling of interests.

The CFC Merger Agreement generally provided, among other things, for the
merger of CFC with and into ANB, pursuant to which each of the 3,059,194
outstanding shares of CFC common stock were converted into the right to
receive 0.351807 shares of ANB common stock, for a total of 1,076,032 shares
of ANB common stock (excluding fractional shares) issued to former CFC
shareholders. In addition, the options held to purchase shares of CFC common
stock were converted into the right to purchase 0.351807 shares of ANB common
stock for each share of CFC common stock subject to option. As part of the CFC
Merger, W. Ray Barnes, formerly a CFC board member, was appointed to serve as
a member of the Board of Directors of ANB.

Community Bank of Naples, National Association Merger

Effective December 31, 1998, Community Bank of Naples, National Association
("CBN"), a national bank with approximately $92.6 million in total assets as
of December 31, 1998, merged with and into a banking subsidiary of ANB (the
"CBN Merger") pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as
of September 21, 1998 (the "CBN Merger Agreement"). Immediately following the
CBN Merger, the former assets and liabilities of CBN were transferred to
Community Bank of Naples, N.A., a newly formed national bank subsidiary of ANB
in Naples, Florida. The CBN Merger was accounted for as a pooling of
interests.

The CBN Merger Agreement generally provided, among other things, for the
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merger of CBN with and into a banking subsidiary of ANB, pursuant to which
each of the 1,000,000 outstanding shares of CBN common stock were converted
into the right to receive 0.53271 shares of ANB common stock, for a total of
532,608 shares of ANB common stock (excluding fractional shares) issued to
former CBN shareholders. In addition, the options held to purchase shares of
CBN common stock were converted into the right to purchase 0.53271 shares of
ANB common stock for each share of CBN common stock subject to option.

3

Subsidiary Banks

ANB operates through ten subsidiary Banks which have a total of 43 banking
offices in the states of Alabama, Georgia and Florida. The Banks focus on
traditional consumer, residential mortgage, commercial and real estate
construction lending to customers in their market areas. The Banks also offer
a variety of deposit programs to individuals and small businesses and other
organizations at interest rates generally consistent with local market
conditions. NBC offers trust services, investment services and securities
brokerage services. In addition, the Banks offer individual retirement and
KEOGH accounts, safe deposit and night depository facilities and additional
services such as the sale of traveler's checks, money orders and cashier's
checks.

Lending Activities

General

Through the Banks, ANB offers a range of lending services, including real
estate, consumer and commercial loans, to individuals and small businesses and
other organizations that are located in or conduct a substantial portion of
their business in the Banks' market areas. ANB's total loans, net of unearned
interest, at December 31, 1998, were approximately $1.11 billion, or
approximately 74.1% of total earning assets. The interest rates charged on
loans vary with the degree of risk, maturity and amount of the loan and are
further subject to competitive pressures, money market rates, availability of
funds and government regulations. ANB has no foreign loans or loans for
"highly leveraged transactions," as such terms are defined by applicable
banking regulations.

Loan Portfolio

Real Estate Loans. Loans secured by real estate are the primary component of
ANB's loan portfolio, constituting approximately $678.4 million, or 61.3% of
total loans, net of unearned interest, at December 31, 1998. The Banks' real
estate loan portfolio is comprised of commercial and residential mortgages.
Residential mortgages held in the Banks' loan portfolio, both fixed and
variable, are made based upon amortization schedules of up to 30 years but
generally have maturity dates of five years or less. The majority of the
Banks' commercial mortgages are at variable rates, which approximate current
market rates. Construction loans are made on a variable rate basis.
Origination fees are normally charged for all loans secured by real estate.
The Banks' primary type of residential mortgage loan is the single-family
first mortgage, typically structured with fixed or adjustable interest rates,
based on market conditions. These loans usually have terms of five years, with
payments through the date of maturity generally based on a 15 or 30 year
amortization schedule.

The Banks originate residential loans for sale into the secondary market.
Such loans are made in accordance with underwriting standards set by the
purchaser of the loan, normally as to loan-to-value ratio, interest rate and
documentation. Such loans are generally made under a commitment to purchase
from a loan purchaser. The Banks generally collect from the borrower or
purchaser a combination of the origination fee, discount points and/or service
release fee. During 1998, the Banks sold approximately $276 million in loans
to such purchasers.

The Banks' nonresidential mortgage loans include commercial, industrial and
unimproved real estate loans. The Banks generally require nonresidential
mortgage loans to have an 80% loan-to-value ratio and usually underwrite their
commercial loans on the basis of the borrower's cash flow and ability to
service the debt from earnings, rather than on the basis of the value of the
collateral. Terms on construction loans are usually less than twelve months,
and the Banks typically require real estate mortgages and personal guarantees
supported by financial statements and a review of the guarantor's personal
finances.

Consumer Loans. Consumer lending includes installment lending to individuals
in the Banks' market areas and generally consists of loans to purchase
automobiles and other consumer durable goods. Consumer loans constituted $77.2
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million, or 7.0% of ANB's loan portfolio at December 31, 1998. Consumer loans
are underwritten based on the borrower's income, current debt level, past
credit history and collateral. Consumer
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rates are both variable and fixed, with terms negotiable. Terms generally
range from one to five years depending on the nature and condition of the
collateral. Periodic amortization, generally monthly, is required.

Commercial and Financial Loans. The Banks make loans for commercial purposes
in various lines of business. These loans are typically made on terms up to
five years at fixed or variable rates. The loans are secured by various types
of collateral including accounts receivable, inventory or, in the case of
equipment loans, the financed equipment. The Banks attempt to reduce their
credit risk on commercial loans by underwriting the loan based on the
borrower's cash flow and its ability to service the debt from earnings, and by
limiting the loan to value ratio. Historically, the Banks have loaned up to
80% on loans secured by accounts receivable, up to 65% on loans secured by
inventory, and up to 80% on loans secured by equipment. The Banks also make
some unsecured commercial loans. Commercial and financial loans constituted
$257.4 million, or 23.3% of ANB's loan portfolio at December 31, 1998.
Interest rates are negotiable based upon the borrower's financial condition,
credit history, management stability and collateral.

Credit Procedures and Review

Loan Approval. Certain credit risks are inherent in making loans. These
include prepayment risks, risks resulting from uncertainties in the future
value of collateral, risks resulting from changes in economic and industry
conditions and risks inherent in dealing with individual borrowers. In
particular, longer maturities increase the risk that economic conditions will
change and adversely affect collectibility.

ANB attempts to minimize loan losses through various means and uses
standardized underwriting criteria. During 1998, ANB established a standarized
loan policy for all of the Banks that may be modified based on local market
conditions. In particular, on larger credits, ANB generally relies on the cash
flow of a debtor as the source of repayment and secondarily on the value of
the underlying collateral. In addition, ANB attempts to utilize shorter loan
terms in order to reduce the risk of a decline in the value of such
collateral.

ANB addresses repayment risks by adhering to internal credit policies and
procedures of which all of the Banks have adopted. These policies and
procedures include officer and customer lending limits, a multi-layered loan
approval process for larger loans, documentation examination and follow-up
procedures for any exceptions to credit policies. The point in each Bank's
loan approval process at which a loan is approved depends on the size of the
loan and the borrower's credit relationship with such Bank. Each of the
lending officers at each of the Banks has the authority to approve loans up to
an approved loan authority amount as approved by each Bank's Board of
Directors. Loans in excess of the highest loan authority amount at each Bank
must be approved by the ANB Executive Vice President in charge of credit
administration. In addition, loans in excess of a particular loan officer's
approval authority must be approved by a more senior officer at the particular
Bank, the loan committee at such Bank, or both.

Loan Review. ANB maintains a continuous loan review system for each of NBC
and First American Bank and a scheduled review system for the other Banks.
Under this system, each loan officer is directly responsible for monitoring
the risk in his portfolio and is required to maintain risk ratings for each
credit assigned. The risk rating system incorporates the basic regulatory
rating system as set forth in the applicable regulatory asset quality
examination procedures.

ANB's Loan Review Department ("LRD"), which is wholly independent of the
lending function, serves as a validation of each loan officer's risk
monitoring and rating system. LRD's primary function is to provide the Board
of Directors of each Bank with a thorough understanding of the credit quality
of such Bank's loan portfolio. Other review requirements are in place to
provide management with early warning systems for problem credits as well as
compliance with stated lending policies. LRD's findings are reported, along
with an asset quality review, to the ANB Board of Directors at each bi-monthly
meeting.

5

Deposits
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The principal sources of funds for the Banks are core deposits, consisting
of demand deposits, interest-bearing transaction accounts, money market
accounts, savings deposits and certificates of deposit. Transaction accounts
include checking and negotiable order of withdrawal (NOW) accounts which
customers use for cash management and which provide the Banks with a source of
fee income and cross-marketing opportunities, as well as a low-cost source of
funds. Time and savings accounts also provide a relatively stable and low-cost
source of funding. The largest source of funds for the Banks are certificates
of deposit. Certificates of deposit in excess of $100,000 are held primarily
by customers in the Banks' market areas. The Banks have not historically
relied upon brokered certificates of deposit as a funding source.

Deposit rates are reviewed weekly by senior management of each of the Banks.
Management believes that the rates the Banks offer are competitive with those
offered by other institutions in the Banks' market areas. ANB focuses on
customer service to attract and retain deposits.

Investment Services

NBC operates an investment department devoted primarily to handling
correspondent banks' investment needs. Services provided by the investment
department include sales of securities, asset/liability consulting,
safekeeping and bond accounting. NBC also has a wholly owned subsidiary, NBC
Securities, Inc. ("NBC Securities"), that is licensed as a broker-dealer. NBC
Securities provides investment services to individuals and institutions. These
services include the sale of stocks, corporate bonds, mutual funds, annuities,
other insurance products and financial planning.

Competition

The Banks encounter strong competition in making loans, acquiring deposits
and attracting customers for investment services. Competition among financial
institutions is based upon interest rates offered on deposit accounts,
interest rates charged on loans, other credit and service charges relating to
loans, the quality and scope of the services rendered, the convenience of
banking facilities and, in the case of loans to commercial borrowers, relative
lending limits. The Banks compete with other commercial banks, savings and
loan associations, credit unions, finance companies, mutual funds, insurance
companies, brokerage and investment banking companies, and other financial
intermediaries operating in Alabama, Georgia, Florida and elsewhere. Many of
these competitors, some of which are affiliated with large bank holding
companies, have substantially greater resources and lending limits, and may
offer certain services that the Banks do not currently provide. In addition,
many of ANB's non-bank competitors are not subject to the same extensive
federal regulations that govern bank or thrift holding companies and federally
insured banks or thrifts. The proposed Financial Services Competition Act of
1999, which recently passed the U.S. House of Representatives, would allow
banks to enter certain businesses previously prohibited or highly regulated
for banking enterprises. See "Supervision and Regulation." ANB cannot predict
the impact on competition that would occur upon the passage of this proposed
legislation.

The Riegle-Neal Interstate Banking and Branching Efficiency Act of 1994 (the
"IBBEA") authorized bank holding companies to acquire banks and other bank
holding companies without geographic limitations beginning September 30, 1995.
The arrival of interstate banking is expected to increase further the
competitiveness of the banking industry.

In addition, beginning on June 1, 1997, the IBBEA authorized interstate
mergers and consolidations of existing banks, provided that neither bank's
home state had opted out of interstate branching by May 31, 1997. The States
of Alabama, Georgia and Florida have each opted in to interstate branching.
Interstate branching provides that once a bank has established branches in a
state through an interstate merger, the bank may establish and acquire
additional branches at any location in the state where any bank involved in
the interstate merger could have established or acquired branches under
applicable federal or state law.

6

Size gives the larger banks certain advantages in competing for business
from large corporations. These advantages include higher lending limits and
the ability to offer services in other areas of Alabama, Georgia, Florida and
the southeast region. Some of ANB's competitors still maintain substantially
greater resources and lending limits than ANB. As a result, ANB has not
generally attempted to compete for the banking relationships of large
corporations, and generally concentrates its efforts on small to medium-sized
businesses and individuals to which ANB believes it can compete effectively by
offering quality, personal service. However, management believes it may be
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able to compete more effectively for the business of some large corporations,
given its current growth pattern.

Management believes that the Banks' commitment to their respective primary
market areas, as well as their commitment to quality and personalized banking
services, are factors that contribute to the Banks' competitiveness.
Management believes that ANB's decentralized community banking strategy
positions the Banks to compete successfully in their market areas.

Market Areas and Growth Strategy

Through NBC, ANB serves the lower half of Jefferson County, the upper third
of Shelby County, and St. Clair County, each of which are typically included
in the Birmingham metropolitan area. ANB's First American Bank subsidiary
serves Morgan, Limestone and Madison counties in north Alabama. First
American's largest market presence is in Decatur, Alabama, which has
demonstrated a growing economic base in recent years. Through First Gulf Bank,
ANB serves Baldwin County, Alabama. Located between Mobile, Alabama and
Pensacola, Florida, Baldwin County has a broad base of economic activity in
the retail and service, agriculture, seafood, tourism and manufacturing
industries. Shelby, Baldwin and St. Clair Counties have been named in
statistical surveys as three of the fastest growing counties in Alabama. In
1997, ANB expanded outside of Alabama with the opening of Citizens & Peoples
Bank, N.A. in Escambia County, Florida. In 1998, ANB further expanded its
presence in markets outside of Alabama with two acquisitions in Florida and
one in Georgia. Public Bank is located in the fast-growing Kissimmee-St. Cloud
area of central Florida. Community Bank of Naples, N.A., located in Collier
County, Florida and Georgia State Bank, located in Cobb County and Paulding
County, Georgia, are located in markets that are among the fastest growing in
their respective states. The other Banks, First Citizens, Alabama Exchange
Bank and Bank of Dadeville, are located in non-metropolitan areas. ANB's
strategy is to focus on growth in profitability for these non-metropolitan
banks, since market growth has not been as significant.

Due to continuing consolidation within the banking industry, as well as in
the Southeastern United States, ANB may in the future seek to combine with
other banks or thrifts (or their holding companies) that may be of smaller,
equal or greater size than ANB. ANB currently intends to concentrate on
acquisitions of additional banks or thrifts (or their holding companies) which
operate in attractive market areas in Alabama, Florida and Georgia. In
addition to price and terms, the factors considered by ANB in determining the
desirability of a business acquisition or combination are financial condition,
earnings potential, quality of management, market area and competitive
environment.

In addition to expansion through combinations with other banks or thrifts,
ANB intends to continue to expand where possible through growth of its
existing banks in their respective market areas. During 1998, NBC formed a
commercial leasing division which currently focuses on machinery and equipment
leases to business customers. Also, ANB is exploring expansion into lines of
business closely related to banking and will pursue such expansion if it
believes such lines could be profitable without causing undue risk to ANB.
While ANB plans to continue its growth as described above, there is no
assurance that its efforts will be successful.

Employees

As of December 31, 1998, ANB and the Banks together had approximately 721
full-time equivalent employees. None of these employees is a party to a
collective bargaining agreement. ANB considers its relations with its
employees to be good.
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Supervision and Regulation

ANB and the Banks are subject to state and federal banking laws and
regulations which impose specific requirements and restrictions on, and
provide for general regulatory oversight with respect to, virtually all
aspects of operations. These laws and regulations are generally intended to
protect depositors, not stockholders. To the extent that the following summary
describes statutory or regulatory provisions, it is qualified in its entirety
by reference to the particular statutory and regulatory provisions. Any change
in applicable laws or regulations may have a material effect on the business
and prospects of ANB. Beginning with the enactment of the Financial
Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 ("FIRREA") and
following in 1991 with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Act
("FDICIA"), numerous additional regulatory requirements have been placed on
the banking industry in the past ten years, and additional changes have been
proposed. The operations of ANB and the Banks may be affected by legislative
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changes and the policies of various regulatory authorities. ANB is unable to
predict the nature or the extent of the effect on its business and earnings
that fiscal or monetary policies, economic control, or new federal or state
legislation may have in the future.

As a bank holding company, ANB is subject to the regulation and supervision
of the Federal Reserve. The Banks are subject to supervision and regulation by
applicable state and federal banking agencies, including the Federal Reserve,
the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the "OCC"), the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (the "FDIC") and applicable state banking departments.
The Banks are also subject to various requirements and restrictions under
federal and state law, including requirements to maintain allowances against
deposits, restrictions on the types and amounts of loans that may be granted
and the interest that may be charged thereon, and limitations on the types of
investments that may be made and the types of services that may be offered.
Various consumer laws and regulations also affect the operations of the Banks.
In addition to the impact of regulation, commercial banks are affected
significantly by the actions of the Federal Reserve as it attempts to control
the money supply and credit availability in order to influence the economy.

Pursuant to the IBBEA, bank holding companies from any state may now acquire
banks located in any other state, subject to certain conditions, including
concentration limits. As of June 1, 1997, a bank may establish branches across
state lines by merging with a bank in another state (unless applicable state
law prohibits such interstate mergers), provided certain conditions are met. A
bank may also establish a de novo branch in a state in which the bank does not
maintain a branch if that state expressly permits such interstate de novo
branching and certain other conditions are met.

There are a number of obligations and restrictions imposed on bank holding
companies and their depository institution subsidiaries by federal law and
regulatory policy that are designed to reduce potential loss exposure to the
depositors of such depository institutions and to the FDIC insurance fund in
the event the depository institution becomes in danger of default or is in
default. For example, under a policy of the Federal Reserve with respect to
bank holding company operations, a bank holding company is required to serve
as a source of financial strength to its subsidiary depository institutions
and commit resources to support such institutions in circumstances where it
might not do so absent such policy. In addition, the "cross-guarantee"
provisions of federal law require insured depository institutions under common
control to reimburse the FDIC for any loss suffered or reasonably anticipated
as a result of the default of a commonly controlled insured depository
institution or for any assistance provided by the FDIC to a commonly
controlled insured depository institution in danger of default.

The federal banking agencies have broad powers under current federal law to
take prompt corrective action to resolve problems of insured depository
institutions. The extent of these powers depends upon whether the institutions
in question are "well capitalized," "adequately capitalized,"
"undercapitalized," "significantly undercapitalized" or "critically
undercapitalized" as such terms are defined under regulations issued by each
of the federal banking agencies. In general, the agencies measure capital
adequacy within a framework that makes capital requirements sensitive to the
risk profiles of individual banking companies. The guidelines define capital
as either Tier 1 (primarily common shareholders' equity) or Tier 2 (certain
debt instruments and a portion of the allowance for loan losses). ANB and the
Banks are subject to a minimum Tier 1 capital ratio (Tier 1 capital to
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risk-weighted assets) of 4%, total capital ratio (Tier 1 plus Tier 2 to risk-
weighted assets) of 8% and Tier 1 leverage ratio (Tier 1 to average quarterly
assets) of 3%. To be considered a "well capitalized" institution, the Tier 1
capital ratio, the total capital ratio, and the Tier 1 leverage ratio must
equal or exceed 6%, 10% and 5%, respectively.

The Banks are subject to the provisions of Section 23A of the Federal
Reserve Act, which place limits on the amount of loans or extensions of credit
to, investments in or certain other transactions with affiliates, and on the
amount of advances to third parties collateralized by the securities or
obligations of affiliates. In general, the Banks' "affiliates" are ANB and
ANB's non-bank subsidiaries.

The Banks are also subject to the provisions of Section 23B of the Federal
Reserve Act that, among other things, prohibit a bank from engaging in certain
transactions with affiliates unless the transactions are on terms
substantially the same, or at least as favorable to the bank, as those
prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with non-affiliated
companies.
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The Banks are also subject to certain restrictions on extensions of credit
to executive officers, directors, certain principal stockholders and their
related interests. Such extensions of credit (i) must be made on substantially
the same terms, including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing
at the time for comparable transactions with third parties and (ii) must not
involve more than the normal risk of repayment or present other unfavorable
features.

The Community Reinvestment Act ("CRA") requires that, in connection with
examinations of financial institutions within their respective jurisdictions,
the Federal Reserve, the FDIC or the OCC shall evaluate the record of the
financial institutions in meeting the credit needs of their local communities,
including low and moderate income neighborhoods, consistent with the safe and
sound operation of those institutions. The CRA does not establish specific
lending requirements or programs for financial institutions nor does it limit
an institution's discretion to develop the types of products and services that
it believes are best suited to its particular community, consistent with the
CRA. These factors are considered in evaluating mergers, acquisitions and
applications to open a branch or facility. The CRA also requires all
institutions to make public disclosure of their CRA ratings. Each of the Banks
received outstanding or satisfactory ratings in its most recent evaluation.

There are various legal and regulatory limits on the extent to which the
Banks may pay dividends or otherwise supply funds to ANB. In addition, federal
and state regulatory agencies also have the authority to prevent a bank or
bank holding company from paying a dividend or engaging in any other activity
that, in the opinion of the agency, would constitute an unsafe or unsound
practice.

FDIC regulations require that management report on its responsibility for
preparing its institution's financial statements and for establishing and
maintaining an internal control structure and procedures for financial
reporting and compliance with designated laws and regulations concerning
safety and soundness.

There have been a number of legislative and regulatory proposals that would
have an impact on the operation of bank holding companies and their banks. It
is impossible to predict whether or in what form these proposals may be
adopted in the future and, if adopted, what their effect will be on ANB and
the Banks. For example, on May 13, 1998, the U.S. House of Representatives
passed H.R. 10, the "Financial Services Competition Act of 1998," which calls
for a sweeping modernization of the banking system that would permit
affiliations between commercial banks, securities firms, insurance companies
and, subject to certain limitations, other commercial enterprises. The stated
purposes of H.R. 10 are to enhance consumer choice in the financial services
marketplace, level the playing field among providers of financial services and
increase competition. H.R. 10 removes many of the statutory restrictions
contained in current laws regulating the financial services industry and calls
for a new regulatory framework of financial institutions and their holding
companies. Although H.R. 10 failed to reach the voting stage in the U.S.
Senate before the adjournment of the 105th Congress in 1998, H.R. 10 was
reintroduced in the House of Representatives on January 6, 1999, and is
currently under consideration. At this time, it is unknown whether H.R. 10
will be enacted into law, or if enacted, what form the
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final version of such legislation might take and how such legislation may
affect ANB's business and operations. One consequence may be increased
competition from large financial services companies that, under the bill,
would be permitted to provide many types of financial services to customers.

NBC Securities is a broker-dealer registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and is a member of the National Association of Securities
Dealers, Inc.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The Executive Officers of ANB serve at the pleasure of the Board of
Directors. Set forth below are the current Executive Officers of ANB and a
brief explanation of their principal employment during the last five
(5) years.

John H. Holcomb, III--Age 47--Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Mr.
Holcomb has served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of ANB since April,
1996. Prior to such date, Mr. Holcomb served as President and Chief Operating
Officer of ANB beginning December, 1995. Mr. Holcomb has been President and
Chief Executive Officer of NBC since 1990.

Victor E. Nichol, Jr.--Age 52--President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr.
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Nichol has served as President and Chief Operating Officer of ANB since April
1996. Prior to such date, Mr. Nichol served as Executive Vice President of ANB
beginning December 1995. Mr. Nichol has been Executive Vice President of NBC
since 1994.

Dan M. David--Age 53--Vice Chairman. Mr. David has served as Vice Chairman
of ANB since November 30, 1997 when FAB merged with and into ANB. Mr. David
serves as Chairman of First American Bank, a position he has held since 1995.
Mr. David served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of FAB from 1995
through 1997, as Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer during 1994 and
1995 and as President and Chief Executive Officer from 1986 through 1994.

John R. Bragg--Age 37--Executive Vice President. Mr. Bragg has served as
Executive Vice President of ANB since April 1998 and Executive Vice President
of NBC since 1997. Mr. Bragg served as Senior Vice President of NBC from 1992
until 1997.

Richard Murray, IV--Age 37--Executive Vice President. Mr. Murray has served
as Executive Vice President of ANB since April 1998 and Executive Vice
President of NBC since 1997. Mr. Murray served as Senior Vice President of NBC
from 1990 until 1997.

William G. Sanders, Jr.--Age 35--Executive Vice President. Mr. Sanders has
served as Executive Vice President of ANB since April 1998 and Executive Vice
President of NBC since 1997. Mr. Sanders served as Senior Vice President of
NBC from 1993 until 1997.

William E. Matthews, V--Age 34--Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer. Mr. Matthews has served as Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of ANB and NBC since April 1998. Prior to that date, Mr.
Matthews served as Senior Vice President of NBC beginning in 1996, and Vice
President of NBC from 1992 through 1996.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

ANB currently operates 43 banking offices. Of the 43 banking offices, ANB,
through the Banks, owns 34 banking offices without encumbrance and leases an
additional 9 banking offices. ANB leases its principal administrative offices,
which are located at 1927 First Avenue North, Birmingham, Alabama. See Notes 6
and 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of ANB and Subsidiaries
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information
regarding ANB's premises and equipment.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

ANB, in the normal course of business, is subject to various pending and
threatened litigation. Although it is not possible to determine at this point
in time, based on consultation with legal counsel, management does not
anticipate that the ultimate liability, if any, resulting from such litigation
will have a material effect on ANB's financial condition and results of
operations.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE FOR SECURITY-HOLDERS

None.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

At March 10, 1999, ANB had 1,591 stockholders of record (including shares
held in "street" names by nominees who are record holders) and 10,971,686
shares of ANB Common Stock outstanding. ANB Common Stock is traded in the
over-the-counter market and prices are quoted on NASDAQ/NMS under the symbol
"ALAB."

The reported price range for ANB Common Stock and the dividends declared
during each calendar quarter of 1997 and 1998 are shown below:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Dividends
High     Low   Declared

------- ------- ---------
<S>                                                 <C>     <C>     <C>
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1997
First Quarter...................................... $20 1/2 $17 1/2   $.115
Second Quarter.....................................  22 1/2  17 1/2    .115
Third Quarter......................................  26 1/8  21 3/4    .115
Fourth Quarter.....................................    27      22      .115
1998
First Quarter......................................  33 3/4  25 3/4     .15
Second Quarter.....................................  37 5/8  31 1/2     .15
Third Quarter......................................  39 1/2  24 7/8     .15
Fourth Quarter.....................................    28    24 1/8     .15

</TABLE>

The last reported sales price of Common Stock as reported on The Nasdaq/NMS
on March 10, 1999 was $24.50. The prices shown do not reflect retail mark-ups
and mark-downs. All share prices have been rounded to the nearest 1/64 of one
dollar. The market makers for ANB Common Stock as of December 31, 1998, were
J. C. Bradford & Co., Raymond James & Associates, Inc., Legg Mason Wood Walker
Inc., The Robinson Humphrey Company, LLC, ABN AMRO Securities (USA), Inc., and
Troster Singer Corporation.

ANB expects to continue its policy of paying quarterly cash dividends
although there is no assurance that such dividends will continue to be paid in
the future. The payment of dividends in the future is dependent on future
income of the Banks, financial position, capital requirements and other
considerations. In addition, the payment of dividends is subject to the
regulatory restrictions described in Item 1 of this Form 10-K under
"Supervision and Regulation."
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
(Amounts in thousands, except ratios and per share data)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Year Ended December 31,
--------------------------------------------------------
1998(1)     1997(1)     1996(1)     1995(1)    1994(1)

----------  ----------  ----------  ----------  --------
<S>                       <C>         <C>         <C>         <C>         <C>
Income Statement Data:
Interest income.........  $  115,704  $  104,508  $   93,178  $   62,090  $ 48,337
Interest expense........      56,555      48,379      42,174      30,079    19,812

----------  ----------  ----------  ----------  --------
Net interest income.....      59,149      56,129      51,004      32,011    28,525
Provision for loan
losses.................       1,796       3,421       1,035       1,171     1,770

----------  ----------  ----------  ----------  --------
Net interest income
after provision for
loan losses............      57,353      52,708      49,969      30,840    26,755

Net securities gains
(losses)...............         174          (2)        (84)         21       (52)

Noninterest income......      29,176      20,296      19,214      10,749     7,328
Noninterest expense.....      61,154      52,788      50,175      32,141    24,671

----------  ----------  ----------  ----------  --------
Income before income
taxes..................      25,549      20,214      18,924       9,469     9,360

Provision for income
taxes..................       8,154       6,086       5,279         951       736

----------  ----------  ----------  ----------  --------
Income before minority
interest in earnings of
consolidated
subsidiary.............      17,395      14,128      13,645       8,518     8,624

Minority interest in
earnings of
consolidated
subsidiary.............          23          12          14         650       750

----------  ----------  ----------  ----------  --------
Net income..............  $   17,372  $   14,116  $   13,631  $    7,868  $  7,874

==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ========
Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets............  $1,672,049  $1,495,814  $1,260,635  $1,142,064  $714,356
Earning assets..........   1,493,122   1,313,097   1,149,038   1,035,396   656,936
Securities..............     329,747     265,501     225,737     231,482   160,132
Loans...................   1,106,074     966,370     868,307     745,961   482,639
Allowance for loan
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losses.................      16,540      14,844      12,633      11,621     7,597
Deposits................   1,275,175   1,125,479     988,876     945,544   604,111
Short-term debt.........      21,700      29,087      42,205      21,280    12,717
Long-term debt..........      32,328      16,587      12,939       1,089     2,132
Stockholders' equity....     130,993     116,888     105,204      88,230    51,738
Weighted Average Shares
Outstanding--
Diluted(2).............      11,173      10,999      10,490       6,429     5,870

Per Common Share Data:
Net income--diluted(3)..  $     1.55  $     1.28  $     1.30  $     1.09  $   1.22
Book value (period
end)(4)................       11.94       11.02       10.43        9.04      6.92

Tangible book value
(period end)(4)........       11.19       10.20        9.66        8.24      6.51

Dividends declared......        0.60        0.46        0.28         --        --
Performance Ratios:
Return on average
assets.................        1.10%       1.05%       1.17%       1.02%     1.18%

Return on average
equity.................       13.81       12.73       14.22       14.30     17.59

Net interest margin(5)..        4.24        4.62        4.75        4.44      4.66
Net interest margin
(taxable
equivalent)(5).........        4.31        4.71        4.83        4.53      4.79

Asset Quality Ratios:
Allowance for loan
losses to period end
loans..................        1.50%       1.54%       1.45%       1.56%     1.57%

Allowance for loan
losses to period end
nonperforming
loans(6)...............      340.61      281.14      377.22      396.61    406.91

Net charge-offs to
average loans..........        0.01        0.13        0.00        0.05      0.64

Nonperforming assets to
period end loans and
foreclosed
property(6)............        0.55        0.73        0.48        0.63      0.57

Capital and Liquidity
Ratios:

Average equity to
average assets.........        7.95%       8.27%       8.21%       7.11%     6.68%

Leverage (4.00% required
minimum)(7)............        7.41        7.75        8.64       10.33      8.26

Risk-based capital
Tier 1 (4.00% required
minimum)(7)...........       10.03        9.89       10.91       10.83     11.36

Total (8.00% required
minimum)(7)...........       11.28       11.14       12.16       12.08     12.61

Average loans to average
deposits...............       83.02       85.44       84.08       78.81     77.65

</TABLE>
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--------
(1) On December 31, 1998, Community Bank of Naples, N.A. ("Naples") merged

with and into a subsidiary of ANB ("the Naples Merger"). Pursuant to the
terms of the Naples Merger, each share of Naples common stock was
converted into 0.53271 shares of the Company's common stock. On October 2,
1998, Community Financial Corporation ("CFC") merged with and into the
Company ("the CFC Merger"). Pursuant to the terms of the CFC Merger, each
share of CFC common stock was converted into 0.351807 shares of the
Company's common stock. On May 29, 1998, Public Bank Corporation ("PBC")
merged with and into the Company ("the PBC Merger"). Pursuant to the terms
of the PBC Merger, each share of PBC common stock was converted into
0.2353134 shares of the Company's common stock. On November 30, 1997,
First American Bancorporation ("FAB") merged with and into the Company
("the FAB Merger"). Pursuant to the terms of the FAB Merger, each share of
FAB common stock was converted into 0.7199 shares of the Company's common
stock. On September 30, 1996, FIRSTBANC Holding Company, Inc.
("FIRSTBANC") was merged with and into the Company, with each share of
common stock of FIRSTBANC being converted into 7.12917 shares of the
Company's common stock. Each of the aforementioned mergers was accounted
for as pooling of interests. On December 29, 1995, National Commerce
Corporation ("NCC") and Commerce Bankshares, Inc. ("CBS") merged with and
into the Company ("the NCC Merger"). Pursuant to the terms of the NCC
Merger, each share of NCC common stock was converted into 348.14 shares of
the Company's common stock and each share of CBS common stock was
converted into 7.0435 shares of the Company's common stock for a total of
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3,106,981 shares (or 50.1%) of the then outstanding Company common stock.
The NCC Merger was accounted for as a "reverse acquisition," whereby NCC
is deemed to have acquired ANB for financial reporting purposes. However,
ANB remained as the continuing legal entity and registrant for Securities
and Exchange Commission filing purposes. Consistent with the reverse
acquisition accounting treatment, the historical income statement
information included in the Five-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data
of the Company is that of NCC for 1995 and 1994. The balance sheet
information included in the historical Five-Year Summary of Selected
Financial Data of the Company is that of NCC for 1994, as adjusted for
subsequent poolings of interest. The historical Five-Year Summary of
Selected Financial Data for all periods have been restated to include the
results of operations of Naples, CFC, PBC, FAB, and FIRSTBANC from the
earliest period presented, except for dividends per common share. (See
Note 1 to the Company's consolidated financial statements included in this
Annual Report).

(2) The weighted average common share and common equivalent shares outstanding
are those of NCC, CBS, Naples, CFC, PBC, FAB, and FIRSTBANC converted into
ANB common and common equivalents at the applicable exchange ratios.

(3) Net income per common share--diluted is calculated based upon net income
as adjusted cash dividends on preferred stock.

(4) Book value and tangible book value at December 31, 1994 are calculated on
the outstanding common shares of NCC, CBS, Naples, CFC, PBC, FAB, and
FIRSTBANC converted at the exchange ratio.

(5) Net interest income divided by average earning assets.

(6) Nonperforming loans and nonperforming assets includes loans past due 90
days or more that are still accruing interest.

(7) Based upon fully phased-in requirements.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Basis of Presentation

The following is a discussion and analysis of the consolidated financial
condition of the Company and results of operations as of the dates and for the
periods indicated. On December 31, 1998, Community Bank of Naples, National
Association ("Naples'), a bank headquartered in Naples, Florida, was merged
with and into the Company, pursuant to which each share of Naples common stock
was converted into 0.53271 shares of the Company's common stock for a total of
532,608 shares. On October 2, 1998, Community Financial Corporation ("CFC'), a
one bank holding company headquartered in Mabelton, Georgia, was merged with
and into the Company, pursuant to which each share of CFC common stock was
converted into 0.351807 shares of the Company's common stock for a total of
1,076,032 shares. On May 29, 1998, Public Bank Corporation ("PBC'), a one bank
holding company headquartered in St. Cloud, Florida, was merged with and into
the Company, pursuant to which each share of PBC common stock was converted
into 0.2353134 shares of the Company's common stock for a total of 549,913
shares. The historical consolidated financial statements of the Company
reflect adjustments for 1998 mergers accounted for as poolings of interests
and differ from consolidated financial statements of the Company as previously
reported.

The historical consolidated financial statements of the Company and the
"FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA" derived from the historical
consolidated financial statements of the Company are set forth elsewhere
herein. This discussion should be read in conjunction with those consolidated
financial statements and selected consolidated financial data and the other
financial information included in this Annual Report.

15

Selected Bank Financial Data

The Company's success is dependent upon the financial performance of the
Banks. The Company, with input from the management of each Bank, establishes
operating goals for each Bank. The following tables summarize selected
financial information for 1998 and 1997 for each of the Banks operated by the
Company.

SELECTED BANK FINANCIAL DATA
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(Amounts in thousands, except ratios)
(Unaudited)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

December 31, 1998
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
National  Alabama             Citizens &   First      First     First             Georgia    Community
Bank of   Exchange   Bank of   Peoples    American   Citizens    Gulf    Public    State      Bank of
Commerce    Bank    Dadeville Bank, N.A.    Bank    Bank, N.A.   Bank     Bank      Bank    Naples, N.A.
--------  --------  --------- ----------  --------  ---------- --------  -------  --------  ------------

<S>                   <C>       <C>       <C>       <C>         <C>       <C>        <C>       <C>      <C>       <C>
Summary of
Operations:
Interest income..... $ 51,527  $ 4,958    $ 5,143   $ 1,621    $ 20,014   $ 6,607   $  7,945  $ 3,917  $  9,764    $ 5,415
Interest expense....   27,550    1,726      2,232     1,110       9,293     3,143      3,397    1,356     4,334      2,657
Net interest
income..............   23,977    3,232      2,911       511      10,721     3,464      4,548    2,561     5,430      2,758
Provision for loan
losses..............      --       283         21       183         509        16        387       44        10        343
Securities gains
(losses)............      --       --           3       --           28       --           4      --        --         --
Noninterest
income..............   19,374      708        747       132       3,505       777      1,329      841     1,644        244
Noninterest
expense.............   29,509    1,932      1,706       882       8,685     2,134      3,953    1,919     4,544      2,353
Net income..........    9,428    1,186      1,343      (266)      3,665     1,509      1,053      966     1,651         43

Balance Sheet
Highlights:
At Period-End:

Total assets...... $767,245  $66,779    $67,958   $40,007    $268,460   $88,465   $112,453  $57,713  $131,294    $92,639
Securities........   93,863   21,198     18,076    20,714      30,423    34,189     13,035   13,320    46,075     32,952
Loans, net of
unearned income...  528,176   38,488     43,977    13,503     199,302    46,567     87,756   34,457    72,104     40,365
Allowance for loan
losses............    8,271      521        467       203       2,982       647      1,100      498     1,245        606
Deposits..........  482,339   59,938     54,550    35,743     229,682    77,811     98,376   51,860   114,468     73,609
Short-term debt...    5,000      --       5,200       --          --        --         --       --      4,550        --
Long-term debt....   20,244      --         --        --       10,084       --         --       --        --       2,000
Stockholders'
equity............   57,348    6,239      6,055     4,129      23,511     7,711      7,776    5,371    10,062      6,241

Performance Ratios:
Return on average
assets..............     1.27%    1.76%      2.07%    (1.02)%      1.50%     1.69%      1.01%    1.82%     1.33%      0.05%
Return on average
equity..............    17.44    20.83      22.23     (6.28)      16.64     18.07      14.38    18.71     17.05       0.85
Net interest
margin..............     3.74     5.27       4.85      2.22        4.87      4.26       4.92     5.23      4.77       3.76

Capital and Liquidiy
Ratios:
Average equity to
average assets......     7.30     8.44       9.31     16.31        9.03      9.37       7.04     9.71      7.82       6.42
Leverage (4.00%
required minimum)...     7.33     7.80       9.02     11.37        9.00      8.06       7.20     9.55      7.24       7.44
Risk-based capital

Tier 1 (4.00%
required
minimum)..........     9.65    12.47      12.76     20.11       10.59     13.60       8.74    14.92     12.30      13.70
Total (8.00%
required
minimum)..........    10.90    13.72      13.76     21.11       11.84     14.82       9.97    16.17     13.55      14.95

Average loans to
average deposits....    99.15    58.33      80.68     35.83       91.85     61.46      82.08    66.63     63.62      47.20

</TABLE>
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SELECTED BANK FINANCIAL DATA
(Amounts in thousands, except ratios)

(Unaudited)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

December 31, 1997
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
National  Alabama             Citizens &  First      First     First            Georgia    Community
Bank of   Exchange   Bank of   Peoples   American   Citizens   Gulf    Public    State      Bank of
Commerce    Bank    Dadeville Bank, N.A.   Bank    Bank, N.A.  Bank     Bank      Bank    Naples, N.A.
--------  --------  --------- ---------- --------  ---------- -------  -------  --------  ------------

<S>                     <C>       <C>       <C>       <C>        <C>       <C>        <C>      <C>      <C>       <C>
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Summary of Operations:
Interest income......  $ 48,401  $ 3,976    $ 5,144   $ 1,896   $ 20,250   $ 6,842   $ 5,068  $ 3,578  $  7,774    $ 2,758
Interest expense.....    24,998    1,089      2,205       748      8,686     3,025     2,005    1,168     3,107      1,262
Net interest
income..............    23,403    2,887      2,939     1,148     11,564     3,817     3,063    2,410     4,667      1,496

Provision for loan
losses..............       --        10        --         76      2,811        41        50       60       150        223

Securities gains
(losses)............       --       --           4       --         (15)        3       --       --          6        --

Noninterest income...    14,048      425        680       225      1,235       664       645      750     1,353        107
Noninterest
expense.............    25,197    1,715      1,887     1,146      9,528     2,414     2,413    1,880     4,046      1,347

Net income...........     8,215    1,084      1,250       126        792     1,473       808      833     1,610          9
Balance Sheet
Highlights:
At Period-End:

Total assets.......  $714,725  $64,563    $62,307   $14,677   $239,931   $89,816   $92,779  $49,187  $100,975    $71,790
Securities.........   103,153   15,634     10,977     8,366     29,041    31,670    15,124    8,505    26,385     16,209
Loans, net of
unearned income...   457,605   33,111     43,028     2,734    188,473    48,936    67,426   30,538    65,341     27,701

Allowance for loan
losses............     7,398      363        494        20      3,086       715       753      469     1,233        313

Deposits...........   456,843   59,015     51,292    10,354    196,596    78,531    82,253   44,127    87,265     64,601
Short-term debt....     5,880      --         --        --      12,500       --        --       --        --         --
Long-term debt.....    10,274      --       4,200       --         --        --        --       --        --       2,000
Stockholders'
equity............    50,247    5,025      5,915     4,328     20,401     8,565     6,730    4,797     8,658      4,685

Performance Ratios:
Return on average
assets..............      1.30%    2.21%      1.98%     0.49%      0.35%     1.70%     1.26%    1.75%     1.72%      0.02%

Return on average
equity..............     16.87    23.81      21.34      3.51       3.39     17.93     16.15    18.34     20.33       0.20

Net interest
margin..............      3.95     6.35       5.07      4.97       5.51      4.80      5.35     5.53      5.49       4.04

Capital and Liquidiy
Ratios:
Average equity to
average assets......      7.69     9.29       9.28     13.90      10.19      9.47      7.80     9.52      8.47      11.22

Leverage (4.00%
required minimum)...      7.41     7.48       9.16     34.69       8.50      9.27      7.36     9.50      7.90       8.06

Risk-based capital...
Tier 1 (4.00%
required
minimum)..........      9.12    10.09      12.70     69.88      10.15     15.27      9.24    10.80     13.10      15.40

Total (8.00%
required
minimum)..........     10.37    11.03      13.79     70.20      11.40     16.52     10.27    11.80     14.30      16.45

Average loans to
average deposits....     95.64    70.37      85.08     63.44      93.69     66.86     78.84    67.59     68.89      48.38

</TABLE>
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year ended December 31, 1998, compared with year ended December 31, 1997

The Company's net income increased by $3.3 million, or 23.1%, to $17.4
million in the year ended December 31, 1998, from $14.1 million in the year
ended December 31, 1997. Return on average assets during 1998 was 1.10%,
compared with 1.05% during 1997, and return on average equity was 13.81%
during 1998, compared with 12.73% during 1997.

Net interest income increased $3.0 million, or 5.4%, to $59.1 million in
1998 from $56.1 million in 1997, as interest income increased by $11.2 million
and interest expense increased $8.2 million. The increase in net interest
income is primarily attributable to a $103.8 million increase in average loans
to $1.0 billion during 1998, from $903.9 million during 1997, as a result of
management emphasis on loan growth. The increase in interest expense is
primarily attributable to an increase in average interest-bearing deposits of
$125.5 million to $1.0 billion in 1998, from $895.9 million in 1997. In
general, loans are the Company's highest yielding earning asset.

The Company's net interest spread and net interest margin were 3.67% and
4.24%, respectively, in 1998, decreasing by 34 and 38 basis points,
respectively, from 1997. These decreases reflect declining yield on average
loans and an increasing cost of interest-bearing liabilities, both
attributable to competition from banks and other financial institutions, a
flattening yield curve, and rate compression from recent reductions in the
prime rate.
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The Company recorded a provision for loan losses of $1.8 million during 1998
compared with $3.4 million one year ago. $509,000 of the 1998 provision for
loan losses and $2.8 million of the 1997 provision for loan losses was
recorded at FAB, primarily associated with higher loss experience in FAB's
indirect automobile lending and sub-prime mortgage lending portfolios (which
lending businesses were discontinued during 1997). Management believes that
both loan loss experience and asset quality indicate that the allowance for
loan losses is maintained at an adequate level. The Company's allowance for
loan losses as a percentage of period-end loans was 1.50% at December 31,
1998, compared to 1.54% at December 31, 1997, and the allowance for loan
losses as a percentage of period-end nonperforming assets was 271.6% at
December 31, 1998, compared with 211.0% at December 31, 1997. The Company
experienced net charge-offs of $100,000 in 1998 equating to a ratio of net
charge-offs to average loans of 0.01% compared with net charge-offs of $1.2
million in 1997 equating to a ratio of net charge-offs to average loans of
0.13%. See "--Provision and Allowance for Loan Losses."

Noninterest income, including net securities gains and losses, increased
$9.1 million, or 44.6%, to $29.4 million in 1998, compared with $20.3 million
in 1997. The Company experienced increases in its fee-based divisions
(investment services, trust, and mortgage lending) of $6.3 million, or 54.3%,
to $17.9 million in 1998 from $11.6 million in 1997. Service charges increased
by $660,000, or 10.0%, to $7.3 million in 1998 from $6.6 million in 1997.
Earnings on bank owned life insurance policies totaled $1.2 million in 1998
compared with $39,000 in 1997. These policies were purchased in December of
1997 and, accordingly, 1998's earnings on these policies are substantially
higher as they reflect a full year's earnings. Non-recurring sales of assets
netted $247,000 in 1998 and included a gain of $310,000 resulting from the
sale of a certain portion of FAB's loan portfolio. In 1997, non-recurring
sales of assets included a charge to provide for the consolidation of FAB's
data processing facilities into the existing Company facility and included
losses resulting from abandonment of certain leasehold improvements, which
totaled $499,000. Noninterest expense increased $8.4 million, or 15.8%, to
$61.2 million during 1998, compared with $52.8 million during 1997. See "--
Noninterest Income and Expense."

Income before the provision for income taxes increased $5.3 million, or
26.4%, to $25.5 million in 1998, from $20.2 million in 1997. Net income
increased $3.3 million during 1998.
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Year ended December 31, 1997, compared with year ended December 31, 1996

The Company's net income increased by $485,000, or 3.6%, to $14.1 million in
the year ended December 31, 1997, from $13.6 million in the year ended
December 31, 1996. Return on average assets during 1997 was 1.05%, compared
with 1.17% during 1996, and return on average equity was 12.73% during 1997,
compared with 14.22% during 1996.

Net interest income increased $5.1 million, or 10.0%, to $56.1 million in
1997 from $51.0 million in 1996, as interest income increased by $11.3 million
and interest expense increased $6.2 million. The increase in net interest
income was primarily attributable to a $107.3 million increase in average
loans to $903.9 million during 1997, from $796.6 million during 1996, as a
result of management emphasis on loan growth. The increase in interest expense
was primarily attributable to an increase in average time deposits of $79.5
million to $491.8 million in 1997, from $412.8 million in 1996. All other
funding sources increased a total of $43.8 million, or 8.8% from 1996 to 1997.

The Company's net interest spread and net interest margin were 4.01% and
4.62%, respectively, in 1997, decreasing by 12 and 13 basis points,
respectively, from 1996. These decreases reflected the Company's operation in
competitive loan and deposit markets.

The Company recorded a provision for loan losses of $3.4 million during
1997, compared with a provision for loan losses of $1.0 million during 1996,
an increase of $2.4 million, or 230.5%, resulting from higher loss experience
at FAB in its indirect automobile lending and sub-prime mortgage lending
portfolios, both of which were discontinued in 1997. The Company's allowance
for loan losses as a percentage of period-end loans was 1.54% at December 31,
1997, compared to 1.45% at December 31, 1996, and the allowance for loan
losses as a percentage of period-end nonperforming assets was 211.0% at
December 31, 1997, compared with 301.3% at December 31, 1996. The Company
experienced net charge-offs of $1.2 million in 1997 equating to a ratio of net
charge-offs to average loans of 0.13%. See "-- Provision and Allowance for
Loan Losses."

Noninterest income, including securities gains and losses, increased $1.2
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million, or 6.1%, to $20.3 million in 1997, compared with $19.1 million in
1996. The increase was attributable to steady growth in all fee-based business
lines of the Company. Noninterest expense increased $2.6 million, or 5.2%, to
$52.8 million in 1997 from $50.2 million in 1996.

Income before the provision for income taxes increased $1.3 million, or
6.8%, to $20.2 million in 1997, from $18.9 million in 1996. Income before
minority interest in earnings of consolidated subsidiary and net income
increased $483,000 and $485,000, respectively, during 1997.

Net Interest Income

The largest component of the Company's net income is its net interest income
-- the difference between the interest income earned on assets and interest
paid on deposits and borrowed funds used to support its assets. Net interest
income is determined by the yield earned on the Company's earning assets and
rates paid on its interest-bearing liabilities, the relative amounts of
earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and the maturity and repricing
characteristics of its earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. Net
interest income divided by average earning assets represents the Company's net
interest margin.

Average Balances, Income, Expenses and Rates

The following table depicts, on a taxable equivalent basis for the periods
indicated, certain information related to the Company's average balance sheet
and its average yields on assets and average costs of liabilities. Such yields
or costs are derived by dividing income or expense by the average daily
balances of the associated assets or liabilities.

19

AVERAGE BALANCES, INCOME AND EXPENSES AND RATES
(Amounts in thousands, except yields and rates)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Year ended December 31,
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1998                        1997                       1996
--------------------------- --------------------------- --------------------------
Average    Income/  Yield/  Average    Income/  Yield/  Average    Income/ Yield/
Balance    Expense   Rate   Balance    Expense   Rate   Balance    Expense  Rate

----------  -------- ------ ----------  -------- ------ ----------  ------- ------
ASSETS:
-------

<S>                       <C>         <C>      <C>    <C>         <C>      <C>    <C>         <C>     <C>
Earning assets:
Loans(1)(3)............  $1,007,695  $ 92,343  9.16% $  903,930  $ 85,549  9.46% $  796,556  $76,664  9.62%
Securities:
Taxable................     273,782    17,213  6.29     213,533    13,829  6.48     197,120   12,488  6.34
Tax exempt.............      33,182     2,510  7.56      32,939     2,628  7.98      29,246    2,255  7.71
Cash balances in other
banks.................       2,019       106  5.25       1,042        55  5.28       4,060      240  5.91

Funds sold.............      75,039     4,256  5.67      59,683     3,353  5.62      44,653    2,263  5.07
Trading account
securities............       4,352       264  6.07       3,488       193  5.53       2,814      183  6.50

----------  --------        ----------  --------        ----------  -------
Total earning
assets(2)............   1,396,069   116,692  8.36   1,214,615   105,607  8.69   1,074,449   94,093  8.76

----------  --------        ----------  --------        ----------  -------
Cash and due from
banks..................      56,529                      49,004                      42,261

Premises and equipment..      37,404                      35,142                      33,717
Other assets............     108,715                      55,822                      28,798
Allowance for loan
losses.................     (15,608)                    (13,329)                    (12,081)

----------                  ----------                  ----------
Total assets..........  $1,583,109                  $1,341,254                  $1,167,144

==========                  ==========                  ==========

<CAPTION>
LIABILITIES:
------------

<S>                       <C>         <C>      <C>    <C>         <C>      <C>    <C>         <C>     <C>
Interest-bearing
liabilities:
Interest-bearing
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transaction accounts..  $  167,034     4,271  2.56  $  141,830     3,703  2.61  $  163,873    5,017  3.06
Savings and money
market deposits.......     313,254    11,678  3.73     262,356     9,509  3.62     225,579    7,834  3.47

Time deposits..........     541,142    30,466  5.63     491,751    27,477  5.59     412,280   23,231  5.63
Funds purchased........     127,856     6,807  5.32      85,956     4,491  5.22      71,660    3,624  5.06
Other short-term
borrowings............      26,323     1,613  6.13      43,988     2,712  6.17      29,980    2,064  6.88

Long-term debt.........      30,548     1,720  5.63       8,583       487  5.67       7,831      404  5.16
----------  --------        ----------  --------        ----------  -------

Total interest-bearing
liabilities..........   1,206,157    56,555  4.69   1,034,464    48,379  4.68     911,203   42,174  4.63

----------  --------        ----------  --------        ----------  -------
Demand deposits........     192,427                     162,081                     145,680
Accrued interest and
other liabilities.....      58,696                      33,827                      14,398

Stockholders' equity...     125,829                     110,882                      95,863
----------                  ----------                  ----------

Total liabilities and
stockholders'
equity...............  $1,583,109                  $1,341,254                  $1,167,144

==========                  ==========                  ==========
Net interest spread.....                        3.67%                       4.01%                      4.13%

====                        ====                       ====
Net interest
income/margin on a
taxable equivalent
basis..................                60,137  4.31%               57,228  4.71%              51,919  4.83%

====                        ====                       ====
Tax equivalent
adjustment(2)..........                   988                       1,099                        915

--------                    --------                    -------
Net interest
income/margin..........              $ 59,149  4.24%             $ 56,129  4.62%             $51,004  4.75%

========  ====              ========  ====              =======  ====
</TABLE>
--------
(1) Average loans include nonaccrual loans. All loans and deposits are

domestic.
(2) Tax equivalent adjustments are based on the assumed rate of 34%, and do

not give effect to the disallowance for Federal income tax purposes of
interest expense related to certain tax-exempt assets.

(3)  Fees in the amount of $3,273,000, $3,244,000, and $2,943,000 are included
in interest and fees on loans for 1998, 1997, and 1996, respectively.
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During 1998, the Company experienced an increase in net interest income of
$3.0 million, or 5.4%, to $59.1 million, compared with $56.1 million in 1997.
Net interest income increased despite a decrease in the net interest spread of
34 basis points to 3.67% in 1998 from 4.01% in 1997, and a decrease in the net
interest margin of 38 basis points to 4.24% in 1998, compared with 4.62% in
1997. Because the relative yield on loans exceeds that of all other earning
assets, the primary reason for the increased net interest income was a 11.5%
increase in average loan volume. The primary reason for the decrease in the
net interest spread and net interest margin was "spread-compression" resulting
from, generally, lower rates on loans, and higher rates on marginal funding
sources, such as time deposits, and Federal funds purchased, as well as an
increase in higher cost time deposits as a percentage of total deposits, which
are among the highest cost funding sources available to the Company. During
1998, net average earning assets increased by $181.5 million, or 14.9%, to
$1.40 billion from $1.21 billion in 1997. The major components of this
increase included average loans which increased $103.8 million, or 11.5%, to
$1.01 billion in 1998 from $903.9 million in 1997, and securities which
increased $60.5 million, or 24.5%, to $307.0 million in 1998 from $246.5
million in 1997.

Analysis of Changes in Net Interest Income

The following table sets forth, on a taxable equivalent basis, the effect
that varying levels of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and the
applicable rates had on changes in net interest income for 1998 and 1997. For
the purposes of this table, changes which are not solely attributable to
volume or rate are allocated to volume and rate on a pro rata basis.

ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET INTEREST INCOME
(Amounts in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

December 31,
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--------------------------------------------------------
1998 Compared to 1997        1997 Compared to 1996

Variance Due to              Variance Due to
---------------------------  ---------------------------
Volume   Yield/Rate  Total   Volume   Yield/Rate  Total
-------  ---------- -------  -------  ---------- -------

<S>                       <C>      <C>        <C>      <C>      <C>        <C>
Earning assets:
Loans...................  $ 9,573   $(2,779)  $ 6,794  $10,178   $(1,293)  $ 8,885
Securities:

Taxable...............    3,801      (417)    3,384    1,060       281     1,341
Tax exempt............       19      (137)     (118)     292        81       373

Cash balances in other
banks..................       51       --         51     (161)      (24)     (185)

Funds sold..............      873        30       903      824       266     1,090
Trading account
securities.............       51        20        71       40       (30)       10

-------   -------   -------  -------   -------   -------
Total interest
income.............   14,368    (3,283)   11,085   12,233      (719)   11,514

Interest-bearing
liabilities:

Interest-bearing
transaction accounts...      641       (73)      568     (628)     (686)   (1,314)

Savings and money market
deposits...............    1,875       294     2,169    1,324       351     1,675

Time deposits...........    2,790       199     2,989    4,413      (167)    4,246
Funds purchased.........    2,228        88     2,316      748       119       867
Other short-term
borrowings.............   (1,081)      (18)   (1,099)     880      (232)      648

Long-term debt..........    1,236        (3)    1,233       41        42        83
-------   -------   -------  -------   -------   -------

Total interest
expense............    7,689       487     8,176    6,778      (573)    6,205

-------   -------   -------  -------   -------   -------
Net interest income
on a taxable
equivalent basis...  $ 6,679   $(3,770)    2,909  $ 5,455   $  (146)    5,309

=======   =======            =======   =======
Taxable equivalent
adjustment.............                          111                         (184)

-------                      -------
Net interest income.....                      $ 3,020                      $ 5,125

=======                      =======
</TABLE>
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Interest Sensitivity and Market Risk

Interest Sensitivity

The Company monitors and manages the pricing and maturity of its assets and
liabilities in order to diminish the potential adverse impact that changes in
interest rates could have on net interest income. The principal monitoring
technique employed by the Company is the measurement of the interest
sensitivity "gap," which is the positive or negative dollar difference between
assets and liabilities that are subject to interest rate repricing within a
given period of time. Interest rate sensitivity can be managed by repricing
assets and liabilities, selling securities available for sale, replacing an
asset or liability at maturity or by adjusting the interest rate during the
life of an asset or liability.

The Company evaluates interest sensitivity risk and then formulates
guidelines regarding asset generation and repricing, and sources and prices of
off-balance sheet commitments in order to decrease interest sensitivity risk.
The Company uses computer simulations to measure the net income effect of
various interest rate scenarios. The modeling reflects interest rate changes
and the related impact on net income over specified periods of time.

The following table illustrates the Company's interest rate sensitivity at
December 31, 1998, assuming the relevant assets and liabilities are collected
and paid, respectively, based upon historical experience rather than their
stated maturities.

INTEREST SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
(Amounts in thousands, except ratios)

<TABLE>
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<CAPTION>
December 31, 1998

-------------------------------------------------------------------
After One  After Three

Within    Through     Through                 Greater
One       Three      Twelve     Within One   Than One

Month     Months      Months        Year        Year      Total
--------  ---------  -----------  ----------   --------  ----------

<S>                       <C>       <C>        <C>          <C>          <C>       <C>
ASSETS:
-------

Earning assets:
Loans(1)..............  $466,784  $ 97,510    $ 177,025   $  741,319   $360,398  $1,101,717
Securities(2).........    20,458    30,020      103,166      153,644    169,074     322,718
Interest-bearing
deposits in other
banks................       225       --           --           225        --          225

Funds sold............    57,076       --           --        57,076        --       57,076
--------  --------    ---------   ----------   --------  ----------

Total interest-
earning assets......  $544,543  $127,530    $ 280,191   $  952,264   $529,472  $1,481,736

LIABILITIES:
------------

Interest-bearing
liabilities:
Interest-bearing
deposits:
Demand deposits......  $    --   $    --     $ 187,481   $  187,481   $    --   $  187,481
Savings and money
market deposits.....   298,817       --           --       298,817        --      298,817

Time deposits(3).....    62,166   118,530      283,877      464,573     91,854     556,427
Funds purchased.......   158,083                             158,083                158,083
Short-term
borrowings(4)........    18,556     9,200                    27,756                 27,756

Long-term debt........         2         4           18           24     32,304      32,328
--------  --------    ---------   ----------   --------  ----------

Total interest-
bearing
liabilities.........  $537,624  $127,734    $ 471,376   $1,136,734   $124,158  $1,260,892

--------  --------    ---------   ----------   --------  ----------
Period gap..............  $  6,919  $   (204)   $(191,185)  $ (184,470)  $405,314

========  ========    =========   ==========   ========
Cumulative gap..........  $  6,919  $  6,715    $(184,470)  $ (184,470)  $220,844  $  220,844

========  ========    =========   ==========   ========  ==========
Ratio of cumulative gap
to total earning
assets.................      0.47%     0.45%      (12.45)%     (12.45)%    14.90%

</TABLE>
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--------
(1) Excludes nonaccrual loans of $4,357,000.

(2) Excludes investment equity securities with a market value of $7,029,000.

(3) Excludes matured certificates which have not been redeemed by the customer
and on which no interest is accruing.

(4) Includes treasury, tax and loan account of $1,506,000.

The Company generally benefits from increasing market rates of interest when
it has an asset-sensitive gap and generally benefits from decreasing market
interest rates when it is liability sensitive. The Company is liability
sensitive throughout one year after one month. The analysis presents only a
static view of the timing and repricing opportunities, without taking into
consideration that changes in interest rates do not affect all assets and
liabilities equally. For example, rates paid on a substantial portion of core
deposits may change contractually within a relatively short time frame, but
those are viewed by management as significantly less interest sensitive than
market-based rates such as those paid on non-core deposits. Accordingly,
management believes that a liability-sensitive gap position is not as
indicative of the Company's true interest sensitivity as it would be for an
organization which depends to a greater extent on purchased funds to support
earning assets. Net interest income may be impacted by other significant
factors in a given interest rate environment, including changes in the volume
and mix of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities.
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Market Risk

The Company's earnings are dependent on its net interest income which is the
difference between interest income earned on all earning assets, primarily
loans and securities, and interest paid on all interest bearing liabilities,
primarily deposits. Market risk is the risk of loss from adverse changes in
market prices and rates. The Company's market risk arises primarily from
inherent interest rate risk in its lending, investing and deposit gathering
activities. The Company seeks to reduce its exposure to market risk through
actively monitoring and managing its interest rate risk. Management relies
upon static "gap" analysis to determine the degree of mismatch in the maturity
and repricing distribution of interest earning assets and interest bearing
liabilities which quantifies, to a large extent, the degree of market risk
inherent in the Company's balance sheet. Gap analysis is further augmented by
simulation analysis to evaluate the impact of varying levels of prevailing
interest rates and the sensitivity of specific earning assets and interest
bearing liabilities to changes in those prevailing rates. Simulation analysis
consists of evaluating the impact on net interest income given changes from
200 basis points below to 200 basis points above the current prevailing rates.
Management makes certain assumptions as to the effect varying levels of
interest rates have on certain earning assets and interest bearing
liabilities, which assumptions consider both historical experience and
consensus estimates of outside sources.

With respect to the primary earning assets, loans and securities, certain
features of individual types of loans and specific securities introduce
uncertainty as to their expected performance at varying levels of interest
rates. In some cases, imbedded options exist whereby the borrower may elect to
repay the obligation at any time. These imbedded prepayment options make
anticipating the performance of those instruments difficult given changes in
prevailing rates. At December 31, 1998, mortgage backed securities totaling
$183.0 million, or 10.9% of total assets and essentially every loan, net of
unearned income, (totaling $1.11 billion, or 66.2% of total assets), carry
such imbedded options. Management believes that assumptions used in its
simulation analysis about the performance of financial instruments with such
imbedded options are appropriate. However, the actual performance of these
financial instruments may differ from management's estimates due to several
factors, including the diversity and sophistication of the customer base, the
general level of prevailing interest rates and the relationship to their
historical levels, and general economic conditions. The difference between
those assumptions and actual results, if significant, could cause the actual
results to differ from those indicated by the simulation analysis.

Deposits totaled $1.28 billion, or 76.3% of total assets, at December 31,
1998. Since deposits are the primary funding source for earning assets, the
associated market risk is considered by management in its simulation analysis.
Generally, it is anticipated that deposits will be sufficient to support
funding requirements.
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However, the rates paid for deposits at varying levels of prevailing interest
rates have a significant impact on net interest income and therefore, must be
quantified by the Company in its simulation analysis. Specifically, the
Company's spread, the difference between the rates earned on earning assets
and rates paid on interest bearing liabilities, is generally higher when
prevailing rates are higher. As prevailing rates reduce, the spread tends to
compress, with severe compression at very low prevailing interest rates. This
characteristic is called "spread compression" and adversely effects net
interest income in the simulation analysis when anticipated prevailing rates
are reduced from current rates. Management relies upon historical experience
to estimate the degree of spread compression in its simulation analysis.
Management believes that such estimates of possible spread compression are
reasonable. However, if the degree of spread compression varies from that
expected, the actual results could differ from those indicated by the
simulation analysis.

The following table illustrates the results of simulation analysis used by
the Company to determine the extent to which market risk would have effected
the net interest margin if prevailing interest rates differed from actual
rates during 1998 and 1997. Because of the inherent use of estimates and
assumptions in the simulation model used to derive this information, the
actual results for 1998 and, certainly, the future impact of market risk on
the Company's net interest margin, may differ from that found in the table.

MARKET RISK
(Amounts in thousands)

<TABLE>
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<CAPTION>
Year ended December 31, 1998          Year ended December 31, 1997

Change in              ---------------------------------     ---------------------------------
Prevailing              Net Interest       Change from        Net Interest       Change from

Interest Rates           Income Amount      Income Amount      Income Amount      Income Amount
--------------           ---------------    --------------     ---------------    --------------
<S>                      <C>                <C>                <C>                <C>
+200 basis points.......    $        63,238              6.91%    $        59,813              6.56%
+100 basis points.......             61,194              3.46              57,971              3.28
0 basis points..........             59,149               --               56,129               --
-100 basis points.......             57,063             (3.53)             54,146             (3.53)
-200 basis points.......             54,977             (7.05)             52,158             (7.07)
</TABLE>

Provision and Allowance for Loan Losses

The Company has policies and procedures for evaluating the overall credit
quality of its loan portfolio including timely identification of potential
problem credits. On a monthly basis, management reviews the appropriate level
for the allowance for loan losses based on the results of the internal
monitoring and reporting system, analysis of economic conditions in its
markets and a review of historical statistical data, current trends regarding
the volume and severity of past due and problem loans and leases, the
existence and effect of concentrations of credit, and changes in national and
local economic conditions for both the Company and other financial
institutions. Also considered in management's evaluation of the adequacy of
the allowance for loan losses are the results of regulatory examinations
conducted for each bank, including evaluation of the Company's policies and
procedures and findings from the Company's independent loan review department.

The provision for loan losses decreased by $1.6 million, or 47.5%, to $1.8
million in 1998 from $3.4 million in 1997. Due to an increase during 1997 in
the loss experience in FAB's indirect automobile lending and sub-prime lending
portfolios, management deemed it prudent to increase FAB's provision for loan
losses during 1997. These indirect automobile lending and sub-prime mortgage
lending businesses were discontinued in late 1997, and management believes the
allowance for loan losses, at its current level, adequately covers the
Company's exposure to loan losses.

Management's judgment as to the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses is
also based upon assumptions about future events which it believes to be
reasonable. These assumptions include consistent application of sound
underwriting standards, continued low turnover among lending staff, general
economic conditions including stable interest rates, and stable levels of
nonperforming loans. Should these assumptions change, there is no assurance
that charge-offs in future periods will not exceed the allowance for loan
losses or that additional loan loss provisions will not be required.
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Additions to the allowance for loan losses, which are expensed as the
provision for loan losses on the Company's income statement, are made
periodically to maintain the allowance for loan losses at an appropriate level
as determined by management. Loan losses and recoveries are charged or
credited directly to the allowance for loan losses.

ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES
(Amounts in thousands, except percentages)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Year ended December 31,
--------------------------------------------------

1998       1997      1996      1995      1994
----------  --------  --------  --------  --------

<S>                         <C>         <C>       <C>       <C>       <C>
Total loans outstanding at
end of period, net of
unearned income..........  $1,106,074  $966,370  $868,307  $745,961  $482,639

==========  ========  ========  ========  ========
Average amount of loans
outstanding, net of
unearned income..........  $1,007,695  $903,930  $796,556  $512,739  $439,216

==========  ========  ========  ========  ========
Allowance for loan losses
at beginning of period...  $   14,844  $ 12,633  $ 11,621  $  7,597  $  8,418

Charge-offs:
Commercial, financial
and agricultural.......         418       516       809     1,247     3,316

Real estate--mortgage...         200       531       160       454       282
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Consumer................       1,246     1,880     1,027       543       366
----------  --------  --------  --------  --------

Total charge-offs.....       1,864     2,927     1,996     2,244     3,964
----------  --------  --------  --------  --------

Recoveries:
Commercial, financial
and agricultural.......       1,012     1,068     1,525     1,294       715

Real estate--mortgage...         296       200       152       296       125
Consumer................         456       449       296       383       306

----------  --------  --------  --------  --------
Total recoveries......       1,764     1,717     1,973     1,973     1,146

----------  --------  --------  --------  --------
Net charge-offs.......         100     1,210        23       271     2,818

Provision for loan
losses...................       1,796     3,421     1,035     1,171     1,770

Changes incidental to
acquisitions.............         --        --        --      3,124       227

----------  --------  --------  --------  --------
Allowance for loan losses
at period-end............  $   16,540  $ 14,844  $ 12,633  $ 11,621  $  7,597

==========  ========  ========  ========  ========
Allowance for loan losses
to period-end loans......        1.50%     1.54%     1.45%     1.56%     1.57%

Net charge-offs to average
loans ...................        0.01      0.13      0.00      0.05      0.64

</TABLE>

Allocation of Allowance

There is no formal allocation of the allowance for loan losses by loan
category.
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Nonperforming Assets

The following table presents the Company's nonperforming assets for the
dates indicated.

NONPERFORMING ASSETS
(Amounts in thousands, except percentages)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

At December 31,
--------------------------------------
1998    1997    1996    1995    1994

------  ------  ------  ------  ------
<S>                                    <C>     <C>     <C>     <C>     <C>
Nonaccrual loans...................... $4,357  $4,228  $2,735  $2,843  $1,570
Restructured loans....................    499   1,052     605     949     297
Loans past due 90 days or more and
still accruing.......................    --      --        9     126     --

------  ------  ------  ------  ------
Total nonperforming loans...........  4,856   5,280   3,349   3,918   1,867

Other real estate owned...............  1,234   1,756     842     780     883
------  ------  ------  ------  ------

Total nonperforming assets.......... $6,090  $7,036  $4,191  $4,698  $2,750
======  ======  ======  ======  ======

Allowance for loan losses to period-
end loans............................   1.50%   1.54%   1.45%   1.56%   1.57%

Allowance for loan losses to period-
end nonperforming loans.............. 340.61  281.14  377.22  296.61  406.91

Allowance for loan losses to period-
end nonperforming assets............. 271.59  210.97  301.43  247.36  276.25

Net charge-offs to average loans......   0.01    0.13    0.00    0.05    0.64
Nonperforming assets to period-end
loans and foreclosed property........   0.55    0.73    0.48    0.63    0.57

Nonperforming loans to period-end
loans................................   0.44    0.55    0.39    0.53    0.39

</TABLE>

Accrual of interest is discontinued on a loan when management believes,
after considering economic and business conditions and collection efforts,
that the borrower's financial condition is such that collection of interest is
doubtful. A delinquent loan is generally placed on nonaccrual status when it
becomes 90 days or more past due. When a loan is placed on nonaccrual status,
all interest which is accrued on the loan is reversed and deducted from
earnings as a reduction of reported interest. No additional interest is
accrued on the loan balance until collection of both principal and interest
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becomes reasonably certain. When a problem loan is finally resolved, there may
ultimately be an actual writedown or charge-off of the principal balance of
the loan which would necessitate additional charges to the allowance for loan
losses. During the years ending December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996,
approximately $384,000, $371,000, and $279,000, respectively, in additional
interest income would have been recognized in earnings if the Company's
nonaccrual loans had been current in accordance with their original terms.

Total nonperforming assets decreased $946,000 to $6.1 million at December
31, 1998, from $7.0 million at December 31, 1997. The allowance for loan
losses to period-end nonperforming assets was 271.59% at December 31, 1998,
compared with 210.97% at December 31, 1997. This ratio will generally
fluctuate from period to period depending upon nonperforming asset levels at
period end. The nonperforming assets decreased at year end 1998 compared with
1997 primarily due to the discontinuance of new originations in the indirect
automobile and sub-grade mortgage loan portfolios at FAB.
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Potential Problem Loans

A potential problem loan is one that management has serious doubts as to the
borrower's future performance under terms of the loan contract. These loans
are current as to principal and interest, and accordingly, they are not
included in the nonperforming asset categories. Management monitors these
loans closely in order to ensure that the Company's interests are protected.
At December 31, 1998, the Company had certain loans considered by management
to be potential problem loans totaling $25.4 million. The level of potential
problem loans is factored into the determination of the adequacy of the
allowance for loan losses.

Noninterest Income and Expense

Noninterest income

The Company relies on four distinct product lines for the production of
recurring noninterest income: traditional retail and commercial banking and
operating segments including mortgage banking, trust services and investment
services. Combined fees associated with these product lines totaled $25.2
million in 1998, compared with $18.2 million in 1997, an increase of $7.0
million, or 38.3%. Non-recurring gains netted $247,000 in 1998 resulting
primarily from the gain on sale of certain portions of FAB's loan portfolio in
early 1998 totaling $391,000 and in 1997 non-recurring losses totaled
$499,000, resulting from a charge to provide for the consolidation of FAB's
data processing facility into the existing Company facility and by losses
resulting from the abandonment of certain leasehold improvements.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the principal
components of noninterest income.

NONINTEREST INCOME
(Amounts in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Year ended December 31,
------------------------
1998    1997     1996

------- -------  -------
<S>                                                    <C>     <C>      <C>
Service charges on deposit accounts................... $ 7,259 $ 6,599  $ 6,238
Investment services income............................  11,508   8,162    7,889
Trust fees............................................   2,101   1,799    1,550
Origination and sale of mortgage loans................   4,303   1,644    1,187
Gain on disposal of assets and deposits...............     247    (497)     148
Securities gains (losses).............................     174      (2)     (84)
Bank owned life insurance.............................   1,167      39       35
Other.................................................   2,591   2,550    2,167

------- -------  -------
Total noninterest income.......................... $29,350 $20,294  $19,130

======= =======  =======
</TABLE>
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Noninterest Expense

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the principal
components of noninterest expense.
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NONINTEREST EXPENSE
(Amounts in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Year ended December 31,
-----------------------
1998    1997    1996

------- ------- -------
<S>                                                     <C>     <C>     <C>
Salaries and employee benefits......................... $36,021 $29,992 $28,756
Net occupancy expense..................................   6,724   6,623   6,481
Amortization of goodwill...............................     302     298     305
Advertising............................................     976   1,445   1,218
Banking assessments....................................     298     411   1,090
Data processing expenses...............................   2,435   2,151   1,770
Legal and professional fees............................   3,609   1,947   2,057
Non-credit losses (recoveries).........................     129     283     (24)
Other..................................................  10,660   9,638   8,522

------- ------- -------
Total noninterest expense............................ $61,154 $52,788 $50,175

======= ======= =======
</TABLE>

Salaries and employee benefits increased $6.0 million, or 20.1%, in 1998.
Revenue in the investment services and mortgage lending divisions increased
significantly during 1998, and compensation of employees in these areas is
largely commission based.

Noninterest expenses increased $8.4 million, or 15.8%, to $61.2 million in
1998, from $52.8 million in 1997. Advertising decreased by $469,000, or 32.5%,
to $976,000 in 1998, from $1.4 million in 1997. Data processing fees increased
$284,000, or 13.2%, in 1998 to $2.4 million, in part, due to approximately
$300,000 in conversion costs related to the mergers completed by the Company
in 1998, part of which was offset by operating cost reductions attributable to
consolidation of data processing operations. Legal and professional fees,
$3.6 million in 1998, increased $1.7 million, or 85.4%, from $1.9 million in
1997 as a result of costs associated with mergers completed during 1998.

The 1996 banking assessment amount includes a one-time charge of $677,000
relating to recapitalization of the SAIF fund through a FDIC assessment.

Investment Services

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the summary of
operations for the investment services departments of the Company:

INVESTMENT SERVICES DIVISION
(Amounts in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Year ended December
31,

---------------------
1998    1997   1996

------- ------ ------
<S>                                                       <C>     <C>    <C>
Investment services revenue.............................. $11,508 $8,162 $7,889
Other revenue............................................   1,409  1,311  1,354

------- ------ ------
Total investment revenue...............................  12,917  9,473  9,243

Expenses and allocated charges...........................  10,500  8,479  8,551
------- ------ ------

Net investment services revenue........................ $ 2,417 $  994 $  692
======= ====== ======

</TABLE>
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National Bank of Commerce of Birmingham ("NBC") operates an investment
department devoted primarily to handling correspondent banks' investment
needs. NBC has a wholly owned subsidiary, NBC Securities, Inc. ("NBC
Securities"), that is licensed as a broker-dealer. Together, NBC's investment
department and NBC Securities comprise the Investment Service Division.
Investment services revenues consist primarily of commission income from the
sale of investment securities. Investment services revenues increased $3.3
million, or 41.0%, to $11.5 million in 1998 from $8.2 million in 1997,
primarily as a result continued favorable market conditions. Investment
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services revenues increased $273,000, or 3.5%, to $8.2 million in 1997 from
$7.9 million in 1996. Other investment services revenue consists of interest
and dividends on trading assets and fee based services including
asset/liability consulting, bond accounting and security safekeeping. These
results include certain income and expense items that are allocated by
management to the investment services areas of the Company.

These results are not necessarily the same as would be expected if these
activities were conducted by a stand-alone entity because certain corporate
overhead expenses are not allocated directly to this division.

Trust Division

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the summary of
operations for the trust division of the Company:

TRUST DIVISION
(Amounts in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Year ended December
31,

--------------------
1998   1997   1996

------ ------ ------
<S>                                                        <C>    <C>    <C>
Trust division income..................................... $2,101 $1,799 $1,550
Expenses and allocated charges............................  1,169  1,105  1,175

------ ------ ------
Net trust division revenue.............................. $  932 $  694 $  375

====== ====== ======
</TABLE>

Trust division income increased $302,000, or 16.8%, to $2.1 million in 1998
from $1.8 million in 1997 due to new customer relationships and growth of
existing assets managed. Similar conditions resulted in a 16.1% increase in
trust department fees to $1.8 million in 1997 from $1.6 million in 1996.

Despite the increase in Trust division income, Trust division expenses and
allocated charges decreased 6.0% in 1997 versus 1996, from $1.2 million to
$1.1 million

These results are not necessarily the same as would be expected if these
activities were conducted by a stand-alone entity because certain corporate
overhead expenses are not allocated directly to this division.
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Mortgage Lending Division

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the summary of
operations for the mortgage lending division of the Company.

MORTGAGE LENDING DIVISION
(Amounts in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Year ended December
31,

--------------------
1998   1997   1996

------ ------ ------
<S>                                                     <C>    <C>    <C>
Origination and sale of mortgage loans................. $4,303 $1,644 $1,187
Interest income........................................    474    545    293

------ ------ ------
Total revenue........................................  4,777  2,189  1,480

Expenses and allocated charges.........................  2,635  1,643  1,010
------ ------ ------

Net mortgage lending division revenue................ $2,142 $  546 $  470
====== ====== ======

</TABLE>

Fees charged in connection with the origination and resale of mortgage loans
totaled $4.3 million in 1998 and $1.6 million in 1997, an increase of $2.7
million, or 161.7%, resulting from a favorable interest rate environment,
staff additions, and expansion of services into different geographic areas
serviced by the Company. Expenses and allocated charges in the mortgage
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lending division grew 60.4% to $2.6 million in 1998 from $1.6 million in 1997,
an increase if $992,000. In spite of this 60.4% increase, these expenses grew
at a lower rate than revenues as a result of more efficient operations and
leveraging the available fixed cost structure.

These results are not necessarily the same as would be expected if these
activities were conducted by a stand-alone entity because certain corporate
overhead expenses are not allocated directly to this division.

Earning Assets

Loans

Loans are the largest category of earning assets and typically provide
higher yields than the other types of earning assets. Associated with the
higher loan yields are the inherent credit and liquidity risks which
management attempts to control and counterbalance. Loans averaged $1.01
billion in 1998 compared to $903.9 million in 1997, an increase of $103.8
million, or 11.5%. At December 31, 1998, total loans, net of unearned income,
were $1.11 billion compared to $966.4 million at the end of 1997, an increase
of $139.7 million, or 14.5%.
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The growth in the Company's loan portfolio is attributable to general
economic conditions that resulted in increased loan demand from existing
customers and the Company's ability to attract new customers while maintaining
consistent underwriting standards. The following table details the composition
of the loan portfolio by category at the dates indicated.

COMPOSITION OF LOAN PORTFOLIO
(Amounts in thousands, except percentages)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

December 31,
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1998                1997               1996               1995               1994
-------------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------

Percent            Percent            Percent            Percent            Percent
of                 of                 of                 of                 of

Amount     Total    Amount    Total    Amount    Total    Amount    Total    Amount    Total
----------  -------  --------  -------  --------  -------  --------  -------  --------  -------

<S>                       <C>         <C>      <C>       <C>      <C>       <C>      <C>       <C>      <C>       <C>
Commercial and
financial..............  $  257,409   23.24%  $208,666   21.55%  $203,616   23.33%  $177,906   23.68%  $124,145   25.58%

Real estate:
Construction...........      74,024    6.68     72,166    7.45     62,628    7.18     47,313    6.30     36,281    7.48
Mortgage--residential..     310,691   28.06    294,686   30.42    266,659   30.54    213,244   28.38    105,526   21.75
Mortgage--commercial...     291,437   26.32    253,338   26.16    206,393   23.65    195,856   26.07    150,981   31.11
Mortgage--other........       2,215     .20      2,299     .24      3,627     .42      4,407     .59      1,508     .31

Consumer................      77,187    6.97     89,971    9.29     94,888   10.87     93,163   12.40     57,056   11.76
Other...................      94,509    8.53     47,346    4.89     35,005    4.01     19,415    2.58      9,768    2.01

----------  ------   --------  ------   --------  ------   --------  ------   --------  ------
Total gross loans......   1,107,472  100.00%   968,472  100.00%   872,816  100.00%   751,304  100.00%   485,265  100.00%

======             ======             ======             ======             ======
Unearned income.........      (1,398)            (2,102)            (4,509)            (5,343)            (2,626)

----------           --------           --------           --------           --------
Total loans, net of
unearned income.......   1,106,074            966,370            868,307            745,961            482,639

Allowance for loan
losses.................     (16,540)           (14,844)           (12,633)           (11,621)            (7,597)

----------           --------           --------           --------           --------
Total net loans........  $1,089,534           $951,526           $855,674           $734,340           $475,042

==========           ========           ========           ========           ========
</TABLE>

In the context of this discussion, a "real estate mortgage loan" is defined
as any loan, other than loans for construction purposes, secured by real
estate, regardless of the purpose of the loan. It is common practice for
financial institutions in the Company's market areas to obtain a security
interest or lien in real estate whenever possible, in addition to any other
available collateral. This collateral is taken to reinforce the likelihood of
the ultimate repayment of the loan and tends to increase the magnitude of the
real estate loan portfolio component.

The principal component of the Company's loan portfolio is real estate
mortgage loans. At year-end 1998, this category totaled $678.4 million and
represented 61.3% of the total loan portfolio, compared to $622.5 million, or
64.3%, of the total loan portfolio, at year-end 1997.
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Commercial mortgage loans increased $38.1 million, or 15.0%, to $291.4
million at December 31, 1998. Residential mortgage loans increased $16.0
million, or 5.4%, to $310.7 million at December 31, 1998, compared with $294.7
million at December 31, 1997.

The growth of commercial and financial loans totaled $48.7 million, or
23.4%, in 1998, reflecting management emphasis on the wholesale commercial
loan market.

Consumer loans decreased $12.8 million, or 14.2%, during 1998 to $77.2
million from $90.0 million in 1997 as a result of reduced emphasis on certain
areas of consumer lending (such as indirect automobile loans).

Other categories of loans increased $47.2 million, or 99.6% to $94.5 million
during 1998 as a result of growth in margin lending in the investment services
division, which are fully secured by marketable securities, and leases from a
newly organized leasing division of the Company. The Company engages in no
foreign lending operations.
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The repayment of loans is a source of additional liquidity for the Company.
The following table sets forth the Company's loans maturing within specific
intervals at December 31, 1998.

LOAN MATURITY AND SENSITIVITY TO CHANGES IN INTEREST RATES
(Amounts in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

December 31, 1998
----------------------------------------

Over one year   Over
One year through five    five
or less      years      years    Total
-------- ------------- -------- --------

<S>                                   <C>      <C>           <C>      <C>
Commercial, financial and
agricultural........................ $162,871   $ 86,177    $  8,361 $257,409

Real estate--construction............   59,344     10,631       4,050   74,025
Real estate--residential.............   52,051     91,161     167,479  310,691
Real estate--commercial..............   77,017    137,803      76,617  291,437
Consumer.............................   22,420     53,343       1,424   77,187
</TABLE>

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Predetermined Floating
Rates      Rates

------------- --------
<S>                                                   <C>           <C>
Maturing after one year but within five years........   $257,467    $121,648
Maturing after five years............................     75,498     182,433

--------    --------
$332,965    $304,081
========    ========

</TABLE>

The information presented in the above table is based upon the contractual
maturities of the individual loans, including loans which may be subject to
renewal at their contractual maturity. Renewal of such loans is subject to
review and credit approval, as well as modification of terms upon their
maturity. Consequently, management believes this treatment presents fairly the
maturity and repricing structure of the loan portfolio.

Securities

Securities, including securities classified as held to maturity (or
investment securities) and available for sale, represent a significant portion
of the Company's earning assets. Securities averaged $307.0 million during
1998, compared with $246.5 million during 1997, an increase of $60.5 million,
or 24.5%. Growth in the securities portfolio is generally a function of growth
in funding sources net of lending opportunities. At December 31, 1998, the
securities portfolio totaled $324.2 million, including securities held to
maturity with an amortized cost of $34.6 million and securities available for
sale with a market value of $289.6 million.
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The following tables set forth the carrying value of securities held by the
Company at the dates indicated.

INVESTMENT SECURITIES
(Amounts in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

December 31,
-----------------------------------

1998              1997
----------------- -----------------

Cost    Market    Cost    Market
-------- -------- -------- --------

<S>                                      <C>      <C>      <C>      <C>
U.S. Treasury Securities................ $  2,607 $  2,518 $  8,992 $  9,026
U.S. Government Agencies................      787      792    3,066    3,068
State and political subdivisions........    9,673   10,087   10,067   10,431
Mortgage backed securities..............   21,588   21,817   43,893   44,006

-------- -------- -------- --------
Total............................... $ 34,655 $ 35,214 $ 66,018 $ 66,531

======== ======== ======== ========

AVAILABLE FOR SALE SECURITIES
(Amounts in thousands)

<CAPTION>
December 31,

-----------------------------------
1998              1997

----------------- -----------------
Cost    Market    Cost    Market

-------- -------- -------- --------
<S>                                      <C>      <C>      <C>      <C>
U.S. Treasury........................... $  8,624 $  8,724 $ 14,063 $ 14,123
U.S. Government Agencies................   86,130   85,986   67,385   67,474
State and political subdivisions........   25,659   26,377   25,344   25,882
Mortgage backed securities..............  160,589  161,442   83,955   84,197
Other...................................    7,090    7,029    7,470    7,408

-------- -------- -------- --------
Total............................... $288,092 $289,558 $198,217 $199,084

======== ======== ======== ========
</TABLE>
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The following tables show the scheduled maturity and average yields of
securities owned by the Company at December 31, 1998.

INVESTMENT SECURITIES MATURITY DISTRIBUTION AND YIELDS
(Amounts in thousands, except yields)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

December 31, 1998
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

After one but
Within five     After five but

Within one year       years       Within ten years After ten years Other securities
---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------- -----------------
Amount  Yield(1) Amount  Yield(1) Amount  Yield(1) Amount Yield(1)  Amount  Yield(1)
------- -------- ------- -------- ------- -------- ------ -------- -------- --------

<S>                      <C>     <C>      <C>     <C>      <C>     <C>      <C>    <C>      <C>      <C>
U.S. Treasury........... $ 2,499   6.22%
U.S. Government
Agencies...............     499   6.49   $   365   6.19%  $    31   6.00%

State and political
subdivisions...........     215   6.76     4,427   7.54   $ 4,531   8.00   $ 500    8.25%

Mortgage backed
securities.............     --     --        --     --        --     --      --      --    $ 21,588   6.64%

-------          -------          -------          -----           --------
Total................. $ 3,213   6.33%  $ 4,792   7.44%  $ 4,562   7.99%  $ 500    8.25%  $ 21,588   6.64%

=======   ====   =======   ====   =======   ====   =====    ====   ========   ====
</TABLE>
--------
(1) Computed on a tax-equivalent basis utilizing a 34% tax rate, without

giving effect to the disallowance for Federal income tax purposes of
interest related to certain tax-exempt assets.
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SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE MATURITY DISTRIBUTION AND YIELDS
(Amounts in thousands, except yields)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

December 31, 1998
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

After one but
Within five     After five but

Within one year       years       Within ten years After ten years Other securities
---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------- -----------------
Amount  Yield(1) Amount  Yield(1) Amount  Yield(1) Amount Yield(1)  Amount  Yield(1)
------- -------- ------- -------- ------- -------- ------ -------- -------- --------

<S>                      <C>     <C>      <C>     <C>      <C>     <C>      <C>    <C>      <C>      <C>
U.S. Treasury........... $ 6,397   6.18%  $ 2,327   6.09%
U.S. Government
Agencies...............   2,027   7.05    49,347   5.88   $34,362   6.17%  $  250   6.84%

State and political
subdivisions...........   2,327   6.97     9,526   6.58    10,925   6.91    3,599   7.04

Mortgage backed
securities.............     --     --        --     --        --     --       --     --    $161,442   6.57%

Equity securities.......     --     --        --     --        --     --       --     --       7,029   6.89
-------          -------          -------          ------          --------

Total................. $10,751   6.51%  $61,200   6.00%  $45,287   6.34%  $3,849   7.02%  $168,471   6.59%
=======   ====   =======   ====   =======   ====   ======   ====   ========   ====

</TABLE>
--------
(1) Computed on a tax-equivalent basis utilizing a 34% tax rate, without

giving effect to the disallowance for Federal income tax purposes of
interest related to certain tax-exempt assets.

At December 31, 1998, mortgage-backed securities consisting of
collateralized mortgage obligations and pass-through mortgage obligations
totaled $183.0 million, classified as investment securities of $21.6 million
and securities available for sale of $161.4 million. Management expects the
annual repayment of the underlying mortgages to vary as a result of monthly
repayment of principal and/or interest required under terms of the underlying
promissory notes. Further, the actual rate of repayment is subject to changes
depending upon both terms of the underlying mortgages and the relative level
of mortgage interest rates. When relative interest rates decline to levels
below that of the underlying mortgages, acceleration of principal repayment is
expected as some borrowers on the underlying mortgages refinance to lower
rates. When the underlying rates on mortgage loans are comparable to, or in
excess of, market rates, repayment more closely conforms to scheduled
amortization in accordance with terms of the promissory note. Accordingly,
management generally expects repayment of the collateralized mortgage
obligations in three to five years, and repayment of the pass-through mortgage
obligations in five to seven years.
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Other attributes of securities are discussed in "--Interest Sensitivity and
Market Risk."

Short-Term Investments

The Company utilizes overnight investment of funds in Federal funds sold and
securities purchased under agreements to resell to ensure that adequate
liquidity will be maintained, while at the same time minimizing the level of
uninvested cash reserves. Short-term investments are also utilized by the
Company when the level of funds committed to lending and investment portfolio
programs changes or the level of deposit generation changes. During 1998,
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell
averaged $75.0 million, compared to $59.7 million during 1997, representing a
$15.4 million, or 25.7%, increase as the Company experienced growth in both
loans and investment securities.

Trading Account Securities

An important aspect of investment department operations, but less so to the
Company in total, are trading account securities, which represent securities
owned by the Company prior to delivery to the Company's customers. Trading
account securities averaged $4.4 million in 1998 and $3.5 million in 1997;
this small dollar amount reflects management's policy of limiting positions in
such securities to reduce its exposure to market and interest rate changes.

Deposits and Other Interest-Bearing Liabilities

Average interest-bearing liabilities increased $171.7 million, or 16.6%, to
$1.21 billion in 1998, from $1.03 billion in 1997. Average interest-bearing
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deposits increased $125.5 million, or 14.0%, to $1.02 billion in 1998, from
$895.9 million in 1997 attributable to successful marketing efforts. Average
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under agreements to repurchase
increased $41.9 million, or 48.7%, to $127.9 million in 1998, from $86.0
million in 1997 due, in part, from additional liquidity provided by downstream
correspondent banks. Average short-term borrowings decreased by $17.7 million,
or 40.2%, to $26.3 million in 1998, compared to $44.0 million in 1997 as some
of the funding requirements were shifted from short-term to long-term. Average
long-term borrowings increased $21.9 million to $30.5 million in 1998, from
$8.6 in 1997.

Deposits

Average total deposits increased $155.8 million, or 14.7%, to $1.21 billion
during 1998, from $1.06 billion during 1997. At December 31, 1998, total
deposits were $1.28 billion, compared with $1.13 billion at December 31, 1997,
an increase of $149.7 million, or 13.3%.
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The following table sets forth the deposits of the Company by category at
the dates indicated.

DEPOSITS
(Amounts in thousands, except percentages)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

December 31,
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1998                1997               1996              1995              1994
------------------- ------------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------

Percent             Percent           Percent           Percent           Percent
Amount   of Total   Amount   of Total  Amount  of Total  Amount  of Total  Amount  of Total

---------- -------- ---------- -------- -------- -------- -------- -------- -------- --------
<S>                      <C>        <C>      <C>        <C>      <C>      <C>      <C>      <C>      <C>      <C>
Demand.................  $  232,450   18.23% $  180,341   16.02% $155,695   15.74% $148,816   15.74% $ 99,074   16.40%
NOW....................     187,481   14.70     155,147   13.78   133,762   13.52   156,464   16.55    85,020   14.07
Savings and money
market................     298,817   23.43     294,072   26.13   254,570   25.74   239,031   25.28   193,973   32.11

Time less than
$100,000..............     403,156   31.63     369,363   32.83   332,278   33.59   308,223   32.59   169,765   28.10

Time greater than
$100,000..............     153,271   12.01     126,556   11.24   112,877   11.41    93,010    9.84    56,279    9.32

----------  ------  ----------  ------  --------  ------  --------  ------  --------  ------
Total deposits........  $1,275,175  100.00% $1,125,479  100.00% $989,182  100.00% $945,544  100.00% $604,111  100.00%

==========  ======  ==========  ======  ========  ======  ========  ======  ========  ======
</TABLE>

Core deposits, which exclude time deposits of $100,000 or more, provide for
a relatively stable funding source that supports earning assets. The Company's
core deposits totaled $1.12 billion, or 88.0%, of total deposits at December
31, 1998 and totaled $998.9 million, or 88.8%, of total deposits at December
31, 1997.

Deposits, in particular core deposits, have historically been the Company's
primary source of funding and have enabled the Company to meet successfully
both short-term and long-term liquidity needs. Management anticipates that
such deposits will continue to be the Company's primary source of funding in
the future. The Company's loan-to-deposit ratio was 86.7% at December 31,
1998, and 85.9% at the end of 1997, and the ratio averaged 83.0% during 1998
and 85.4% during 1997. The maturity distribution of the Company's time
deposits in excess of $100,000 at December 31, 1998, is shown in the following
table.

MATURITIES OF CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT AND OTHER TIME
DEPOSITS OF $100,000 OR MORE

(Amounts in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

December 31, 1998
-----------------------------------------------------------

After
After One               Six
Through  After Three Through   After

Within One   Three   Through Six  Twelve   Twelve
Month     Months     Months     Months   Months   Total

---------- --------- ----------- -------- -------- --------
<S>                      <C>        <C>       <C>         <C>      <C>      <C>
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Certificates of deposit
of $100,000 or more....  $21,405    $23,835    $35,891   $ 31,105 $ 20,715 $132,951

Other time deposits of
$100,000 or more.......   11,405      7,865        --         --     1,050   20,320

-------    -------    -------   -------- -------- --------
Total.................  $32,810    $31,700    $35,891   $ 31,105 $ 21,765 $153,271

=======    =======    =======   ======== ======== ========
</TABLE>

Approximately 42.1% of the Company's time deposits over $100,000 had
scheduled maturities within three months. Large certificate of deposit
customers tend to be extremely sensitive to interest rate levels, making these
deposits less reliable sources of funding for liquidity planning purposes than
core deposits. Some financial institutions partially fund their balance sheets
with large certificates of deposit obtained through brokers. The Company has
not historically used brokered deposits.
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Borrowed Funds

Borrowed funds include four broad categories; (i) Federal funds purchased
and securities sold under agreements to repurchase, (ii) treasury, tax and
loan balances, (iii) Federal Home Loan Bank ("FHLB") borrowings, and (iv)
borrowings from an independent bank. Because of a relatively high loan-to-
deposit ratio, the existence and stability of these funding sources are
critical to the Company's maintenance of short-term and long-term liquidity.

Federal funds purchased and securities sold under agreements to repurchase
represent both an input of excess funds from correspondent bank customers of
the Company as well as a cash management tool offered to corporate customers.
At December 31, 1998, these funds totaled $162.6 million, compared with $141.4
million at December 31, 1997.

At December 31, 1998 Treasury, tax and loan balances totaled $1.5 million,
compared to $5.2 million at December 31, 1997. The Company collects tax
deposits from customers and is permitted to retain these balances until
established collateral limits are exceeded or until the U.S. Treasury
withdraws its balances.

The Company's average borrowing from an independent bank under a $20 million
credit facility ("the Credit Facility") was $13.5 million during 1998,
compared with $17.9 million during 1997. As of December 31, 1998, the
outstanding balance under the Credit Facility was $11.5 million, leaving a
remaining availability under the Credit Facility of $8.5 million. The Credit
Facility bears interest at a rate that varies with LIBOR and is secured by
stock in the Banks. Effective January 19, 1998, the Credit Facility was
renegotiated and renewed providing for a current maturity date of May 31,
1999. The Company has historically renewed the Credit Facility prior to its
maturity date.

Five of the Banks are members of the FHLB. At December 31, 1998, these Banks
had available FHLB lines of $93.8 million, under which $46.8 million was
outstanding, including advances classified as short-term of $14.8 million and
advances classified as long-term of $32.0 million. This compares to borrowings
of $30.0 million at December 31, 1997, of which $13.8 million was short-term
and $16.2 million was long-term.
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The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the principal
components of borrowed funds.

BORROWED FUNDS
(Amounts in thousands, except percentages)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

December 31,
---------------------------

1998      1997     1996
--------  --------  -------

<S>                                                <C>       <C>       <C>
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under
agreements to repurchase:
Balance at end of period.......................  $162,633  $141,437  $93,848
Average balance outstanding....................   127,856    85,956   71,660
Maximum outstanding at any month's end.........   162,633   141,610   93,848
Weighted average interest rate at period-end...      4.70%     6.15%    5.93%
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Weighted average interest rate during the
period........................................      5.32      5.23     5.15

Treasury, tax and loan:
Balance at end of period.......................  $  1,506  $  5,210  $ 2,968
Average balance outstanding....................     3,626     2,506    2,767
Maximum outstanding at any month's end.........     6,944     5,210    6,242
Weighted average interest rate at period-end...      4.45%     5.90%    5.15%
Weighted average interest rate during the
period........................................      4.30      4.99     4.01

Notes Payable:
Balance at end of period.......................  $ 11,500  $ 15,337  $18,100
Average balance outstanding....................    13,516    18,037   19,785
Maximum outstanding at any month's end.........    15,250    19,350   22,476
Weighted average interest rate at period-end...      6.32%     6.70%    6.79%
Weighted average interest rate during the
period........................................      6.44      6.63     7.19

Short-term advances from the Federal Home Loan
Bank:
Balance at end of period.......................  $ 10,200  $ 13,750  $24,000
Average balance outstanding....................     9,181    23,445    7,428
Maximum outstanding at any month's end.........    10,200    31,250   24,000
Weighted average interest rate at period-end...      5.54%     5.80%    6.01%
Weighted average interest rate during the
period........................................      6.40      5.81     5.70

Long-term advances from the Federal Home Loan
Bank:
Balance at end of period.......................  $ 32,000  $ 16,200  $12,500
Average balance outstanding....................    30,192     8,157    7,263
Maximum outstanding at any month's end.........    32,000    28,700   12,500
Weighted average interest rate at period-end...      5.09%     5.73%    5.53%
Weighted average interest rate during the
period........................................      5.59      5.59     5.70

Convertible debentures:
Balance at end of period.......................  $    --   $    --   $   105
Average balance outstanding....................       --         14      105
Maximum outstanding at any month's end.........       --        105      105
Weighted average interest rate at period-end...          %         %    8.57%
Weighted average interest rate during the
period........................................       --       7.14     8.57

Capital leases:
Balance at end of period.......................  $    328  $    387  $   439
Average balance outstanding....................       356       412      463
Maximum outstanding at any month's end.........       387       439      487
Weighted average interest rate at period-end...      9.04%     9.04%    8.88%
Weighted average interest rate during the
period........................................      8.98      8.98     9.07

</TABLE>
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Capital Resources and Liquidity Management

Capital Resources

The Company's stockholders' equity increased $14.1 million, or 12.1%, to
$131.0 million at December 31, 1998, from $116.9 million at December 31, 1997.
This net increase was primarily attributable to net income for 1998 of $17.4
million and proceeds from the exercise of stock options totaling $1.9 million,
less dividends paid of $5.6 million.

Under the capital guidelines of their regulators, the Company and the Banks
are currently required to maintain a minimum risk-based total capital ratio of
8%, with at least 4% being Tier I capital. Tier I capital consists of common
stockholders' equity, qualifying perpetual preferred stock and minority
interests in equity accounts of consolidated subsidiaries, less goodwill. In
addition, under the guidelines, the Company and the Banks must maintain a
minimum Tier I leverage ratio of Tier I capital to total assets of at least
3%, but this minimum ratio is typically increased by 100 to 200 basis points
for other than the highest rated institutions.

The Company exceeded its fully phased-in regulatory capital ratios at
December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, as set forth in the following table.

ANALYSIS OF CAPITAL
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(Amounts in thousands, except percentages)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

December 31,
--------------------------------

1998        1997       1996
----------  ----------  --------

<S>                                          <C>         <C>         <C>
Tier 1 Capital.............................. $  122,732  $  109,682  $ 98,694
Tier 2 Capital..............................     15,296      13,867    11,308

----------  ----------  --------
Total qualifying capital(1)............... $  138,028  $  123,549  $110,002

==========  ==========  ========
Risk-adjusted total assets (including off-
balance sheet exposures)................... $1,223,641  $1,109,326  $904,606

Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio (4.00%
required minimum)..........................      10.03%       9.89%    10.91%

Total risk-based capital ratio (8.00%
required minimum)..........................      11.28       11.14     12.16

Tier 1 leverage ratio (4.00% required
minimum)...................................       7.41        7.75      8.64

</TABLE>
--------
(1) Does not include $1,244,000, $977,000 and $1,325,000 of the Company's

allowance for loan losses at December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996,
respectively, in excess of 1.25% of risk-adjusted total assets.
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Each of the Banks is required to maintain risk-based and leverage ratios
similar to those required for the Company. Each of the Banks exceeded these
regulatory capital ratios at December 31, 1998, as set forth in the following
table.

BANK CAPITAL RATIOS

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Tier 1 Risk Total Risk  Tier 1
Based      Based    Leverage

----------- ---------- --------
<S>                                            <C>         <C>        <C>
Alabama National BanCorporation...............    10.03%     11.28%     7.41%

National Bank of Commerce of Birmingham.......     9.65      10.90      7.33
Alabama Exchange Bank.........................    12.47      13.72      7.80
Bank of Dadeville.............................    12.76      13.76      9.02
Citizens & Peoples Bank, N.A..................    20.11      21.11     11.37
Community Bank of Naples, National
Association..................................    13.70      14.95      7.44

First American Bank...........................    10.59      11.84      9.00
First Citizens Bank, N.A......................    13.60      14.82      8.06
First Gulf Bank...............................     8.74       9.97      7.20
Georgia State Bank............................    12.30      13.55      7.24
Public Bank...................................    14.92      16.17      9.55
Required minimums.............................     4.00       8.00      4.00
</TABLE>

Liquidity Management

Liquidity management involves monitoring the Company's sources and uses of
funds in order to meet its day-to-day cash flow requirements while maximizing
profits. Liquidity represents the ability of an entity to convert assets into
cash or cash equivalents without significant loss and to raise additional
funds by increasing liabilities.

Without proper liquidity management, the Company will not be able to perform
the primary function of a financial intermediary and would, therefore, not be
able to meet the needs of the communities it serves.

Increased liquidity in typical interest rate environments often involves
decreasing profits by investing in earning assets with shorter maturities.
Liquidity management is made more complex because different balance sheet
components are subject to varying degrees of management control. For example,
the timing of maturities of the investment portfolio is very predictable and
subject to a high degree of control at the time investment decisions are made.
However, net deposit inflows and outflows are far less predictable and are not
subject to nearly the same degree of control.
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Assets included in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Condition
contribute to liquidity management. Federal funds sold and securities
purchased under agreements to resell position, its primary source of
liquidity, averaged $75.0 million during 1998 and was $57.1 million at
December 31, 1998, and averaged $59.7 million during 1997 and was $78.9
million at December 31, 1997. If required in short-term liquidity management,
these assets could be converted to cash immediately. Cash received from the
repayment of investment securities and loans provide a constant source of cash
that contributes to liquidity management. Unpledged securities, with a
carrying value of approximately $147.4 million at December 31, 1998 provide
the Company an opportunity to generate cash by, 1) providing additional
collateral by selling securities under agreements to repurchase, 2) providing
collateral to obtain public funds or 3) providing collateral to borrow
directly from the Federal Reserve Bank or the Federal Home Loan Bank. See "--
Loans" and "Securities."
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Liquidity can also be managed using liabilities included in the Company's
Consolidated Statement of Condition, such as Federal funds purchased and
securities sold under agreements to repurchase and short-term borrowing.
Combined Federal funds purchased and securities sold under agreements to
repurchase, Treasury, tax and loan, and short-term borrowings averaged $154.2
million during 1998 and was $185.8 million at December 31, 1998, and averaged
$129.9 million during 1997 and was $175.7 million at December 31, 1997.
Overnight borrowing lines with upstream correspondent banks, $156.1 million at
December 31, 1998, of which $119.8 million was unused, provide additional
sources of liquidity to the Company on an unsecured basis. The Federal Home
Loan Bank provides secured and unsecured credit lines to five of the Company's
banks totaling approximately $93.8 million. At December 31, 1998, advances
under these lines totaled $46.8 million, including $14.8 million classified as
short-term and $32.0 million classified as long-term. Long-term liquidity
needs are met through the Company's deposit base (approximately 88% of the
Company's deposits at December 31, 1998, are considered core deposits), and
the repayment of loans and other investments as they mature. The Company is
able to manage its long-term liquidity needs by adjusting the rates it pays on
longer-term deposits and the amount and mix of longer-term investments in its
portfolio.

The Company, as a stand alone corporation, has more limited access to
liquidity sources than its banks and depends on dividends from its
subsidiaries as its primary source of liquidity. The Company's liquidity is
diminished by required payments on its outstanding short-term debt. The
ability of its subsidiaries to pay dividends is subject to general regulatory
restrictions which may, but are not expected to, have a material negative
impact on the liquidity available to the Company. (See Note 17 to the
Company's Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report.)
If circumstances warrant, the Company's short-term liquidity needs can also be
met by additional borrowings of approximately $8.5 million representing the
unused portion of the Company's credit facility with an unrelated bank. See
"--Borrowed Funds."

Accounting Rule Changes

Derivative Investments and Hedging Activities

In June 1998, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Standard No. 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, ("Statement
133"), effective for all fiscal quarters of all fiscal years beginning after
June 30, 1999. Statement 133 standardizes the accounting for derivative
instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other
contracts, by requiring that an entity recognize those items as assets or
liabilities in the statement of financial position and measure them at fair
value. If certain conditions are met, an entity may elect to designate a
derivative instrument as a hedging instrument. Statement 133 generally
provides for matching the timing of gain or loss recognition on the hedging
instrument with the recognition of (a) the changes in the fair value of the
hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk or (b) the
earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transaction. Management of the
Company does not expect the adoption of Statement 133 to have a material
impact on its financial statements since the Company does not enter into
derivative instruments.

Mortgage-Backed Securities

In October, 1998, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 134, Accounting for Mortgage-Backed Securities Retained after
the Securitization of Mortgage Loans Held for Sale by a Mortgage Banking
Enterprise, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 65, ("Statement 134").
Statement 134 amends Statement 65 to require that after the securitization of
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mortgage loans held for sale, an entity engaged in mortgage banking activities
classify the resulting mortgage-backed securities or other retained interests
based on its ability and intent to sell or hold those investments. This
statement is effective for the first fiscal quarter after December 15, 1998.
However, since the Company does not securitize mortgage loans, management does
anticipate any financial statement impact of adopting this statement.
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Impact of Inflation

Unlike most industrial companies, the assets and liabilities of financial
institutions such as the Company and its subsidiaries are primarily monetary
in nature. Therefore, interest rates have a more significant effect on the
Company's performance than do the effects of changes in the general rate of
inflation and change in prices. In addition, interest rates do not necessarily
move in the same direction or in the same magnitude as the prices of goods and
services. Management seeks to manage the relationships between interest-
sensitive assets and liabilities in order to protect against wide interest
rate fluctuations, including those resulting from inflation. See "--Interest
Sensitivity and Market Risk."

Industry Developments

Certain recently enacted and proposed legislation could have an effect on
both the costs of doing business and the competitive factors facing the
financial institutions industry. The Company is unable at this time to assess
the impact of this legislation on its financial condition or results of
operations.

Year 2000--Technology Considerations

The Company is aware of the many areas affected by the Year 2000 computer
issue as addressed by the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council
("FFIEC") in its interagency statement which provided an outline for
institutions to effectively manage the Year 2000 challenges. The board of
directors of the Company has approved a Year 2000 plan, which includes
multiple phases, tasks to be completed, and target dates for completion.
Issues addressed therein include awareness, assessment, validation,
implementation, testing and contingency planning. Progress under this plan is
reported to the board of directors on a regular basis.

The Company's core bank operating software has been certified by the
Company's software vendor to be Year 2000 compliant. To verify this
compliance, the Company loaded the software along with loan, deposit and
general ledger data onto a separate test system. The data was aged and dates
on the test system were advanced into 2000, and results from this test have
been validated by Company personnel. The Company's testing and validation of
results indicates that the core bank operating software is 100% Year 2000
compliant. The Company also has a number of secondary systems, and testing on
these systems is either complete or substantially complete. The Company's
target date for completion of such testing is March 31, 1999.

While the Company's plans are to complete testing of in-house systems prior
to March 31, 1999, there are several industry-wide tests which require
participation of the Company as well as the testing of new systems. In
addition to the systems outlined above, the Company is tracking the Year 2000
readiness of its utility companies and is finalizing contingency plans for
these services as they relate to critical operations.

Since it routinely upgrades and purchases technologically advanced software
and hardware, the Company has determined that the costs of making
modifications to correct any Year 2000 issues will not materially affect
reported operating results. Year 2000 costs to date, including an allocation
for internal personnel, total approximately $230,000 through 1998, of which
$70,000 represent capital expenditures. No significant information technology
projects have been terminated or rescheduled as a result of any implications
arising from the Year 2000 issue. The Company estimates that its remaining
capital expenditures to prepare for Year 2000 and correct for any Year 2000
issues should not exceed $100,000 and its remaining operating expenditures
(including personnel expenses for Company employees) should not exceed
$100,000.

The Company also recognizes the importance of determining that its borrowers
are addressing the Year 2000 problem to avoid deterioration of the loan
portfolio solely due to this issue. All material relationships have been
identified to assess the inherent risks, and Year 2000 questionnaires have
been obtained from such borrowers where considered appropriate. Deposit
customers have received statement inserts and informational material in this
regard. The Company is working on a one-on-one basis with any borrower that
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has been identified as having high Year 2000 risk exposure.

Management does not believe that the Company will incur significant
additional costs associated with the Year 2000 issue. However, management
cannot predict the amount of financial difficulties it may incur due to
customer and vendor inability to perform according to their agreements with
the Company or the effects that
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other third parties may bring as a result of this issue. The Company also
anticipates that deposit customers may perceive a need for increased cash in
the latter part of 1999 and management has made liquidity contingency plans to
address this potential additional need for currency. Management has held
discussions with the Federal Reserve and the Federal Home Loan Bank with
regard to such potential increased currency and funding needs. Although the
Federal Reserve has announced plans to increase the amount of currency in
circulation in preparing for Year 2000, a lack of liquidity in the financial
system could have a significant negative impact on the Company. Accordingly,
there can be no assurance that the failure or delay of others to address the
issue or that the costs involved in such process will not have a material
adverse impact on the Company's business, financial condition and results of
operations.

The Company's contingency plans are being tested and may be modified as
testing progresses. The Securities and Exchange Commission has asked reporting
companies to address a reasonable "worst case" scenario with respect to the
Year 2000 issue. Management's estimate of the "worst case" scenario is a loss
of electrical power and telecommunications service. The Company is preparing
to have a backup electrical power generator to run its mainframe computer
system in case of difficulties with its electricity vendor, but is unable to
ascertain how such a loss of electrical power would impact its operations and
those of its customers if such power loss was sustained for a material length
of time.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The information required by this item is contained in Item 7 herein under
the heading "Interest Sensitivity and Market Risk".

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules of
ANB and subsidiaries listed in ITEM 14(a) have been included in this Annual
Report and should be referred to in their entirety. The Supplementary
Financial Information required by Item 302 of Regulation S-K is set forth
below. The information for the first three quarters in 1998 and each quarter
in 1997 differs from that previously reported in ANB's Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q for the first three quarters of 1998 and 1997 and in ANB's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997, because each of the
mergers completed by the Company during 1998 was accounted for as a pooling of
interests.

SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998 Quarters                               1997 Quarters
------------------------------------------- -------------------------------------------

First      Second     Third      Fourth     First      Second     Third      Fourth
---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ---------- ----------

<S>                       <C>        <C>        <C>        <C>        <C>        <C>        <C>        <C>
Summary of Operations:
Interest income.........  $   27,840 $   29,565 $   28,426 $   29,873 $   24,653 $   25,754 $   26,650 $   27,451
Interest expense........      13,718     14,734     13,997     14,106     11,227     11,871     12,249     13,032
Net interest income.....      14,122     14,831     14,429     15,767     13,426     13,883     14,401     14,419
Provision for loan
losses.................         345        256        287        908        571      1,316        402      1,135

Securities gains
(losses)...............          28        145          1        --          11          1         15        (29)

Noninterest income......       7,181      7,112      7,084      7,799      5,007      4,698      5,270      5,321
Noninterest expense.....      14,396     14,844     13,924     18,013     12,575     12,485     13,186     14,551
Net income..............       4,550      4,749      5,052      3,021      3,619      3,446      4,095      2,956
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Dividends on common
stock..................       1,287      1,371      1,403      1,565        741        865        748        988

Per Common Share Data:
Book Value..............  $    11.33 $    11.54 $    11.85 $    11.94 $    10.22 $    10.56 $    10.83 $    11.02
Tangible book value.....       10.52      10.76      11.10      11.19       9.50       9.84      10.13      10.20
Net income..............        0.41       0.43       0.45       0.27       0.33       0.31       0.37       0.27
Dividends declared......        0.15       0.15       0.15       0.15      0.115      0.115      0.115      0.115

Balance Sheet Highlights
At Period-End:
Total assets...........  $1,535,092 $1,575,768 $1,699,754 $1,672,049 $1,305,950 $1,336,526 $1,365,541 $1,495,814

Securities..............     289,989    306,281    366,127    329,747    236,125    248,830    254,065    265,501
Loans, net of unearned
income.................     980,779  1,002,344  1,028,219  1,106,074    883,577    905,587    923,545    966,370

Allowance for loan
losses.................      15,054     15,776     16,016     16,540     12,918     14,023     14,131     14,844

Deposits................   1,188,681  1,253,621  1,255,138  1,275,175  1,057,705  1,090,747  1,072,785  1,125,479
Short-term debt.........      35,785     14,150     22,200     26,250     21,921     31,250     32,157     29,087
Long-term debt..........      21,576     26,653     17,344     32,328     12,927      9,713     15,949     16,587
Stockholders' equity....     120,776    124,912    130,714    130,993    107,715    111,315    114,737    116,888
</TABLE>
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During the fourth quarter of 1998, the Company incurred after-tax merger-
related charges totaling $2.3 million, which reduced earnings per share on a
diluted basis to $.27 per share. In the absence of these charges, operating
earnings per share on a diluted basis would have been $.48 per share. During
the fourth quarter of 1997, the Company incurred after-tax merger-related
charges totaling $658,000, which reduced earnings per share on a diluted basis
from $.33 per share on an operating basis to $.27 per share.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this Item regarding Executive Officers is
included in Part I of this Form 10-K under the caption "Executive Officers of
the Registrant" in accordance with Instruction 3 of the Instructions to
Paragraph (b) of Item 401 of Regulation S-K.

The information required by this Item regarding directors is incorporated by
reference pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K from ANB's
definitive Proxy Statement for the 1998 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A
on or before March 26, 1999.

ITEM 11. COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference pursuant
to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K from ANB's definitive Proxy Statement
for the 1998 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A on or before March 26,
1999.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference pursuant
to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K from ANB's definitive Proxy Statement
for the 1998 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A on or before March 26,
1999.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference pursuant
to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K from ANB's definitive Proxy Statement
for the 1998 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A or before March 26, 1999.
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PART IV
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ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.

(a)(1) and (2) and (d)--Financial Statements and Financial Statement
Schedules.

Financial Statements: The Consolidated Financial Statements of ANB and
subsidiaries, included herein (pages F-1 to F-31) are as follows:

Report of Independent Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Consolidated Statements of Condition--December 31, 1998 and 1997

Consolidated Statements of Income--Years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and
1996

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income--Years ended December 31,
1998, 1997 and 1996.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity--Years ended
December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows--Years ended December 31, 1998, 1997
and 1996

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedules: All schedules to the consolidated financial
statements required by Article 9 of Regulation S-X have been omitted because
they are not applicable or because the required information has been
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements and related notes
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K.

Report on Form 8-K filed October 5, 1998 to report ANB's merger with
Community Financial Corporation, effective October 2, 1998.

(c) Exhibits.

The exhibits listed on the exhibit index beginning on page 49 of this Form
10-K are filed herewith or are incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on this the 15th
day of March, 1999.

ALABAMA NATIONAL BANCORPORATION

/s/ John H. Holcomb, III
By: _________________________________

John H. Holcomb, III,
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this
report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Name                             Title                  Date
----                             -----                  ----

<S>                                  <C>                           <C>
/s/ John H. Holcomb, III         Chairman and Chief Executive  March 15, 1999

____________________________________  Officer (principal
John H. Holcomb, III          executive officer)

/s/ Victor E. Nichol, Jr.         President and Chief           March 15, 1999
____________________________________  Operating Officer and

Victor E. Nichol, Jr.          Director

/s/ William E. Matthews, V        Executive Vice President and  March 15, 1999
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____________________________________  Chief Financial Officer
William E. Matthews, V

/s/ James S. Parks, Jr.          Senior Vice President-        March 15, 1999
____________________________________  Finance, and Treasurer

James S. Parks, Jr.           (principal accounting
officer)

/s/ W. Ray Barnes             Director                      March 15, 1999
____________________________________

W. Ray Barnes

/s/ T. Morris Hackney           Director                      March 15, 1999
____________________________________

T. Morris Hackney

/s/ John D. Johns             Director                      March 15, 1999
____________________________________

John D. Johns

/s/ John J. McMahon, Jr.         Director                      March 15, 1999
____________________________________

John J. McMahon, Jr.

/s/ C. Phillip McWane           Director                      March 15, 1999
____________________________________

C. Phillip McWane

/s/ Drayton Nabers, Jr.          Director                      March 15, 1999
____________________________________

Drayton Nabers, Jr.
</TABLE>
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<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Name                             Title                  Date
----                             -----                  ----

<S>                                  <C>                           <C>
/s/ G. Ruffner Page, Jr.         Director                      March 15, 1999

____________________________________
G. Ruffner Page, Jr.

/s/ W. Stancil Starnes          Director                      March 15, 1999
____________________________________

W. Stancil Starnes

/s/ William D. Montgomery         Director                      March 15, 1999
____________________________________

William D. Montgomery

/s/ Dan M. David             Vice Chairman and Director    March 15, 1999
____________________________________

Dan M. David

/s/ C. Lloyd Nix             Director                      March 15, 1999
____________________________________

C. Lloyd Nix

/s/ William E. Sexton           Director                      March 15, 1999
____________________________________

William E. Sexton
</TABLE>
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EXHIBIT INDEX

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
Exhibit
Number                          Description                          Reference
-------                         -----------                          ---------
<C>     <S>                                                          <C>
3.1    Certificate of Incorporation..............................      (1)
3.1A   Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation..      (2)
3.1B   Certificate of Merger filed with the Secretary of State of
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the State of Delaware on December 29, 1995...............      (4)
3.1C   Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation..      (9)
3.2    Bylaws....................................................      (1)
4.1    Provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation and the

Bylaws of Alabama National BanCorporation which Define
the Rights of Security holders...........................      (1)

10.1    Alabama National BanCorporation 1994 Stock Option Plan....      (1)
10.2    Form of Stock Option Agreement utilized in connection with

the 1994 Stock Option Plan...............................      (2)
10.3    Agreement dated September 18, 1995, by and among James A.

Taylor and Frank W. Whitehead, Alabama National
BanCorporation, National Commerce Corporation and
Commerce Bankshares, Inc. ...............................      (3)

10.3A   Amendment to Agreement dated September 18, 1995 executed
by James A. Taylor, Alabama National BanCorporation,
National Commerce Corporation and Commerce Bankshares,
Inc. on November 17, 1995................................      (3)

10.4    Commerce Bankshares, Inc. Long Term Incentive Compensation
Plan.....................................................      (3)

10.4A   Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement..................      (3)
10.4B   Form of Restricted Stock Agreement........................      (3)
10.5    Lease Agreement between Woodward Properties and NBC.......      (3)
10.6    NBC Pension Plan..........................................      (4)
10.7    Credit Agreement between Alabama National BanCorporation

and AmSouth Bank of Alabama dated as of December 29, 1995
relating to a $23,000,000 Revolving Loan.................      (4)

10.7A   Promissory Note between Alabama National BanCorporation
and AmSouth Bank of Alabama dated as of December 29, 1995
relating to a $23,000,000 Revolving Loan.................      (4)

10.7B   Pledge Agreement between Alabama National BanCorporation
and AmSouth Bank of Alabama dated as of December 29, 1995
relating to a $23,000,000 Revolving Loan.................      (4)

10.7C   First Amendment to Credit Agreement between Alabama
National BanCorporation and AmSouth Bank dated February
10, 1997.................................................      (6)

10.7D   Second Amendment to Credit Agreement between Alabama
National BanCorporation and AmSouth Bank dated January
19, 1998.................................................      (8)

10.8    Alabama National BanCorporation Performance Share Plan....      (5)
10.9    Alabama National BanCorporation Deferred Compensation Plan

for Directors Who Are Not Employees of the Company.......      (5)
10.10   Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of July 24, 1997

between Alabama National BanCorporation and First
American Bancorp.........................................      (7)

10.11   Employment Agreement dated November 30, 1997 between Dan
M. David and Alabama National BanCorporation.............      (8)

</TABLE>
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<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
Exhibit
Number                          Description                           Reference
-------                         -----------                           ---------
<C>     <S>                                                           <C>
10.12   First American Bancorp Stock Option Plan dated October 20,

1992......................................................      (8)
10.13   First American Bancorp 1994 Stock Option Plan..............      (8)
10.14   First American Bancorp Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement

with Dan M. David dated March 7, 1997.....................      (8)
10.15   Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of March 5, 1998

between Alabama National BanCorporation and Public Bank
Corporation...............................................     (10)

10.16   Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of June 8, 1998
between Alabama National BanCorporation and Community
Financial Corporation.....................................     (11)

10.17   Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of September 21, 1998
between Alabama National BanCorporation, Citizens &
Peoples Bank, National Association, and Community Bank of
Naples, National Association..............................     (12)

11.1    Statement Regarding Computation of Per Share Earnings......     (13)
21.1    Subsidiaries of Alabama National BanCorporation............     (13)
23.1    Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP......................     (13)
27.1    Financial Data Schedule....................................     (13)

</TABLE>
--------
(1) Filed as an Exhibit to ANB's Annual Report on Registration Statement on

Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-83800) and is incorporated herein by
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reference.

(2) Filed as an Exhibit to ANB's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1994 and is incorporated herein by reference.

(3) Filed as an Exhibit to ANB's Registration Statement on Form S-4
(Registration No. 33-97152) and is incorporated herein by reference.

(4) Filed as an Exhibit to ANB's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1995 and is incorporated herein by reference.

(5) Filed as an Exhibit to ANB's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1996 and is incorporated herein by reference.

(6) Filed as an Exhibit to ANB's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 1997 and is incorporated herein by reference.

(7) Filed as Appendix A to ANB's Registration Statement on Form S-4
(Registration No. 333-36565) and is incorporated herein by reference.

(8) Filed as an Exhibit to ANB's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1997.

(9) Filed as an Exhibit to ANB's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 1998 and is incorporated by reference.

(10) Filed as Appendix A to ANB's Registration Statement on Form S-4
(Registration No. 333-49771) and is incorporated herein by reference.

(11) Filed as Appendix A to ANB's Registration Statement on Form S-4
(Registration No. 333-59813) and is incorporated herein by reference.

(12) Filed as Appendix A to ANB's Registration Statement on Form S-4
(Registration No. 333-66327) and is incorporated herein by reference.

(13) Filed as an Exhibit to ANB's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1998.
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Alabama National BanCorporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 1998 and 1997 and the

three years ended December 31, 1998

Annual Report on Form 10-K

Item 14(a)(1) and (2) and (d)

List of Financial Statements

and Financial Statement Schedules

year ended December 31, 1998

Alabama National Bancorporation

Birmingham, Alabama

ALABAMA NATIONAL BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 1998 and 1997 and the three years ended December 31, 1998

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Page
----
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<S>                                                                         <C>
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Accountants.......................................... F-1

Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition............................. F-2

Consolidated Statements of Income.......................................... F-3

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income............................ F-4

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity................. F-5

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows...................................... F-6

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements................................. F-8
</TABLE>

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Alabama National BanCorporation

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated statements of financial
condition and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive
income, stockholders' equity, and of cash flows present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Alabama National BanCorporation
and its subsidiaries (the Company) at December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 1998, in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these
statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

January 15, 1999

F-1

ALABAMA NATIONAL BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

December 31, 1998 and 1997
(in thousands, except share data)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998        1997
----------  ----------

ASSETS
------

<S>                                                      <C>         <C>
Cash and due from banks................................  $   70,813  $   53,216
Interest-bearing deposits in other banks...............         225       2,391
Investment securities (market value $35,214 and $66,531
for 1998 and 1997, respectively)......................      34,655      66,018

Securities available for sale..........................     289,558     199,084
Trading securities.....................................       5,534         399
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under
agreements to resell..................................      57,076      78,835

Loans..................................................   1,107,472     968,472
Unearned income........................................      (1,398)     (2,102)

----------  ----------
Loans, net of unearned income..........................   1,106,074     966,370
Allowance for loan losses..............................     (16,540)    (14,844)

----------  ----------
Net loans..........................................   1,089,534     951,526

----------  ----------
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Property, equipment, and leasehold improvements, net...      38,875      36,748
Intangible assets......................................       8,226       8,726
Cash surrender value of life insurance.................      29,669      26,888
Other assets...........................................      47,884      71,983

----------  ----------
$1,672,049  $1,495,814
==========  ==========

<CAPTION>
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
------------------------------------

<S>                                                      <C>         <C>
Liabilities:
Deposits:
Noninterest bearing..................................  $  232,450  $  180,341
Interest bearing.....................................   1,042,725     945,138

----------  ----------
Total deposits.....................................   1,275,175   1,125,479

----------  ----------
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under
agreements to repurchase.............................     162,633     141,437

Treasury, tax and loan accounts.......................       1,506       5,210
Short-term borrowings.................................      21,700      29,087
Accrued expenses and other liabilities................      47,714      61,126
Long-term debt........................................      32,328      16,587

----------  ----------
Total liabilities..................................   1,541,056   1,378,926

----------  ----------

Commitments and contingencies (see Notes 9 and 10)

Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, $1 par; authorized 17,500,000 and
10,000,000 at December 31, 1998 and 1997,
respectively; issued and outstanding 10,971,686 and
10,602,982 shares in 1998 and 1997, respectively....      10,972      10,603

Additional paid-in capital...........................      78,570      77,081
Retained earnings....................................      40,584      28,838
Unearned restricted stock............................                     (92)
Unearned ESOP shares.................................         (75)        (87)
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax...         942         545

----------  ----------
Total stockholders' equity.........................     130,993     116,888

----------  ----------
$1,672,049  $1,495,814
==========  ==========

</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.

F-2

ALABAMA NATIONAL BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996
(in thousands, except share data)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998     1997     1996
-------- --------  -------

<S>                                                  <C>      <C>       <C>
Interest income:

Interest and fees on loans.......................  $ 92,208 $ 85,342  $76,447
Interest on securities...........................    18,870   15,565   14,045
Interest on deposits in other banks..............       106       55      240
Interest on trading securities...................       264      193      183
Interest on federal funds sold...................     4,256    3,353    2,263

-------- --------  -------
Total interest income...........................   115,704  104,508   93,178

-------- --------  -------
Interest expense:

Interest on deposits.............................    46,415   40,688   36,081
Interest on federal funds purchased..............     6,807    4,527    3,633
Interest on short-and long-term borrowings.......     3,333    3,164    2,460

-------- --------  -------
Total interest expense..........................    56,555   48,379   42,174
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-------- --------  -------
Net interest income.............................    59,149   56,129   51,004

Provision for loan losses..........................     1,796    3,421    1,035
-------- --------  -------

Net interest income after provision for loan
losses.........................................    57,353   52,708   49,969

-------- --------  -------
Noninterest income:

Securities (losses) gains........................       174       (2)     (84)
Gain (loss) on disposition of assets and
deposits........................................       247     (497)     148

Service charges on deposit accounts..............     7,259    6,599    6,238
Investment services commission income............    11,508    8,162    7,889
Trust department income..........................     2,101    1,799    1,550
Origination and sale of mortgages................     4,303    1,644    1,187
Bank owned life insurance........................     1,167       39       35
Other............................................     2,591    2,550    2,167

-------- --------  -------
Total noninterest income........................    29,350   20,294   19,130

-------- --------  -------
Noninterest expense:

Salaries and employee benefits...................    36,021   29,992   28,756
Occupancy and equipment expense..................     6,724    6,622    6,481
Other............................................    18,409   16,174   14,938

-------- --------  -------
Total noninterest expense.......................    61,154   52,788   50,175

-------- --------  -------
Income before provision for income taxes and
minority interest in earnings
of consolidated subsidiaries......................    25,549   20,214   18,924

Provision for income taxes.........................     8,154    6,086    5,279
-------- --------  -------

Income before minority interest in earnings of
consolidated subsidiaries.........................    17,395   14,128   13,645

Minority interest in earnings of consolidated
subsidiaries......................................        23       12       14

-------- --------  -------
Net income......................................    17,372   14,116   13,631

Less cash dividends on preferred stock.............                           4
-------- --------  -------

Net income available for common shares..........  $ 17,372 $ 14,116  $13,627
======== ========  =======

Net income per common share (basic)................  $   1.61 $   1.34  $  1.37
======== ========  =======

Weighted average common shares outstanding
(basic)...........................................    10,804   10,552    9,960

======== ========  =======
Net income per common share (diluted)..............  $   1.55 $   1.28  $  1.30

======== ========  =======
Weighted average common and common equivalent
shares outstanding (diluted)......................    11,173   10,999   10,490

======== ========  =======
</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.

F-3

ALABAMA NATIONAL BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996
(in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998    1997     1996
------- -------  -------

<S>                                                    <C>     <C>      <C>
Net income............................................ $17,372 $14,116  $13,631
Other comprehensive income:

Unrealized gains (losses) on securities available
for sale arising during the period.................     773   1,585     (282)

Less: Reclassification adjustment for net gains
(losses) included in net income......................     174      (2)     (84)

------- -------  -------
Other comprehensive income, before tax................     599   1,587     (198)
Provision for income taxes related to items of other
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comprehensive income (expense).......................     202     571
------- -------  -------

Other comprehensive income, net of tax................     397   1,016     (198)
------- -------  -------

Comprehensive income, net of tax...................... $17,769 $15,132  $13,433
======= =======  =======

</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.

F-4

ALABAMA NATIONAL BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

For the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996
(in thousands, except share data)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Additional            Unearned              Income

Common   Paid-In   Retained  Restricted Unearned  (Loss), Net   Total
Shares     Stock   Capital   Earnings    Stock      ESOP      of Tax      Equity

----------  ------- ---------- --------  ---------- -------- ------------- --------
<S>                       <C>         <C>     <C>        <C>       <C>        <C>      <C>           <C>
Balance, December 31,
1995....................   9,371,012  $ 9,370  $70,251   $ 9,161     $(278)               $ (273)    $ 88,231
Net income..............                                  13,632                                       13,632
Stock split of merged
bank prior to pooling...     146,893      147    2,819    (2,966)                                           0
Distribution for
fractional shares.......                                      (3)                                          (3)
Sale of stock by a
merged bank.............     532,608      533    4,467                                                  5,000
Issuance of restricted
stock...................       8,822        9      183                                                    192
Preferred stock
dividends declared by
merged bank prior to
pooling.................                                      (4)                                          (4)
Common stock dividends
declared ($0.28 per
share)..................                                  (1,747)                                      (1,747)
Redemption of FirstBanc
Holding Company, Inc.
preferred stock.........                           (53)                                                   (53)
Exercise of stock
options.................      23,633       24      138                                                    162
Shares acquired by
ESOP....................                                                       $(100)                    (100)
Amortization of unearned
restricted stock........                                                93                                 93
Change in other
comprehensive income,
net of taxes............                                                                    (198)        (198)

----------  -------  -------   -------     -----     -----      ------     --------
Balance, December 31,
1996....................  10,082,968   10,083   77,805    18,073      (185)     (100)       (471)     105,205
Net income..............                                  14,116                                       14,116
Stock split of merged
bank prior to pooling...     414,174      414     (408)       (6)                                           0
Distribution for
fractional shares.......        (399)              (11)       (3)                                         (14)
Conversion of
debentures..............      25,199       25       80                                                    105
Issuance of restricted
stock...................       1,493        1       33                                                     34
Common stock dividends
declared ($0.46 per
share)..................                                  (3,342)                                      (3,342)
Exercise of stock
options.................      75,168       75     (431)                                                  (356)
Shares released by
ESOP....................                             2                            13                       15
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Amortization of unearned
restricted stock........                                                93                                 93
Issuance of shares
associated with director
deferred compensation
plans...................       4,379        5       80                                                     85
Proportional reduction
in consolidated
subsidiary..............                           (69)                                                   (69)
Change in other
comprehensive income,
net of taxes............                                                                   1,016        1,016

----------  -------  -------   -------     -----     -----      ------     --------
Balance, December 31,
1997....................  10,602,982   10,603   77,081    28,838       (92)      (87)        545      116,888
Net income..............                                  17,372                                       17,372
Common stock dividends
declared ($.60 per
share)..................                                  (5,626)                                      (5,626)
Exercise of stock
options.................     368,704      369    1,489                                                  1,858
Shares released by
ESOP....................                                                          12                       12
Amortization of unearned
restricted stock........                                                92                                 92
Change in other
comprehensive income,
net of taxes............                                                                     397          397

----------  -------  -------   -------     -----     -----      ------     --------
Balance, December 31,
1998....................  10,971,686  $10,972  $78,570   $40,584     $   0     $ (75)     $  942     $130,993

==========  =======  =======   =======     =====     =====      ======     ========
</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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ALABAMA NATIONAL BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996
(in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998       1997       1996
---------  ---------  ---------

<S>                                            <C>        <C>        <C>
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income.................................. $  17,372  $  14,116  $  13,631
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Provision for loan losses.................     1,796      3,421      1,035
Deferred tax benefit......................      (595)    (1,191)      (518)
Depreciation and amortization.............     3,255      2,774      3,153
Loss (gain) on disposal of property and
equipment................................      (142)       499        489

Securities (gain) loss....................      (174)         2         84
Loss (gain) on other real estate..........       (15)       (65)         5
Net amortization of securities............       254         57        (75)
Income earned on bank owned life
insurance................................    (1,167)

Net increase (decrease) in trading
securities...............................    (5,135)     1,537      2,466

Minority interest in earnings of
consolidated subsidiaries................        23         12         14

(Increase) decrease in other assets.......    23,306    (45,559)    (2,778)
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities..   (12,809)    46,718     (3,226)
Other.....................................        73        107       (346)

---------  ---------  ---------
Net cash provided by operating
activities.............................    26,042     22,428     13,934

---------  ---------  ---------
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of investment securities..........               (1,700)   (41,817)
Proceeds from calls and maturities of
investment securities......................    31,214     24,197     21,443

Purchases of securities available for sale..  (248,716)  (113,168)   (65,577)
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Proceeds from sales of securities available
for sale...................................     1,236      6,835     23,516

Proceeds from calls and maturities of
securities available for sale..............   157,779     44,103     65,209

Net decrease (increase) in interest-bearing
deposits in other banks....................     2,166     (2,142)    10,968

Net decrease (increase) in federal funds
sold and securities purchased under
agreements to resell.......................    21,759    (27,210)    (7,827)

Net increase in loans.......................  (141,575)   (95,038)  (123,144)
Purchases of property, equipment, and
leasehold improvements.....................    (5,172)    (6,773)    (6,870)

Proceeds from sale of property, equipment,
and leasehold improvements.................       299        767      1,022

Proceeds from sale of other real estate
owned......................................     2,523      1,537      1,066

Costs capitalized on other real estate
owned......................................      (118)      (514)

Cash paid for bank-owned life insurance.....    (1,614)   (22,253)      (371)
Purchase acquisitions, net of cash
acquired...................................               14,483

---------  ---------  ---------
Net cash used in investing activities...  (180,219)  (176,876)  (122,382)

---------  ---------  ---------
</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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ALABAMA NATIONAL BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS--(Continued)

For the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996
(in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998      1997      1996
--------  --------  --------

<S>                                               <C>       <C>       <C>
Cash flows from financing activities:

Net increase in deposits....................... $149,696  $114,171  $ 52,063
Sale of deposits...............................                       (8,500)
Increase in federal funds purchased and
securities sold under agreements to
repurchase....................................   21,196    46,037    33,977

Net increase (decrease) in short and long-term
borrowings and capital leases.................    4,650    (5,571)   32,674

Proceeds from issuance of common stock.........                        5,143
Exercise of stock options......................    1,858      (356)      162
Dividends on preferred stock...................                           (4)
Dividends on common stock......................   (5,626)   (3,342)   (1,747)
Redemption of preferred stock..................                          (53)
Distribution for fractional shares.............                (14)       (3)
Change in other liabilities....................                       (5,023)

--------  --------  --------
Net cash provided by financing activities..  171,774   150,925   108,689

--------  --------  --------
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents...............................   17,597    (3,523)      241

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year.....   53,216    56,739    56,498
--------  --------  --------

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year........... $ 70,813  $ 53,216  $ 56,739
========  ========  ========

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow
information:
Cash paid for interest......................... $ 54,886  $ 48,653  $ 41,823

========  ========  ========
Cash paid for income taxes..................... $  4,810  $  7,070  $  3,428

========  ========  ========
Transfer of investment securities to available
for sale......................................                     $  4,770

========
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing
activities:
Foreclosure of other real estate owned......... $  1,771  $    992  $  1,001

========  ========  ========
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Transfer of property to other real estate
owned......................................... $     97            $    198

========            ========
Reduction in proportional interest in
consolidated subsidiary.......................           $     69  $    392

========  ========
Increase in unrealized holding (gain) loss on
securities available for sale................. $   (397) $ (1,016) $    198

========  ========  ========
Unearned restricted stock and performance plan
awards........................................ $     93  $    178  $    184

========  ========  ========
Conversion of debentures.......................           $    105

========
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
merger transactions (Note 1):
Assets acquired in business combination......           $  6,290  $  2,154

========  ========
Liabilities assumed in business combination..           $ 22,120  $  8,950

========  ========
</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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ALABAMA NATIONAL BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business Segment--The accounting and reporting policies of the Company
conform with generally accepted accounting principles and with general
financial service industry practices. The Company provides a full range of
banking and bank-related services to individual and corporate customers
through its ten subsidiary banks located in Alabama, Georgia, and Florida.

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation--The consolidated
financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries.
All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

Use of Estimates--In preparing the financial statements, management is
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities as of the statement of condition dates and revenues and
expenses for the periods shown. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents--For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash on hand and due from banks.

Securities--Investment securities are stated at amortized cost as a result
of management's ability and intent to hold the securities until maturity.
Related premiums are amortized and discounts are accreted on the effective
interest method.

Securities available for sale are those securities intended to be held for
an indefinite period of time. The Company may sell these securities as part of
its asset/liability strategy in response to changes in interest rates, changes
in prepayment risk, or similar factors. Securities available for sale are
recorded at market value. Unrealized holding gains and losses on securities
classified as available for sale are carried as a separate component of
stockholders' equity.

Trading securities, principally obligations of U.S. government agencies, are
securities held for sale and are stated at market. Bond purchases and sales
are recorded on trade date. Accounts receivable from and accounts payable to
bond customers and dealers are included in other assets and liabilities and
represent security transactions entered into for which the securities have not
been delivered. Unrealized holding gains and losses on securities classified
as trading are reported in earnings.

Gains and losses on the sale of securities are computed using the specific
identification method.

Loans and Allowance for Loan Losses--Interest income with respect to loans
is accrued on the principal amount outstanding, except for interest on certain
consumer loans which is recognized over the term of the loan using a method
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which approximates level yields.

Certain impaired loans are reported at the present value of expected future
cash flows using the loan's effective interest rate, or as a practical
expedient, at the loan's observable market price or the fair value of the
collateral if the loan is collateral dependent.

The allowance for loan losses is established through a provision for loan
losses charged to expenses. Loans are charged against the allowance for loan
losses when management believes the collection of principal is unlikely. The
allowance is the amount that management believes will be adequate to absorb
possible losses on existing loans which may become uncollectible, based on
evaluations of the collectibility of loans and prior loan loss experience. The
evaluations take into consideration such factors as changes in the nature and
volume of the loan portfolio, overall portfolio quality, review of specific
loan problems, and current economic conditions which may affect the borrower's
ability to pay. Accrual of interest is discontinued on a loan when management
believes, after considering economic and business conditions and collection
efforts, that the borrower's financial condition is such that the collection
of interest is doubtful. Payments received on such loans are applied first to
principal until the obligation is satisfied. Any remaining payments are then
recorded as interest income.
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ALABAMA NATIONAL BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

Property, Equipment, and Leasehold Improvements--Property, equipment, and
leasehold improvements are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
amortization. Depreciation is principally computed using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful life of each type of asset. Leasehold
improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of
the estimated useful lives of the improvements or the terms of the related
leases. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred; improvements and
betterments are capitalized. When items are retired or otherwise disposed of,
the related costs and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts
and any resulting gains or losses are credited or charged to income. Estimated
useful lives generally are as follows:

<TABLE>
<S>                                                             <C>
Buildings......................................................  5-45 years
Leasehold improvements......................................... 10-30 years
Furniture, equipment, and vault................................  3-30 years

</TABLE>

Other Real Estate--Other real estate, primarily property acquired by
foreclosure, is capitalized at the lower of fair value less estimated selling
costs or cost of the property or loan immediately prior to its classification
as other real estate. Other real estate is not depreciated and is carried at
the lower of cost or fair value less estimated selling costs. Losses,
representing the difference between the sales price and the carrying value of
the property, are recorded immediately, while gains on sales financed by the
Company are deferred until the initial and continuing investment by the
borrower equals or exceeds specified equity percentages. Gains on all other
sales are recorded immediately.

Intangible Assets--Intangible assets consist of the excess of cost over the
fair value of net assets of acquired businesses and core deposit intangibles.
The excess of cost over the fair value of net assets of acquired businesses,
which totaled $8,006,000 and had related accumulated amortization of
$1,699,000 and $1,397,000 at December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively, is
being amortized over a period of 20 years, principally using the straight-line
method of amortization. Core deposit intangibles, which totaled $3,625,000 and
had related accumulated amortization of $1,706,000 and $1,508,000 at December
31, 1998 and 1997, respectively, are being amortized over 10 years using the
straight-line method of amortization. The carrying value of excess of cost
over net assets of subsidiaries acquired is reviewed if facts and
circumstances suggest that it may be impaired. If warranted, analysis,
including undiscounted income projections, are made to determine if
adjustments to the carrying value or amortization periods are necessary.

Software costs--Software costs with a recorded cost of $2,079,000 and
$1,931,000 and related accumulated amortization of $1,747,000 and $1,608,000
are included in other assets at December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
Amortization expense of approximately $140,000, $212,000, and $150,000 was
recorded in 1998, 1997, and 1996, respectively.
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Income Taxes--Deferred income taxes are provided on all temporary
differences between the financial reporting basis and the income tax basis of
assets and liabilities.

Stock-Based Employee Compensation--In 1996, the Company adopted the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation (Statement 123), which calls for a value based
method. Beginning in 1996, compensation cost for stock-based employee
compensation arrangements is measured at the grant date based on the value of
the award and is recognized over the service period.

Advertising Costs--The Company expenses the costs of advertising when those
costs are incurred.

F-9

ALABAMA NATIONAL BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

Collateral Requirements--The Company requires collateral for certain
transactions with retail and commercial customers. Specifically, margin loans
made for the purpose of borrowing against marketable investment securities
generally do not exceed 50% of the total market value of a customer's
marginable securities portfolio at the time of the transaction or any time
thereafter. Repurchase agreements, limited to commercial customers, generally
do not exceed the market value of securities used to secure such transactions
at the time of the transaction or thereafter. Federal funds sold are made to
correspondent banks on an unsecured basis and generally do not exceed limits
established for each bank resulting from evaluation of the bank's financial
position.

Reclassifications---Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior
year financial statements to conform with the 1998 presentation.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards--In June 1997, the FASB issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive
Income (Statement 130). Statement 130 establishes standards for reporting and
display of comprehensive income and its components (revenues, expenses, gains,
and losses) in a full set of general-purpose financial statements. This
Statement requires that all items that are required to be recognized under
accounting standards as components of comprehensive income be reported in a
financial statement that is displayed with the same prominence as other
financial statements. Comprehensive income includes all changes in equity
during a period, excluding investments by and distributions to stockholders.
Under Statement 130, the Company has reported changes in unrealized gains and
losses attributable to securities available for sale, as well as the
amortization of unearned restricted stock, as components of comprehensive
income. The 1997 and 1996 financial information has been reclassified to
conform to the requirements of the statement.

Effective January 1, 1998, the Company adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 131, Disclosures About Segments of a Business
Enterprise and Related Information (Statement 131). Statement 131 establishes
standards for the way that public business enterprises report information
about products and services, geographic areas, and major customers. As a
result of implementing this statement, the Company has expanded the
disclosures related to its operating segments (see Note 19).

In February 1998, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 132, Employers' Disclosures About Pensions and Other
Postretirement Benefits (Statement 132). Statement 132, effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 1997, standardizes the disclosure
requirements for pensions and other postretirement benefits, eliminates
certain disclosures, and requires additional information on changes in the
benefit obligations and fair values of plan assets. As a result of
implementing Statement 132, the Company has restated prior year disclosures to
conform to the requirements of the statement.

In June 1998, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Standard No. 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (Statement 133),
effective for all fiscal quarters of all fiscal years beginning after June 30,
1999. Statement 133 standardizes the accounting for derivative instruments,
including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, by
requiring that an entity recognize those items as assets or liabilities in the
statement of financial position and measure them at fair value. If certain
conditions are met, an entity may elect to designate a derivative instrument
as a hedging instrument. Statement 133 generally provides for matching the
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timing of gain or loss recognition on the hedging instrument with the
recognition of (a) the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or
liability that are attributable to the hedged risk or (b) the earnings effect
of the hedged forecasted transaction. Management of the Company does not
expect the adoption of Statement 133 to have a material impact on its
financial statements since the Company does not enter into derivative
instruments.
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ALABAMA NATIONAL BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

In October 1998, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 134, Accounting for Mortgage-Backed Securities Retained after the
Securitization of Mortgage Loans Held for Sale by a Mortgage Banking
Enterprise, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 65 (Statement 134). Statement
134 amends Statement 65 to require that after the securitization of mortgage
loans held for sale, an entity engaged in mortgage banking activities classify
the resulting mortgage-backed securities or other retained interests based on
its ability and intent to sell or hold those investments. This statement is
effective for the first fiscal quarter after December 15, 1998. However, since
the Company does not securitize mortgage loans, management does not anticipate
any financial statement impact of adopting this statement.

2. Business Combinations

On December 31, 1998, Community Bank of Naples, N.A. (Naples), headquartered
in Naples, Florida, was merged (the Naples Merger) into Alabama National
BanCorporation and Subsidiaries (the Company). On October 2, 1998, Community
Financial Corporation (CFC), a one bank holding company headquartered in
Mableton, Georgia, was merged (the CFC Merger) into the Company. Public Bank
Corporation (Public), a one bank holding company headquartered in St. Cloud,
Florida, was merged (the Public Merger) into the Company on May 29, 1998. A
one bank holding company headquartered in Decatur, Alabama, First American
Bancorp (FAB), was merged (the FAB Merger) into the Company on November 30,
1997. FirstBank Holding Company, Inc. (FirstBanc) was merged into the Company
(the FirstBanc Merger) on September 30, 1996. FirstBanc was a one bank holding
company headquartered in Robertsdale, Alabama.

Additional information related to these mergers is presented in the
following table:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Year-To-Date
Shares of                    Net Interest    Year-To-Date
Company    Total Assets at Income at Date   Net Income at

Common Stock Date of Merger     of Merger    Date of Merger
Merger                Issued    (Approximately) (Approximately) (Approximately)
------             ------------ --------------- --------------- ---------------
<S>                <C>          <C>             <C>             <C>
Naples............    532,608    $ 92,600,000     $ 2,800,000     $   43,000
CFC...............  1,076,032    $138,900,000     $ 4,000,000     $1,400,000
Public............    549,913    $ 53,300,000     $ 1,000,000     $  374,000
FAB...............  2,107,966    $235,000,000     $10,600,000     $  754,000
FirstBanc.........    305,000    $ 36,000,000     $ 1,200,000     $  325,000
</TABLE>

The consolidated financial statements of the Company give effect to these
mergers, all of which were accounted for as poolings of interests and,
accordingly, financial statements for all periods have been restated to
reflect the results of operations of the companies on a combined basis from
the earliest period presented, except for dividends per share.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

The Company's consolidated financial data for the years ended December 31,
1997 and 1996 have been restated as follows (in thousands, except per share
data):

<TABLE>
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<CAPTION>
As      Effect      As

Previously    of     Currently
Reported  Poolings  Reported

---------- --------  ---------
<S>                                              <C>        <C>       <C>
As of and for the year ended December 31, 1997:

Net interest income...........................  $47,548   $ 8,581   $ 56,129
Net income....................................  $11,668   $ 2,448   $ 14,116
Stockholders' equity..........................  $97,933   $18,955   $116,888
Net income per share (diluted)................  $  1.31   $  (.03)  $   1.28

As of and for the year ended December 31, 1996:
Net interest income...........................  $44,934   $ 6,070   $ 51,004
Net income....................................  $12,127   $ 1,504   $ 13,631
Stockholders' equity..........................  $88,803   $16,402   $105,205
Net income per share (diluted)................  $  1.38   $  (.08)  $   1.30

</TABLE>

3. Securities

The amortized costs and estimated market values of investment securities
(carried at amortized cost) and securities available for sale (carried at
market value) are as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

December 31, 1998
----------------------------------------

Gross      Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized  Market

Cost      Gains      Losses    Value
--------- ---------- ---------- --------

<S>                                    <C>       <C>        <C>        <C>
Investment securities:

U.S. treasury securities and
obligations of U.S. government
corporations and agencies.......... $  3,394    $   21      $       $  3,415

Obligations of states and political
subdivisions.......................    9,673       414                10,087

Mortgage backed securities issued or
guaranteed by U.S. government
agencies...........................   21,588       143        19      21,712

--------    ------      ----    --------
Totals............................ $ 34,655    $  578      $ 19    $ 35,214

========    ======      ====    ========
Securities available for sale:

U.S. treasury securities and
obligations of U.S. government
corporations and agencies.......... $ 94,754    $  429      $473    $ 94,710

Obligations of states and political
subdivisions.......................   25,659       735        17      26,377

Mortgage backed securities issued or
guaranteed by U.S. government
agencies...........................  160,589     1,116       263     161,442

Equity securities...................    7,090                  61       7,029
--------    ------      ----    --------

Totals............................ $288,092    $2,280      $814    $289,558
========    ======      ====    ========

</TABLE>
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<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

December 31, 1997
----------------------------------------

Gross      Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized  Market

Cost      Gains      Losses    Value
--------- ---------- ---------- --------

<S>                                    <C>       <C>        <C>        <C>
Investment securities:

U.S. treasury securities and
obligations of U.S. government
corporations and agencies.......... $ 12,058    $   40      $  4    $ 12,094
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Obligations of states and political
subdivisions.......................   10,067       364                10,431

Mortgage-backed securities issued or
guaranteed by U.S. government
agencies...........................   43,893       204        91      44,006

--------    ------      ----    --------
Totals............................ $ 66,018    $  608      $ 95    $ 66,531

========    ======      ====    ========
Securities available for sale:

U.S. treasury securities and
obligations of U.S. government
corporations and agencies.......... $ 81,448    $  338      $189    $ 81,597

Obligations of states and political
subdivisions.......................   25,344       542         4      25,882

Mortgage-backed securities issued or
guaranteed by U.S. government
agencies...........................   83,955       657       415      84,197

Equity securities...................    7,470                  62       7,408
--------    ------      ----    --------

Totals............................ $198,217    $1,537      $670    $199,084
========    ======      ====    ========

</TABLE>

Maturities of securities at December 31, 1998 are summarized as follows (in
thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Investment
Securities      Available for Sale

------------------- -------------------
Estimated           Estimated

Amortized  Market   Amortized  Market
Cost      Value     Cost      Value

--------- --------- --------- ---------
<S>                                 <C>       <C>       <C>       <C>
Due in one year or less............  $ 3,213   $ 3,235  $ 10,663  $ 10,751
Due after one year through five
years.............................    4,792     4,961    61,011    61,200

Due after five years through ten
years.............................    4,562     4,781    44,960    45,287

Due after ten years................      500       525     3,779     3,849
Mortgage-backed securities.........   21,588    21,712   160,589   161,442
Equity securities..................                        7,090     7,029

-------   -------  --------  --------
Totals...........................  $34,655   $35,214  $288,092  $289,558

=======   =======  ========  ========
</TABLE>

During 1998, gross gains of $174,000 were realized and there were no gross
realized losses. During 1997, gross gains of $12,000 and gross losses of
$14,000 were realized. In 1996, gross gains of $95,000 and gross losses of
$179,000 were realized.

During 1996, the Company sold investment securities with an amortized cost
of $3,502,000, resulting in realized losses of $42,000. These securities were
transferred to NBC pursuant to the 1996 merger of a former ANB subsidiary and
NBC. The securities did not meet the criteria of NBC's formal investment
policy.

Equity securities are comprised primarily of Federal Home Loan Bank and
Federal Reserve Bank stock; these holdings are required under regulatory
guidelines.
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4. Loans and Other Real Estate

Major classification of loans at December 31, 1998 and 1997 are summarized
as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998       1997
----------  --------
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<S>                                                     <C>         <C>
Commercial, financial, and agricultural................ $  257,409  $208,666
Real estate............................................    678,367   622,489
Consumer...............................................     77,187    89,971
Other..................................................     94,509    47,346

----------  --------
Gross loans............................................  1,107,472   968,472
Less unearned income...................................     (1,398)   (2,102)

----------  --------
Loans, net of unearned income..........................  1,106,074   966,370
Less allowance for loan losses.........................    (16,540)  (14,844)

----------  --------
Net loans.............................................. $1,089,534  $951,526

==========  ========
</TABLE>

In the normal course of business, loans are made to directors, officers, and
their affiliates. Such loans are made on substantially the same terms as to
other customers of the banks. The aggregate of such loans was $45,363,000 and
$37,875,000 at December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively. During 1998 and 1997,
new loans of $38,163,000 and $37,391,000 were funded and repayments totaled
$30,675,000 and $34,281,000 respectively.

Loans on which the accrual of interest has been discontinued or reduced
amounted to approximately $4,357,000 and $4,228,000 at December 31, 1998 and
1997, respectively. If the loans of the Company had been current throughout
their terms, gross interest income for the years ended December 31, 1998 and
1997, respectively, would have increased by approximately $384,000 and
$371,000.

Other real estate at December 31, 1998 and 1997 totaled $1,234,000 and
$1,756,000, respectively.

At December 31, 1998 and 1997, the recorded investment in loans for which
impairment has been recognized totaled $4,843,000 and $5,223,000,
respectively, and these loans had a corresponding valuation allowance of
$270,000 and $249,000. The Company recognized no interest on impaired loans
during the portion of the year that they were impaired. The impaired loans at
December 31, 1998 and 1997 were measured for impairment primarily using the
fair value of the collateral.

The Company grants real estate, commercial, and consumer loans to customers
primarily in Alabama, Georgia and Florida. Although the Company has a
diversified loan portfolio, significant concentrations include loans
collateralized by improved and undeveloped commercial and residential real
estate.
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5. Allowance for Loan Losses

A summary of the allowance for loan losses for the years ended December 31,
1998, 1997, and 1996 is as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998     1997     1996
-------  -------  -------

<S>                                                <C>      <C>      <C>
Balance, beginning of year........................ $14,844  $12,633  $11,621
Provision charged to operations...................   1,796    3,421    1,035

-------  -------  -------
16,640   16,054   12,656

-------  -------  -------
Loans charged off.................................  (1,864)  (2,927)  (1,996)
Recoveries........................................   1,764    1,717    1,973

-------  -------  -------
Net charge-offs...................................    (100)  (1,210)     (23)

-------  -------  -------
Balance, end of year.............................. $16,540  $14,844  $12,633

=======  =======  =======
</TABLE>

6. Property, Equipment, and Leasehold Improvements
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Major classifications of property, equipment, and leasehold improvements at
December 31, 1998 and 1997 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998    1997
------- -------

<S>                                                          <C>     <C>
Land........................................................ $ 8,779 $ 7,519
Buildings and improvements..................................  23,775  22,924
Leasehold improvements......................................   4,842   4,842
Furniture, equipment, and vault.............................  18,827  16,474
Construction in progress....................................   1,803   1,859

------- -------
58,026  53,618

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization..............  19,151  16,870
------- -------

Property, equipment, and leasehold improvements, net........ $38,875 $36,748
======= =======

</TABLE>

7. Deposits

Deposits at December 31, 1998 and 1997 are summarized as follows (in
thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998       1997
---------- ----------

<S>                                                    <C>        <C>
Demand deposit accounts............................... $  232,450 $  180,341
NOW accounts..........................................    187,481    155,147
Savings and money market accounts.....................    298,817    294,072
Time deposits less than $100,000......................    403,156    369,363
Time deposits of $100,000 or more.....................    153,271    126,556

---------- ----------
Total deposits........................................ $1,275,175 $1,125,479

========== ==========
</TABLE>

Certain directors of the Company, including their families and affiliated
companies, are deposit customers. Total deposits of these persons at December
31, 1998 and 1997 were approximately $24,048,000 and $37,128,000,
respectively.
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8. Short- and Long-Term Borrowings

Short-term debt is summarized as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998    1997
------- -------

<S>                                                          <C>     <C>
Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) debt due June 5, 1998; rate
varies with LIBOR (London Interbank Offered Rate) and was
5.783% at December 31, 1997; collateralized by FHLB stock
and certain first mortgage loans..........................          $12,500

Note payable to independent bank under secured master note
agreement; rate varies with LIBOR and was 6.3191% and
6.6875% at December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively;
collateralized by the Company's stock in subsidiary
banks.....................................................  $11,500  15,250

FHLB debt due May 24, 1999; rate varies with LIBOR and was
5.2875% at December 31, 1998; collateralized by FHLB stock
and certain first mortgage loans..........................    9,200

FHLB debt due August 1998; rate varies with LIBOR and was
5.915% at December 31, 1997; collateralized by FHLB stock
and certain first mortgage loans..........................            1,250

FHLB debt due January 31, 1999; interest at fixed rate of
5.24%; collateralized by FHLB stock and certain first
mortgage loans............................................    1,000
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Other short-term notes payable.............................               87
------- -------

Total short-term borrowings................................  $21,700 $29,087
======= =======

</TABLE>

Long-term debt is summarized as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998    1997
------- ------

<S>                                                            <C>     <C>
FHLB debt due May 24, 1999; rate varies with LIBOR and was
5.569% at December 31, 1997; collateralized by FHLB stock
and certain first mortgage loans............................          $9,200

FHLB debt due July 11, 2002; interest at fixed rate of 5.78%;
convertible at the option of the FHLB on July 12, 1999 to a
three month LIBOR advance; collateralized by FHLB stock and
certain first mortgage loans................................  $ 5,000  5,000

FHLB debt due October 21, 2003; interest at fixed rate of
4.30%; convertible at the option of the FHLB on October 21,
2000 to a three month LIBOR advance; collateralized by FHLB
stock and certain first mortgage loans......................   10,000

FHLB debt due March 26, 2008; interest at fixed rate of
5.51%; convertible at the option of the FHLB on March 26,
2003 to a three month LIBOR advance; collateralized by FHLB
stock and certain first mortgage loans......................    5,000

FHLB debt due July 25, 2001; interest at fixed rate of 6.40%;
collateralized by FHLB stock and pledged available for sale
securities with a carrying value of $2,504,000 and
$2,491,000 at December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively......    2,000  2,000

FHLB debt due June 18, 2003; interest at fixed rate of 5.40%;
convertible at the option of the FHLB on June 18, 2000 to a
three month LIBOR advance; collateralized by FHLB stock and
certain first mortgage loans................................    5,000

</TABLE>
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<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998    1997
------- -------

<S>                                                         <C>     <C>
FHLB debt due November 5, 2003; interest at fixed rate of
4.74%; convertible at the option of the FHLB on November
5, 2001 to a three month LIBOR advance; collateralized by
FHLB stock and certain first mortgage loans...............   5,000

Capital leases payable.....................................     328     387
------- -------

Total long-term debt....................................... $32,328 $16,587
======= =======

</TABLE>

The note payable to an independent bank at December 31, 1998 is payable in
full on May 31, 1999. Maximum borrowings under the secured master note
agreement is $20,000,000 and interest is payable quarterly. Total interest
expense paid on the note was $870,000 in 1998, $1,156,000 in 1997, and
$1,343,000 in 1996.

At December 31, 1998, the Company has $51,600,000 of available credit with
the FHLB in addition to the $42,200,000 above, $8,500,000 of available credit
with a large regional financial institution, and federal funds lines of
$156,050,000 with various correspondent banks, of which $119,750,000 remains
available.

The FHLB has a blanket lien on the Company's 1-4 family mortgage loans in
the amount of the outstanding debt.

Additional details regarding short-term debt are shown below (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998     1997     1996
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-------  -------  -------
<S>                                                <C>      <C>      <C>
Average amount outstanding during the year........ $22,697  $43,236  $29,813
Maximum amount outstanding at any month end....... $48,147  $50,600  $46,476
Weighted average interest rate:

During year.....................................    6.42%    6.16%    6.79%
End of year.....................................    5.83%    6.27%    6.35%

</TABLE>

9. Leases

One of the Company's subsidiary banks leases its main office building from a
partnership, which includes a director and a stockholder of the Company, under
a noncancelable operating lease expiring in 2013. Leases classified as capital
leases include branch offices with a net book value of approximately $221,000
at December 31, 1998. Additionally, this subsidiary bank leases other branch
offices and equipment under operating leases.

Minimum future rental payments for the capital and operating leases are as
follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Capital Operating
Leases   Leases
------- ---------

<S>                                                         <C>     <C>
1999.......................................................  $ 90    $ 1,058
2000.......................................................    90      1,055
2001.......................................................    75      1,016
2002.......................................................    54      1,013
2003.......................................................    54      1,016
Thereafter.................................................    51      9,079

----    -------
Total minimum payments.....................................   414    $14,237

=======
Less amount representing interest..........................    86

----
Net capital lease obligation...............................  $328

====
</TABLE>
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Rents charged to operations under operating lease agreements for the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996 were approximately $1,342,000,
$1,350,000, and $1,219,000, respectively, of which $968,000, $942,000, and
$870,000, respectively, during 1998, 1997, and 1996 relate to leases with
related parties.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Company makes commitments to meet the
financing needs of its customers. These commitments include commitments to
extend credit and standby letters of credit. These instruments include, to
varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amount recognized in
the consolidated statements of condition. The Company's exposure to credit
risk is the extent of nonperformance by the counterparty to the financial
instrument for commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit and
is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments. The Company
uses the same credit policies and procedures in making commitments and
conditional obligations as it does for loans.

At December 31, 1998 and 1997, unused commitments under lines of credit
aggregated approximately $276,877,000 and $220,091,000, of which $21,132,000
and $14,898,000 pertained to related parties, respectively. The Company
evaluates each customer's credit worthiness on a one-by-one basis. The amount
of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the Company upon extension of
credit, is based on management's credit evaluation of the counterparty.
Collateral held varies but may include accounts receivable, inventory,
property, plant, and equipment, residential real estate and income-producing
commercial properties.

The Company had approximately $8,814,000 and $3,203,700 in irrevocable
standby letters of credit outstanding at December 31, 1998 and 1997, of which
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$204,000 at December 31, 1997 pertained to related parties. The credit risk
involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved
in extending loan facilities to customers. The collateral varies but may
include accounts receivable, inventory, property, plant, and equipment, and
residential real estate for those commitments for which collateral is deemed
necessary.

The Company, in the normal course of business, is subject to various pending
and threatened litigation. Based on legal counsel's opinion, management does
not anticipate that the ultimate liability, if any, resulting from such
litigation will have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial
condition or results of operations.

11. Employee Benefit Plans

One of the subsidiary banks, NBC, has a defined benefit pension plan
covering substantially all employees. Benefits are based on years of service
and the average monthly earnings for the last sixty months of employment. The
Company's policy is to use the "projected unit credit" actuarial method for
financial reporting purposes and the "frozen entry age" actuarial method for
funding purposes. The components of net pension expense for the years ended
December 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996 are as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998   1997   1996
-----  -----  -----

<S>                                                         <C>    <C>    <C>
Service cost............................................... $ 505  $ 412  $ 342
Interest cost..............................................   261    210    167
Expected return on assets..................................  (297)  (209)  (163)
Amortization of transition (asset)/obligation..............    (2)    (2)    (2)
Amortization of prior service cost.........................     2      2      2
Recognized net actuarial (gain)/loss.......................    23     12     20

-----  -----  -----
Net pension cost........................................... $ 492  $ 425  $ 366

=====  =====  =====
</TABLE>
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The reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the projected
benefit obligation and plan assets, as well as disclosure of the plans funded
status for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997, is as follows (in
thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998     1997
-------  ------

<S>                                                            <C>      <C>
Change in benefit obligation
Projected benefit obligation at end of prior year............. $ 3,774  $2,580

Service cost................................................     505     412
Interest cost...............................................     261     209
Actuarial loss..............................................     464     629
Benefits paid...............................................     (29)    (56)

-------  ------
Projected benefit obligation at end of year................... $ 4,975  $3,774

=======  ======
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at end of prior year................ $ 3,041  $2,398

Actual return on plan assets................................     303     292
Employer contributions......................................     422     407
Benefits paid...............................................     (29)    (56)

-------  ------
Fair value of plan assets at end of year...................... $ 3,737  $3,041

=======  ======
Funded status
Plan assets less than projected benefit obligation............ $ 1,238  $  733
Unrecognized net loss.........................................  (1,195)   (761)
Unrecognized prior service cost...............................     (15)    (17)
Unrecognized net asset at date of initial application.........      11      13

-------  ------
Accrued pension liability (asset)............................. $    39  $  (32)
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=======  ======
</TABLE>

Primary assumptions used to actuarially determine net pension expense are as
follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998  1997  1996
----  ----  ----

<S>                                                            <C>   <C>   <C>
Settlement (discount rate).................................... 6.50% 7.00% 7.00%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets.............. 9.00% 9.00% 9.00%
Salary increase rate.......................................... 4.25% 4.25% 4.25%
</TABLE>

The Company has a qualified employee benefit plan under Section 401(k) of
the Internal Revenue Code covering substantially all employees. Employees can
contribute up to 10% of their salary to the plan on a pre-tax basis and the
Company matches participants' contributions up to the first 2% of each
participant's salary. The Company's matching contribution charged to
operations related to this plan, as well as other plans of merged banks, was
$431,000, $375,000, and $277,000 for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997,
and 1996, respectively.

Several of the subsidiary banks have deferred compensation plans for the
benefit of the Company's former chief executive officer. Payments under the
plans are scheduled to begin March 15, 1997 and March 15, 2002, or at his
death, if earlier, and continue for a period of 15 years. In connection with
the plans, the banks purchased single premium life insurance policies on the
life of the officer. At December 31, 1998, the cash surrender value of the
policies was $2,182,000.
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A subsidiary of the Company maintains life insurance contracts to provide
benefits to its directors under Executive Supplemental Income Plan agreements.
Under these agreements, the subsidiary is obligated to pay death benefits to
the beneficiaries of its directors. These death benefits are funded through
the purchase of whole life insurance policies under which the subsidiary is
the beneficiary. These contracts provide dividends and increases in asset
value from which these benefits will be paid. At December 31, 1998 and 1997,
the cash surrender value of the insurance contracts was approximately
$1,415,000 and $1,046,000, respectively. Expenses incurred for benefits
relating to this plan were approximately $27,000, $21,000, and $46,000 during
1998, 1997, and 1996, respectively.

Additionally, ANB and five of its subsidiary banks have deferred
compensation plans that cover certain former directors of ANB and the
presidents of certain subsidiary banks. In connection with the plans, ANB and
each subsidiary have purchased single premium life insurance policies on all
participants, except one. At December 31, 1998, the cash surrender value of
these policies was $1,965,473.

The Company has fixed stock options outstanding which were granted under
separate stock option plans of the different parties to the FAB Merger, CFC
Merger, and Naples Merger. Additionally, the Company had fixed stock option
plans with options granted prior to these mergers. No future stock option
awards are anticipated under any of these plans. Under the terms of stock
option plans related to FAB, options to purchase shares of FAB's common stock
were granted in 1996 and 1997. As a result of the FAB Merger, all of the
options previously issued under these stock option plans became immediately
exercisable on November 30, 1997. In 1996, the fair value of each option grant
was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following weighted average assumptions used for the grants:
cash dividend yield of 0%; expected volatility of 11.4%, risk-free interest
rate of 5.5%; and expected life of 7 years. The weighted average grant date
fair value of 1996 option grants was $5.21. In 1997, the fair value of each
option grant was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for the
grants: cash dividend yield of 0%; expected volatility of 17%; risk-free
interest rate of 6.5%; and expected life of 10 years. The weighted average
grant date fair value of 1997 option grants was $9.86. No stock option related
compensation expense was recorded in 1998. Compensation expense recorded in
1997 and 1996 related to these options was $325,000 and $5,000, respectively.
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Under terms of the stock option plans related to the Naples Merger, options to
purchase 37,290 shares of Naples' common stock were granted in 1996. The fair
value of each option was estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions
used for the grants: cash dividend yield of 0%; expected volatility of 0%,
risk-free interest rate of 6.0%; and expected life of 10 years. The weighted
average grant date fair value of the Naples option grants was $9.39. Under the
Naples options plan, compensation expense of $31,000 was recorded in each of
1998, 1997, and 1996.

Under terms of the stock option plans related to the CFC Merger, options to
purchase shares of CFC's common stock were granted to certain officers and
directors of CFC in 1996, 1997, and 1998. The fair value of each option was
estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following weighted average assumptions used for the grants:
cash dividend yield of 1% in 1998 and 0% in 1997 and 1996; expected volatility
of .05% in 1998 and 0% in 1997 and 1996, risk-free interest rate of 5.00%,
5.80%, and 5.11% for 1998, 1997, and 1996, respectively; and expected life of
seven years for each of 1998, 1997, and 1996. The weighted average grant date
fair value of CFC's option grants was $5.91, $4.09, and $9.72 in 1998, 1997,
and 1996, respectively. Under the CFC plans, compensation expense was $59,000,
$40,000, and $50,000 in 1998, 1997, and 1996, respectively.
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A summary of the status of the Company's fixed stock options as of December
31, 1998, 1997, and 1996 and changes during each of the three years then ended
is presented below:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998               1997                1996
------------------ ------------------  -----------------

Weighted           Weighted           Weighted
Average            Average            Average
Exercise           Exercise           Exercise

Shares    Price    Shares    Price    Shares    Price
--------  -------- --------  --------  -------  --------

<S>                       <C>       <C>      <C>       <C>       <C>      <C>
Outstanding, beginning
of year................   487,146   $ 7.98   585,777  $  8.05   598,712   $ 7.97

Granted.................    11,258    20.66    41,771    15.61    49,979    10.22
Exercised...............  (168,347)    6.19  (140,402)  (10.68)  (10,352)    9.83
Forfeited...............                                         (52,562)    8.50

--------   ------  --------  -------   -------   ------
Outstanding, end of
year...................   330,057   $ 9.33   487,146  $  7.98   585,777   $ 8.09

========   ======  ========  =======   =======   ======
Options exercisable, end
of year................   258,785            260,509            307,958

========           ========            =======
</TABLE>

The following table summarizes information about fixed stock options
outstanding at December 31, 1998:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Options Outstanding
--------------------------

Remaining
Exercise                               Number     Contractual     Options

Price                              Outstanding      Life      Exercisable
--------                             ----------- -------------- -----------
<S>                                  <C>         <C>            <C>
$ 5.03..............................    10,554   March 2004        10,554
$ 5.68..............................    56,356   August 2003
$ 5.97..............................     5,277   March 2005         5,277
$ 6.39..............................    80,848   October 2002      80,848
$ 9.39..............................    37,290   August 2006       22,374
$10.00..............................    52,333   November 2004     52,333
$10.10..............................    14,848   October 2004      14,848
$11.37..............................     7,740   March 2006         7,740
$13.00..............................     6,833   November 2005      6,833
$14.64..............................     4,949   February 2006      4,949
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$15.29..............................     7,740   March 2007         7,740
$15.56..............................    26,995   March 2007        26,995
$16.17..............................     7,036   September 2007     7,036
$20.60..............................     7,740   March 2008         7,740
$20.78..............................     3,518   September 2009     3,518

-------                    -------
330,057                    258,785
=======                    =======

</TABLE>

The Company has 64,979 restricted shares of stock outstanding pursuant to a
Restricted Stock Agreement (RSA) originated in 1994. The RSA provides for
employees covered by the plan to elect a cash award equal to an amount of
personal income tax liability resulting from the award. RSA participants are
entitled to vote their respective shares. No dividends are permitted, and the
sale or transfer of shares is restricted for five years. Shares awarded to
participants that leave NBC prior to the completion of five years of service
following the award are required to be surrendered and are ratably awarded to
remaining participants. During the years ending December 31, 1998, 1997 and
1996, total expense for the RSA was $92,000, $93,000, and $93,000,
respectively.

During 1996, the Company adopted a Performance Share Plan to offer long-term
incentives in addition to current compensation to key executives. The criteria
for payment of performance share awards is based upon a comparison of the
Company's average return on average equity over an award period to that of a
comparison
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group of bank holding companies. If the Company's results are below the median
of the comparison group, no portion of the award is earned. If the Company's
results are at or above the 90th percentile, the award maximum is earned. The
vesting period for the awards is four years. Under the plan, 400,000 shares
have been reserved for issuances. The number of shares granted in 1996 was
16,750 shares with an approximate market value at the date of grant of
$222,000. In 1997, 16,000 shares were granted under the plan with an
approximate market value at the date of grant of $308,000. In 1998, 17,813
shares were granted under the plan with an approximate market value at the
date of grant of $470,000. At December 31, 1998, outstanding awards of
expected and maximum payouts were 65,762 and 70,890 shares, respectively.
Expense recorded for the Performance Share Plan was $411,400, $105,000, and
$55,500 in 1998, 1997, and 1996, respectively.

During October 1997, the Company adopted a Performance Share Plan to offer
long-term incentives to key executives at one of the Company's subsidiary
banks (the Subsidiary PSP). Under the plan, non-employee directors of that
bank who are not also directors of the Company will be eligible to receive
performance share awards providing certain criteria are met. Those criteria
are that the director purchase a prescribed number of shares of the Company's
stock (as provided in the Subsidiary PSP) and that the director continues to
serve as a member of the board of directors of that bank until December 31,
2002. The amount of actual shares to be paid, assuming the preceding
conditions are met, will be based on the net income of that bank for the year
ended December 31, 2002. The maximum number of shares of common stock which
may be awarded under the Subsidiary PSP is approximately 20,000 shares, which
vest over a sixty-three month period. During 1997, the maximum number of
shares were assumed to be granted, with an approximate market value on the
date of grant of $503,000. Expense recorded for the Subsidiary PSP was $96,000
in 1998 and $24,000 in 1997.

The Company maintains deferral of compensation plans for certain directors
who are not employees of the Company. Under the plan, a non-employee director
may choose to have all or part of the cash and/or stock equivalents he would
normally receive as compensation deferred for future payment at such time and
in such manner as the director specifies at the time of the election, so long
as any annuity payment period does not exceed ten years. The cash portion of
the deferral of compensation account earns interest at a rate which
approximates the Company's short-term borrowing rate. Dividends earned on the
stock equivalent portion are credited to the deferral of compensation account
in the form of additional stock equivalents. At December 31, 1998, the amount
payable under terms of these plans totaled $364,000. For the years ending
December 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996, approximately $207,000, $136,000, and
$64,000, respectively, was expensed under these plans.

One of the Company's subsidiary banks has a deferred compensation plan
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whereby directors may elect to have all or a portion of their compensation
deferred. Expense recognized under the plan was $23,000, $18,000, and $17,500
in 1998, 1997, and 1996, respectively. At December 31, 1998, amounts payable
under the plan totaled $63,000.
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A subsidiary of the Company adopted an ESOP plan that covers substantially
all the subsidiary's employees, subject to certain minimum age and service
requirements. The subsidiary makes contributions to the ESOP as determined
annually by its Board of Directors. In November 1996, the ESOP incurred debt
to purchase 6,701 shares of subsidiary stock thus converting the plan from a
nonleveraged ESOP to a leveraged ESOP. Prior to the leveraged ESOP, the
subsidiary made cash contributions to the ESOP which were used to purchase
4,944 shares of Company stock and, in turn, allocated to the participants.
Subsequent to November 1996, contributions to the ESOP will, at a minimum, be
applied to meet the ESOP's debt service requirements. As the debt is repaid,
shares are released and allocated to active employees, based on the proportion
of debt service paid during the year. Accordingly, the debt incurred by the
ESOP is recorded as a note payable and the shares purchased with the debt
proceeds are reported as unearned ESOP shares in the consolidated balance
sheet. As the debt is repaid, the Company will also record compensation
expense equal to the current market price of the shares released, and the
shares will become outstanding for purposes of earnings per share
computations. Compensation expense of approximately $42,000, $36,000, and
$24,000 was recognized during 1998, 1997, and 1996, respectively. During 1998
and 1997, respectively, approximately 754 and 894 shares were released. ESOP
shares at December 31, 1998 are summarized as follows:

<TABLE>
<S>                                                             <C>
Allocated shares...............................................    6,593
Unallocated shares.............................................    5,052

--------
Total ESOP shares............................................   11,645

========
Fair value of unallocated shares............................... $126,000

========
</TABLE>

The Company is in the process of winding down the ESOP. Some of the
unallocated shares of the ESOP will be sold on the open market to pay off the
debt incurred by the ESOP. The remaining shares will be distributed to the
participants on a pro rata basis. The Company anticipates this process to be
completed by June 30, 1999.

12. Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes consist of the following
for the years ended December 31, 1997, 1996, and 1995 (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998    1997    1996
------  ------  ------

<S>                                                      <C>     <C>     <C>
Current:

Federal............................................... $7,989  $6,482  $5,048
State.................................................    760     796     833

------  ------  ------
Total current expense...................................  8,749   7,278   5,881
Deferred:

Federal...............................................   (655)   (681)    (58)
State.................................................    119     (99)    (73)

------  ------  ------
Total deferred benefit..................................   (536)   (780)   (131)
Change in valuation allowance...........................    (59)   (412)   (471)

------  ------  ------
Total provision for income taxes........................ $8,154  $6,086  $5,279

======  ======  ======
</TABLE>
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Temporary differences and carryforwards which give rise to a significant
portion of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the years ended December
31, 1998 and 1997 are as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998   1997
------ ------

<S>                                                               <C>    <C>
Deferred tax assets:

Loan loss reserve.............................................. $3,422 $3,161
Other real estate owned basis difference.......................     28     95
Net operating loss.............................................    171    775
Deferred compensation..........................................    931    658
Loan fees......................................................    285    326
Other..........................................................    373    234

------ ------
Total deferred tax asset.........................................  5,210  5,249
Valuation allowance..............................................           (59)
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation and basis difference..............................  2,381  2,235
Unrealized gains on securities.................................    617    343
Other..........................................................     14    406
Core deposits..................................................    179    213

------ ------
Total deferred tax liabilities...................................  3,191  3,197

------ ------
Net deferred tax asset........................................... $2,019 $1,993

====== ======
</TABLE>

Total provision for income taxes differs from the amount which would be
provided by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to pretax earnings
as illustrated below for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996 (in
thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998    1997    1996
------  ------  ------

<S>                                                <C>     <C>     <C>
Provision for income taxes at statutory federal
income tax rate.................................. $8,687  $6,897  $6,462

Increase (decrease) resulting from:
State income taxes, net of federal income tax
benefit........................................    541     446     545

Change in valuation allowance...................    (59)   (412)   (471)
Tax free interest income........................   (677)   (689)   (666)
Nondeductible meals and entertainment...........     92     108      84
Disallowed interest expense deduction...........     87      85      85
Goodwill and core deposit amortization..........    103     105      98
Bad debt recapture..............................                   (113)
General business and other credits..............   (706)   (614)   (244)
Net operating losses............................    (55)    (61)    (61)
Other, net......................................    141     221    (440)

------  ------  ------
Total provision for income taxes.................. $8,154  $6,086  $5,279

======  ======  ======
</TABLE>

For Federal income tax purposes, one of the Company's subsidiaries has net
operating loss carryforwards totaling $504,000, which will expire beginning in
2006. One subsidiary of the Company has state net operating loss carryforwards
and tax credits totaling $3,732,000 and $83,000, respectively, which will
expire beginning in 2006.
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13. Noninterest Expense
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The following table sets forth, for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997,
and 1996, the principal components of noninterest expense (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998    1997    1996
------- ------- -------

<S>                                                  <C>     <C>     <C>
Salaries and employee benefits...................... $36,021 $29,992 $28,756
Net occupancy expense...............................   6,724   6,622   6,481
Amortization of goodwill............................     302     298     305
Advertising.........................................     976   1,439   1,180
Banking assessments.................................     298     382   1,090
Data processing expenses............................   2,435   1,974   1,606
Legal and professional fees.........................   3,609   1,908   2,044
Noncredit losses (recoveries).......................     129     283     (24)
Other...............................................  10,660   9,890   8,737

------- ------- -------
Total noninterest expense........................... $61,154 $52,788 $50,175

======= ======= =======
</TABLE>

14. Earnings Per Share

The following table reflects the reconciliation, after adjusting for stock
splits, of the basic EPS computation to the diluted EPS computation (in
thousands, except per share data):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Per Share
Income  Shares  Amount
------- ------ ---------

<S>                                                  <C>     <C>    <C>
1998
Basic EPS net income................................ $17,372 10,804   $1.61

=====
Effect of dilutive securities options...............            369

------- ------
Diluted EPS......................................... $17,372 11,173   $1.55

======= ======   =====
1997
Basic EPS net income................................ $14,116 10,552   $1.34

=====
Effect of dilutive securities options...............            447

------- ------
Diluted EPS......................................... $14,116 10,999   $1.28

======= ======   =====
1996
Basic EPS net income(1)............................. $13,627  9,960   $1.37

=====
Effect of dilutive securities options...............            505
Convertible debentures, net of taxes................       5     25

------- ------
Diluted EPS......................................... $13,632 10,490   $1.30

======= ======   =====
</TABLE>
--------
(1) Basic EPS net income excludes cash dividends on preferred stock.
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15. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value
of each class of financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate
that value.

Cash, Due From Banks, Interest-Bearing Cash Balances, and Federal Funds
Sold--The carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of fair value.

Investment, Available for Sale, and Trading Securities--Fair value is based
on quoted market prices or dealer quotes.
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Loans--The fair value of loans is estimated by discounting the future cash
flows using the current rates at which similar loans would be made to
borrowers with similar credit ratings and for the same remaining maturities.

Deposits--The fair value of demand deposits, savings accounts, and certain
money market deposits is the amount payable on demand at the reporting date.
The fair value of fixed-maturity certificates of deposit is estimated using
the rates currently offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities.

Federal Funds Purchased, Short-Term Borrowings, and Long-Term Debt--The
carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of fair value.

Commitments to Extend Credit and Standby Letters of Credit--All commitments
to extend credit and standby letters of credit have original terms, at their
issuance, of one year or less; therefore, the fair value of these instruments
does not materially differ from their stated value.

The estimated fair values of financial instruments at December 31, 1998 and
1997 are as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998                1997
------------------- -------------------
Carrying    Fair    Carrying    Fair
Amount     Value    Amount     Value

--------- --------- --------- ---------
<S>                                     <C>       <C>       <C>       <C>
Financial assets:

Cash and due from banks.............. $  70,813 $  70,813 $  53,216 $  53,216
Interest-bearing deposits in other
banks...............................       225       225     2,391     2,391

Federal funds sold and securities
purchased under agreements to
resell..............................    57,076    57,076    78,835    78,835

Investment securities and securities
available for sale..................   324,213   324,772   265,102   265,019

Trading securities...................     5,534     5,534       399       399
Loans................................ 1,106,074 1,133,460   966,370   960,656

Financial liabilities:
Deposits............................. 1,275,175 1,284,915 1,125,479 1,123,549
Federal funds purchased; securities
sold under agreements to resell; and
treasury, tax, and loan account.....   164,139   164,139   146,647   146,647

Short-term borrowings................    21,700    21,700    29,087    29,087
Long-term debt.......................    32,328    34,088    16,587    16,594

</TABLE>
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16. Parent Company

The condensed financial information of the parent company only for the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996 is presented as follows (in
thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998      1997
--------  --------

<S>                                                          <C>       <C>
Balance Sheets
Assets:

Cash...................................................... $  2,482  $  2,983
Securities available for sale.............................      337       399
Investments in subsidiaries...............................  139,386   124,561
Intangibles...............................................    6,669     7,003
Other assets..............................................    1,360     1,177

--------  --------
Total assets................................................ $150,234  $136,123

========  ========
Liabilities and stockholders' equity:

Accounts payable.......................................... $  7,601  $  3,662
Accrued interest payable..................................      140       236
Short- and long-term debt.................................   11,500    15,337
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--------  --------
Total liabilities...........................................   19,241    19,235

--------  --------
Stockholders' equity:

Common stock..............................................   10,972    10,603
Additional paid-in capital................................   78,570    77,081
Retained earnings.........................................   40,584    28,838
Unearned restricted stock.................................                (92)
Unearned ESOP.............................................      (75)      (87)
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of taxes......      942       545

--------  --------
Total stockholders' equity..................................  130,993   116,888

--------  --------
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity.................. $150,234  $136,123

========  ========
</TABLE>

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998    1997    1996
------- ------- -------

<S>                                                    <C>     <C>     <C>
Statements of Income
Income:

Dividends from subsidiaries......................... $ 7,496 $10,421 $ 8,370
Securities gains....................................     139
Other...............................................      41      34      60

------- ------- -------
7,676  10,455   8,430

------- ------- -------
Expenses:

Interest expense....................................     870   1,165   1,393
Other expenses......................................   3,797   1,940   3,405

------- ------- -------
Total expenses........................................   4,667   3,105   4,798

------- ------- -------
Income before equity in undistributed earnings of
subsidiaries.........................................   3,009   7,350   3,632

Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries......  13,059   5,816   8,289
------- ------- -------

Income before income taxes............................  16,068  13,166  11,921
Income tax benefit....................................   1,304     950   1,710

------- ------- -------
Net income............................................ $17,372 $14,116 $13,631

======= ======= =======
</TABLE>
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<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1998     1997     1996
-------  -------  -------

<S>                                                  <C>      <C>      <C>
Statements of Cash Flows
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income.......................................... $17,372  $14,116  $13,631
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Amortization of investment in consolidated
subsidiaries in excess of net assets acquired and
core deposits....................................     334      369      289

Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries.. (13,059)  (5,816)  (8,321)
Deferred tax (benefit) expense....................    (474)      99     (282)
Other.............................................     222      285      275
Increase in other assets and liabilities..........   4,147    1,097       39

-------  -------  -------
Net cash provided by operating activities.......   8,542   10,150    5,631

-------  -------  -------
Cash flows from investing activities
Additional investment in subsidiaries...............  (1,500)  (3,014)
Decrease (increase) in securities available for
sale...............................................      62     (194)      (1)

-------  -------  -------
Net cash used in investing activities...........  (1,438)  (3,208)      (1)
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-------  -------  -------
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends on common stock...........................  (5,626)  (3,342)  (1,747)
Dividends of preferred stock........................                        (4)
Change in other liabilities.........................             (438)  (5,024)
Exercise of stock options...........................   1,858       82      100
Issuance of common stock............................                       205
Distribution for fractional shares..................              (14)      (3)
Net (decrease) increase in borrowings...............  (3,837)  (1,763)   1,223
Redemption of preferred stock.......................                       (53)

-------  -------  -------
Net cash used in financing activities...........  (7,605)  (5,475)  (5,303)

-------  -------  -------
Net (decrease) increase in cash.................    (501)   1,467      327

Cash, beginning of year.............................   2,983    1,516    1,189
-------  -------  -------

Cash, end of year................................... $ 2,482  $ 2,983  $ 1,516
=======  =======  =======

</TABLE>

17. Regulatory

The subsidiary banks are required by law to maintain reserves in cash or
deposits with the Federal Reserve Bank or other banks. At December 31, 1998,
the required reserves totaled $13,663,000.

At December 31, 1998 and 1997, securities with carrying values of
$176,794,000 and $149,564,000, respectively, were pledged to secure U.S.
government deposits and other public funds and for purposes as required or
permitted by law.

The Company has a policy of collecting amounts from its subsidiaries
sufficient to cover expenses of the Company and to service Company debt. Such
amounts have been received in the form of dividends declared by the
subsidiaries. Payment of dividends is subject to the financial condition of
the subsidiaries and the Company's judgment as to the desirability of
utilizing alternative sources of funds. The payment of dividends by the
subsidiary banks is also subject to various regulatory requirements. At
December 31, 1998, $27,555,000 of the
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retained earnings of the subsidiary banks are available for payment of
dividends to the Company under the various regulatory requirements, without
special approval from the applicable regulators.

The Company is subject to various regulatory capital requirements
administered by the federal banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital
requirements can initiate certain mandatory--and possibly additional
discretionary--actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct
material effect on the Company's financial statements. Under capital adequacy
guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, the
Company must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative
measures of the Company's assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance sheet
items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The Company's
capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments
by the regulators about components, risk weightings, and other factors.

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy
require the Company maintain minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the
table below) of total qualifying capital and Tier I capital (as defined in the
regulations) to risk-weighted assets (as defined), and of Tier I capital (as
defined) to average assets (as defined). Management believes, as of December
31, 1998, that the Company meets all capital adequacy requirements to which it
is subject.

As of December 31, 1998, the most recent notification from the Federal
Reserve Bank categorized the Company as well capitalized under the regulatory
framework for prompt corrective action. To be categorized as well capitalized
the Company must maintain minimum total risk-based, Tier I risk-based, and
Tier I leverage ratios as set forth in the table. There are no conditions or
events since that notification that management believes have changed the
institution's category.

The actual capital amounts and ratios of the Company are presented in the
table below (in thousands):
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<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

To Be Well
Capitalized
Under Prompt
Corrective

For Capital          Action
Actual      Adequacy Purposes     Provisions

--------------  -----------------   --------------
Amount  Ratio   Amount    Ratio     Amount  Ratio

-------- -----  ------------------  -------- -----
<S>                          <C>      <C>    <C>       <C>       <C>      <C>
As of December 31, 1998:

Total qualifying capital
(to risk-weighted
assets).................. $138,028 11.28% $   97,891   8.00%  $122,364 10.00%

Tier I capital (to risk-
weighted assets)......... $122,732 10.03% $   48,946   4.00%  $ 37,418  6.00%

Tier I Capital (to average
assets).................. $122,732  7.41% $   66,250   4.00%  $ 82,813  5.00%

As of December 31, 1997:
Total qualifying capital
(to risk-weighted
assets).................. $123,549 11.14% $   88,746   8.00%  $ 90,461 10.00%

Tier I capital (to risk-
weighted assets)......... $109,682  9.89% $   44,373   4.00%  $ 54,276  6.00%

Tier I Capital (to average
assets).................. $109,682  7.75% $   56,636   4.00%  $ 70,795  5.00%

</TABLE>
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The actual capital amounts and ratios of National Bank of Commerce, the
Company's most significant subsidiary, are presented in the table below (in
thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

To Be Well
Capitalized

Under Prompt
For Capital    Corrective
Adequacy        Action

Actual        Purposes      Provisions
-------------  -------------  -------------
Amount  Ratio  Amount  Ratio  Amount  Ratio
------- -----  ------- -----  ------- -----

<S>                                 <C>     <C>    <C>     <C>    <C>     <C>
As of December 31, 1998:

Total qualifying capital (to
risk-weighted assets)........... $64,397 10.90% $47,278 8.00%  $59,097 10.00%

Tier I capital (to risk-weighted
assets)......................... $57,010  9.65% $23,639 4.00%  $35,458  6.00%

Tier I Capital (to average
assets)......................... $57,010  7.33% $31,092 4.00%  $38,866  5.00%

As of December 31, 1997:
Total qualifying capital (to
risk-weighted assets)........... $56,949 10.37% $43,950 8.00%  $54,938 10.00%

Tier I capital (to risk-weighted
assets)......................... $50,082  9.12% $21,975 4.00%  $32,963  6.00%

Tier I Capital (to average
assets)......................... $50,082  7.41% $27,042 4.00%  $33,802  5.00%

</TABLE>

18. Related Party Transactions

In addition to the previously disclosed related party transactions, the
Company received trust fees of approximately $700,000 in 1998, $589,000 in
1997, and $488,000 in 1996 from related parties.

19. Segment Reporting

In addition to the traditional commercial and consumer retail banking
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products, the Company also offers trust services, mortgage lending services,
and investment services to its customers. The trust division manages the
assets of both corporate and individual customers, all of which are primarily
located in the Birmingham, Alabama market. The mortgage lending division makes
home loans to individuals throughout the state of Alabama. The majority of the
loans made are sold to corporate investors, who also service the loans. The
investment services division sells fixed income and equity securities trading
services to both individual and corporate customers. These three divisions,
along with the commercial and retail banking division, are considered the
Company's reportable segments for the purpose of Statement 131.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in
the summary of significant accounting policies except that certain overhead
expenses are not allocated among the segments. Additionally, the fixed assets
utilized by the various divisions are not separately identified by management.
Accordingly, the results of operations for the trust, mortgage lending, and
investment banking segments are not indicative of the results which would be
achieved if each of the segments were a separate company. Intersegment
transactions are accounted for at fair market value.
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The Company's reportable segments represent the distinct major product lines
the Company offers and are viewed separately for strategic planning purposes
by management. The following table is a reconciliation of the reportable
segment revenues, expenses, and profit to the Company's consolidated totals
(in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Investment          Mortgage Retail and
Services   Trust   Lending  Commercial  Corporate  Elimination
Division  Division Division  Banking   Overhead(1)   Entries    Total

---------- -------- -------- ---------- ----------- ----------- --------
<S>                      <C>        <C>      <C>      <C>        <C>         <C>         <C>
Year ended December 31,
1998:

Interest income.........  $ 1,564             $  474   $114,462                 $(796)   $115,704
Interest expense........      401                395     56,555                  (796)     56,555

-------             ------   --------                 -----    --------
Net interest income.....    1,163                 79     57,907                            59,149
Provision for loan
losses.................                                  1,796                             1,796

Noninterest income......   11,754    $2,101    4,608     11,192                  (305)     29,350
Noninterest expense.....   10,500     1,169    2,545     42,226    $ 5,019       (305)     61,154

-------    ------   ------   --------    -------      -----    --------
Net income before
provision for income
taxes and minority
interest...............  $ 2,417    $  932   $2,142   $ 25,077    $(5,019)     $   0    $ 25,549

=======    ======   ======   ========    =======      =====    ========
Year ended December 31,
1997:

Interest income.........  $   713             $  545   $103,499                 $(249)   $104,508
Interest expense........      110                139     48,379                  (249)     48,379

-------             ------   --------                 -----    --------
Net interest income.....      603                406     55,120                            56,129
Provision for loan
losses.................                                  3,421                             3,421

Noninterest income......    8,760    $1,799    1,644      8,091                            20,294
Noninterest expense.....    8,369     1,105    1,504     39,840    $ 1,970      $        $ 52,788

-------    ------   ------   --------    -------      -----    --------
Net income before
provision for income
taxes and minority
interest...............  $   994    $  694   $  546   $ 19,950    $(1,970)     $   0    $ 20,214

=======    ======   ======   ========    =======      =====    ========
Year ended December 31,
1996:

Interest income.........  $   657             $  293   $ 92,402                 $(174)   $ 93,178
Interest expense........       90                 84     42,174                  (174)     42,174

-------             ------   --------                 -----    --------
Net interest income.....      567                209     50,228                            51,004
Provision for loan
losses.................                                  1,035                             1,035
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Noninterest income......    8,586    $1,550    1,187      7,807                            19,130
Noninterest expense.....    8,461     1,175      926     37,783    $ 1,830                 50,175

-------    ------   ------   --------    -------      -----    --------
0

Net income before
provision for income
taxes and minority
interest...............  $   692    $  375   $  470   $ 19,217    $(1,830)     $   0    $ 18,924

=======    ======   ======   ========    =======      =====    ========
</TABLE>
--------
(1) Corporate overhead is comprised of compensation and benefits for certain

members of management and merger-related costs.
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EXHIBIT 11.1

Alabama National BanCorporation
Computation of Earnings Per Share

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Per Share
Income       Shares       Amount

----------   ----------   ----------
<S>                                                     <C>          <C>          <C>
Year ended December 31, 1998
Basic EPS net income ..............................     $   17,372       10,804   $     1.61

==========
Effect of dilutuve securities options .............                         369

----------   ----------
Diluted EPS .......................................     $   17,372       11,173   $     1.55

==========   ==========   ==========

Year ended December 31, 1997
Basic EPS net income ..............................     $   14,116       10,552   $     1.34

==========
Effect of dilutuve securities options .............                         447

----------   ----------
Diluted EPS .......................................     $   14,116       10,999   $     1.28

==========   ==========   ==========

Year ended December 31, 1996
Basic EPS net income ..............................     $   13,627        9,960   $     1.37

==========
Effect of dilutuve securities options .............                         505
Convertible debentures, net of taxes ..............              5           25

----------   ----------
Diluted EPS .......................................     $   13,632       10,490   $     1.30

==========   ==========   ==========
</TABLE>
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Exhibit 21.1
------------

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

SUBSIDIARIES OF ANB
Name of Subsidiary                                      State of Organization
<S>                                                      <C>

National Bank of Commerce of Birmingham................  National Bank
NBC Securities, Inc...............................  Alabama

Bank of Dadeville......................................  Alabama
Ashland Insurance, Inc............................  Alabama

Alabama Exchange Bank..................................  Alabama
Tuskegee Loan Company, Inc........................  Alabama

First Gulf Bank........................................  Alabama
First Citizens Bank, National Association..............  National Bank

Clay County Finance Company, Inc..................  Alabama
First American Bank....................................  Alabama

Corporate Billing, Inc.............................  Alabama
First Allegiance Mortgage, Inc.....................  Alabama

Citizens and Peoples Bank, N.A.........................  National Bank
Public Bank............................................  Florida
Georgia State Bank.....................................  Georgia
Community Bank of Naples, N.A..........................  National Bank
</TABLE>
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements of
Alabama National BanCorporation ("ANB") on Form S-8 (File No. 333-07951),
Form S-8 (File No. 333-27285), Form S-8 (File No. 333-70207), Form S-8 (File
No. 333-70205), and Form S-8 (File No. 333-70209), of our report dated January
15, 1999, on our audits of ANB as of December 31, 1998 and 1997 and for the
three years in the period ended December 31, 1998, which report is included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
------------------------------
Birmingham, Alabama
March 17, 1999
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<TABLE> <S> <C>

<ARTICLE> 9
<MULTIPLIER> 1,000

<S>                                        <C>
<PERIOD-TYPE>                                 YEAR
<FISCAL-YEAR-END>                          DEC-31-1998
<PERIOD-START>                             JAN-01-1998
<PERIOD-END>                               DEC-31-1998
<CASH>                                          70,813
<INT-BEARING-DEPOSITS>                             225
<FED-FUNDS-SOLD>                                57,076
<TRADING-ASSETS>                                 5,534
<INVESTMENTS-HELD-FOR-SALE>                    289,558
<INVESTMENTS-CARRYING>                          34,655
<INVESTMENTS-MARKET>                            35,214
<LOANS>                                      1,106,074
<ALLOWANCE>                                     16,540
<TOTAL-ASSETS>                               1,672,049
<DEPOSITS>                                   1,275,175
<SHORT-TERM>                                    21,700
<LIABILITIES-OTHER>                             47,714
<LONG-TERM>                                     32,328
<PREFERRED-MANDATORY>                                0
<PREFERRED>                                          0
<COMMON>                                        10,972
<OTHER-SE>                                     120,021
<TOTAL-LIABILITIES-AND-EQUITY>               1,672,049
<INTEREST-LOAN>                                 92,208
<INTEREST-INVEST>                               18,870
<INTEREST-OTHER>                                 4,626
<INTEREST-TOTAL>                               115,704
<INTEREST-DEPOSIT>                              46,415
<INTEREST-EXPENSE>                              56,555
<INTEREST-INCOME-NET>                           59,149
<LOAN-LOSSES>                                    1,796
<SECURITIES-GAINS>                                 174
<EXPENSE-OTHER>                                 61,164
<INCOME-PRETAX>                                 25,539
<INCOME-PRE-EXTRAORDINARY>                      25,539
<EXTRAORDINARY>                                      0
<CHANGES>                                            0
<NET-INCOME>                                    17,732
<EPS-PRIMARY>                                     1.61
<EPS-DILUTED>                                     1.55
<YIELD-ACTUAL>                                    8.36
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<LOANS-NON>                                      4,357
<LOANS-PAST>                                         0
<LOANS-TROUBLED>                                   499
<LOANS-PROBLEM>                                 25,400
<ALLOWANCE-OPEN>                                14,844
<CHARGE-OFFS>                                    1,864
<RECOVERIES>                                     1,764
<ALLOWANCE-CLOSE>                               16,540
<ALLOWANCE-DOMESTIC>                            16,540
<ALLOWANCE-FOREIGN>                                  0
<ALLOWANCE-UNALLOCATED>                         16,540

</TABLE>

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

http://www.secdatabase.com

	Cover Page
	FORM 10-K
	EX-11.1(COMPUTATION OF PER SHARE EARNINGS)
	EX-21.1(SUBSIDIARIES OF ALABAMA NATIONAL BANCORPORATION)
	EX-23.1(CONSENT OF PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP)
	EX-27.1(FINANCIAL DATA SCHEDULE)

